
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 
 

 

 

 

Date: 20 November 2020 
 

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube - 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

Thursday 3 December 2020 at 9.30 am 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 
all Plans meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

To: Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting 

 

AGENDA 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 13) 

 To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 5th November 2020 
 

3.   Declaration of Interest  



 

 

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 
Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  

5.   Urgent Matters  

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 
 

6.   Future Site Visits  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any future site visits. 
 

7.   Public Participation  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 
 

8.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 
 
Committee List 
 

(a)   Application 1/0070/2018/OUT (Pages 14 - 46) 

 Erection of nine dwellings together with associated landscaping and infrastructure – 
Sydney House, South Street Car Park, Mill Street, Torrington, Devon.  
 

(b)   Application 1/0642/2020/OUT (Pages 47 - 58) 

 Outline application with all matters reserved for 1 no. dwelling – The Old Telephone 
Exchange, Bucks Cross, Bideford, Devon. 
 

(c)   Application 1/0790/2020/LA (Pages 59 - 73) 

 Refurbishment and alteration to existing building – The Burrows Centre, Sandymere 
Road, Northam, Bideford, Devon.  
 

(d)   Application 1/0791/2020/LA (Pages 74 - 90) 



 

 

 Café and toilet block with outdoor seating and associated pathways – The Burrows 
Centre, Sandymere Road, Northam, Bideford, Devon.  
 

9.   Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 91 - 99) 

 Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate 
 
Summary: 
 
Application No. 1/0828/2019/FUL – South Worden Farm, Road Past Worden, 
Bradworthy 
 
Appeal Decision – Allowed 
 
Application No. 1/0109/2020/FUL – 15 New Street, Appledore, Bideford 
 
Appeal Decision - Dismissed 
 

10.   Costs on Appeals  

 There are no Costs on Appeals 
 

11.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Page 100) 

12.   Planning Decisions (Pages 101 - 111) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed 23.10.2020 to 23.11.2020. 
 

13.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

14.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 
 

- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 
- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 
- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 

 
All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 

 



 

 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 
 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 
 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 

 
 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
 

Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 
Thursday, 5 November 2020 - 9.30 am 

 
 

PRESENT Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
 

 Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, 
D McGeough, P Watson and R Wiseman 

 
 

ALSO PRESENT S Dorey - Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring 
Officer) 

 S Kearney - Head of Communities & Place 
 S Harrington - Development Manager 
 J Jackson - Development Management Team Leader 
 K Evely - Principl Planning Officer 
 D Fuller - Planning Officer 
 T Vanstone - Senior Electoral & Democratic Services 

Officer 
 K Brown - Democratic Services Officer 
 M Richards - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 

 Councillors P Hackett and K James 
 
 

58.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

59.    MINUTES  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson and – 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 October be agreed and signed as a 
correct record. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote: For - unanimous) 
 

60.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 
accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members. 
 

61.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  
 
The Agenda as circulated was agreed. 
 

62.    URGENT MATTERS  
 
Councillor Christie referred to a reapplication in relation to the development of 290 
houses on a field in Bideford.  The original application had been refused by the 
Plans Committee.  The new application would not automatically come before the 
Plans Committee; it would have to be called in.  Councillor Christie asked for 
clarification on the parameters for officers to bring an application straight to the 
Plans Committee without having been called in by a councillor. 
 
The Development Manger responded that the constitution did not state that major 
planning applications have to automatically go to committee; an application would 
require a call in and there was an element of discretion for the Development 
Manager to call in applications of strategic importance or those likely to be 
contentious.  He confirmed that this particular application had been called in 
previously and he would expect the application to be called in again if members 
had concerns about it.  
 

63.    FUTURE SITE VISITS  
 
The Chair informed the Committee that there were currently no site visits planned.  
 
It was noted that virtual sites visits were working well. 
 

64.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 

Page 6



3 
 

 
 

respect of the Council‟s public participation scheme.  
 

65.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
(a)   Application No 1/0542/2020/FUL 

 
 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 

 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, 
R Lock, P Watson and R Wiseman. 
 
Application No. 1/0542/2020/FUL- Erection of four holiday lodges – 
Land at Grid Reference 252226 123009 Huntshaw, Devon 
 
Interests:   Councillor Lock declared a personal interest as Ward 
Member but attended with a clear and open mind. 
 
Officer Recommendation:   Refuse 
 
The planning application had been called into planning committee by 
Councillor Rosemary Lock. The reason being, to enable the plans 
committee to consider if this was sustainable tourism under policy 
ST13 of the NDTLP, and conformed with policies DM15, DM16 and 
DM18. 
 
Prior to the presentation the Committee were informed of the 
following update: 
 
The applicants had submitted a letter from an accountant giving a 
summary income and had asked that members be updated.  The 
accounts showed that the site is in receipt of a woodland grant and 
RPA grant for the woodland area, alongside the applicants‟ pension.  
The accountants noted this entitled them to a “farmer rate”, however, 
this was for accounting purposes, not planning.  It was suggested the 
accounts indicated that there were no agricultural activities onsite as 
per the officer report and that the site was used solely for equestrian 
and forestry purposes. 
 
The Planning Officer presented the report and advised members of 
the main planning considerations.  
 
During the debate the following observations were made: 
 

 Members felt the proposal did indeed relate to agriculture, 
specifically forestry and the history of the site clearly 
demonstrated diversification.  (DM18.) 

 High quality tourism development that promotes a year-round 
industry will be supported – Policy ST13 (Sustainable Tourism) 

 The lodges fit in well with TDC‟s green tourism policy and 
boost the local economy 

Page 7



4 
 

 
 

 The development would not damage the natural or historic 
assets of northern Devon - Policy ST13 (Sustainable Tourism) 

 The application met the economic and environmental 
objectives of the NPPF – 8 a) and c) 

 The proposed development would support a prosperous rural 
economy - NPPF 82 a) - c) 

 Nobody wished to see the trees cut down 
 
The Planning Officer clarified the definition of agriculture in terms of 
planning, referring members to point 1.9 of the report and highlighting 
that forestry was specifically excluded, unless it was ancillary to an 
agricultural purpose. 
 
Members discussed if „Foxdown Woods‟ could be considered as a 
leisure facility due to them being available for enjoying leisure 
activities such as walking and nature watching in accordance with 
DM17. In addition, the proposed lodges could be considered directly 
related to the Foxdown Woods leisure facility, which justifies its 
countryside location in accordance with DM18.  
 
The Planning Officer indicated this would not be an unreasonable 
approach.   
 
The Development Manager advised members of some of the 
conditions they might like to consider if they were minded to approve 
the application: - 
 

 Standard time condition 

 Standard plans condition 

 A condition to ensure net gain from the development 

 Standard holiday occupancy condition to ensure the lodges 
are not occupied permanently 

 Removal of future permitted development from the lodges to 
prevent them being extended without the control of the local 
planning authority 

 Require details of the resurfacing of the access track 

 Lighting – No lighting within the woodland or within the access 
track, offering protection to bats and other ecology 

 To protect dark sky night-time visual impact 

 Tree and hedgerow protection, especially with regard to 
fencing during construction periods  
 

The Development Manager asked that, if members were minded to 
grant the application subject to the conditions above, the wording of 
the conditions be delegated to officers in conjunction with the Chair 
and Vice Chair. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock and seconded by Councillor 
McGeough that, as the proposal fitted in with Policy ST13, DM17, 

Page 8



5 
 

 
 

DM18, NPPF 83 and NPPF 84, the application be approved, subject 
to the conditions above 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote: For - unanimous) 
 
Councillor P Hackett addressed the Committee as a member of the 
public in support the application. 
 
The Development Manager read to the meeting a statement received 
from Dr Simon Harvey in support the application. 
 

(b)   Application No 1/0488/2020/FUL 
 

 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 
 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, 
R Lock, P Watson and R Wiseman. 
 
Application No 1/0488/2020/FUL - Outline application for the 
erection of 1 no dwelling with all matters reserved – Land adjoining 
Sunny View, Milton Damerel, Holsworthy, Devon, EX22 7DH 
 
 
Interests: None 
 
Officer Recommendation: Refuse 
 
The application had been called into Plans Committee by the Ward 
Member, Councillor James, for the following reason: 
 
“The site is an infill site between a barn conversion and an existing 
property known as Sunnyview, and that, whilst the site is in open 
countryside, it is part of a larger settlement that is within easy walking 
distance to the village hall and shop”. 
 
The Development Management Team Leader presented the report 
and informed Members of the main planning considerations. 

Page 9



6 
 

 
 

 
The Development Management Team Leader responded to the 
matters raised by the speaker.  He confirmed that the authority was 
not able to demonstrate a 5-year land supply, and that it was 
important that a tilted balance be undertaken, and this had been 
considered in the officer‟s report.  In terms of easily walkable 
destination, he clarified that access to the local facilities was via unlit, 
unpaved roads. 
 
Members put forward the view that the proposed development was 
infill within a hamlet and the site was not located in the open 
countryside.  The Development Management Team Leader reiterated 
the glossary definition of countryside and added that there was no 
infill policy within the Local Plan.   
 
Councillor Leather referred to ST07 Spatial Development Strategy for 
North Devin‟s rural areas (4) In the Countryside, beyond Local 
Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited 
to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, 
rural building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted 
to a Countryside location 
 
Planning advice was given by the Development Manager with regard 
to the tilted balance and the weight given to specific elements.  
Members may wish to consider the weighting in relation to: 
 

 The site being well related to a group of existing dwellings and  

 Paragraph 78 of the NPPF relating to rural housing in this type 
of location 

 
The Development Management Team Leader suggested, should 
members wish to grant planning permission, they may wish to add 
the following conditions: 
 

 The approval of reserved matters at a later date 

 A time limit condition 

 A plans list condition that the development shall be undertaken 
in accordance with the plans 

 A limit on the construction works times, given the proximity of 
existing dwellings to the site 

 Standard condition requiring biodiversity and net gain (the 
installation of a bird or bat box in the dwelling) 

 Standard condition about contaminated land 

 Detailed design of foul water drainage 
 
The Development Management Team Leader asked that, if members 
were minded to grant the application subject to the conditions above, 
the wording of the conditions be delegated to officers in conjunction 
with the Chair and Vice Chair. 
 

Page 10



7 
 

 
 

Councillor Watson asked that 2-year rule be imposed with regard to 
reserved matters. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor 
Watson, that the application be approved, as this particular site was 
considered within the tilted balance to be a suitable location in 
accordance with Para 78 of the NPPF, and subject to conditions 
above. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote: For – unanimous) 
 
Councillor James, Ward Member, addressed the Committee 
 

(c)   Application No 1/0566/2020/FUL 
 

 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 
 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, 
R Lock, P Watson and R Wiseman. 
 
Application No 1/0566/2020/FUL - Demolition and replacement of 
dwelling (resubmission of 1/0464/2020/FUL) – Ithaca, Torridge Road, 
Appledore, Bideford, Devon, EX39 1SQ 
 
Interests: None 
 
Officer Recommendation: Grant 
 
The application had been called into Plans Committee by the Ward 
Member, Councillor Ford, for the following reasons: 
 
“The proposed development is not „in keeping‟, is „over developed‟ 
and there is the „possible overlooking‟ with regard to Westbrook.” 
 
A verbal update was provided: 
 
Page 32 of the report - The 2016 planning permission is not extant; it 

Page 11



8 
 

 
 

was never implemented but it was approved and is therefore a 
material consideration. 
 
The Planning Officer presented the report and informed members of 
the main planning considerations. 
 
Councillor Christie reported that he had taken a call from Councillor 
Ford, Ward Member, asking that, if the committee were minded to 
grant the application, it be stipulated that the delivery lorries are not 
permitted to be in the vicinity whilst the school busses operate in that 
area.   
 
The Development Manager addressed members‟ concerns and 
observations as follows: 
 
The Government had advised, in relation to the Coronavirus, that 
local planning authorities should be seeking to extend construction 
times to 9 pm, albeit there was a caveat in that the local authority 
could exercise discretion and this had been exercised in this case 
where the finish time had been set at 7.00pm.  If the committee felt 
there was unacceptable impact to the surrounding area, this could be 
further reduced to 5 pm but to exclude Saturdays would be 
unreasonable.   
 
With regard to construction traffic and school busses, a construction 
management plan could be included with conditions relating to wheel 
washing and implications of the wider construction period to protect 
neighbouring amenity and the use of the highway. 
 
It was noted that a condition relating to the height of the fence would 
not be a reasonable condition, as this fell within permitted 
development. 
 
The committee agreed that the wording of the conditions be 
delegated to officers in conjunction with the Chair and Vice Chair. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor 
Leather and –  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the amendment of the 
time condition and the addition of a condition requiring restrictions on 
times of delivery traffic movements. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Page 12



9 
 

 
 

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie  X  

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote: For 8, Against 1) 
 
Wendie Brackstone addressed the Committee objecting to the 
application. 
 
The Development Manager read to the meeting a statement received 
from Dave & Lindsay Inwood, applicant, in support of the application. 
 
Caroline Shortt, agent for the applicant, addressed the meeting in 
support of the application. 
 
 

66.    APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY  
 
The Committee noted the Appeal Decisions. 
 

67.    COSTS ON APPEALS  
 
The Committee noted the costs on Appeals. 
 

68.    DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions. 
 

69.    PLANNING DECISIONS  
 
The planning decisions for the period 18 September - 22 October 2020 were noted. 
 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 9.30 am and closed at 11.33 am 
 
 
Chair:  Date:  
 
 

Page 13



 
Committee Report – 3rd December 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0070/2018/OUT 

Registration date: 19 January 2018 

Expiry date:  16 March 2018 

Applicant:  Pearce Construction (Barnstaple) Ltd  

Agent:  Woodward Smith Chartered Architects 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Sydney House / South Street Car Park,  
Mill Street,  
Torrington, 
Devon. 
 

Proposal:  Erection of Nine dwellings together with 
associated landscaping and infrastructure 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 8a



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
The application involves TDC land and must therefore be determined by the Council’s Plans 
Committee. 
 
The application was also called in by Cllr Cottle-Hunkin as Ward Member within the statutory call-in 
period for the following reason: 
 
‘There are many issues of concern regarding this planning application. The area is of great historic 
significance, is surrounded by beautiful listed buildings, and the much-loved Commons. This planned 
housing estate would ruin the character and appearance of the area. The area is one of outstanding 
beauty, and I am worried about the impact this development would have on the conservation area. 
The application for 9 two-storey buildings seems far too dense for such an area, and doesn't sit well 
with its surroundings. Access through the car park and probable loss of parking as a result is also a 
concern. The potential of this site is far greater than a standard housing development. It deserves 
vision, sensitivity, and thought, to be developed into something special which would be an asset to the 
whole community and tourists alike, particularly given its central location, heritage and aspect looking 
down over Castle Hill to Rosemoor.’ 
 
The Applicant challenged whether the call-in by this Cllr was valid due to a suggestion of a potential 
conflict of interest. However, the fact the site involves TDC land requires it to be considered by the 
Plans Committee in any event.  
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

   

1/0212/1980 ERECTION OF A 
DWELLING O.S.143, 
CASTLE HILL, 
TORRINGTON 

REF 25.03.1980 

   

1/0622/1985 ERECTION OF A 
DWELLING, PT. LAND 
ADJACENT TO CAYNTON 
HOUSE OFF MILL STREET, 
TORRINGTON 

REF 15.07.1985 

   

1/0118/1986 ERECTION OF DWELLING 
ADJACENT TO CAYNTON 
HOUSE, MILL STREET, 
TORRINGTON 

REF 29.04.1986 

   

1/0334/2005/OUT Forming new access and 
erection of two new 
residential dwellings 

REF 29.04.2005 

    

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
The Site: 
The site lies within the built-up area of Great Torrington on a currently redundant and disused square 
shaped parcel of land which was formerly a market garden. It lies immediately to the west of the TDC 
owned South Street (Sydney House) car park across which access would be gained for the proposed 
development. To the north of the site are the rear domestic gardens to Mill Street/South Street and 
commercial properties.   
 

Page 15



To the west of the site is Caynton House, a Grade II Listed building and Caynton Court, comprising 
three modern two storey dwellings. The eastern section (approximately a third) of the site falls to be 
located within the Great Torrington Conservation Area. 
 
To the south is the Great Torrington Commons (an identified County Wildlife Site), comprising public 
footpaths and the steeply sloping common land running down to the River Torridge. 
 
To the east, at the other end of the car park, is the Tourist Information Centre, Museum and 1646 
attraction. 
 
The site slopes gently downwards to the south and is sited on the edge of the defined Town Centre. It 
therefore affords long range views south across the river valley towards Little Torrington. 
 
The site is not subject to any landscape designations and is not within an area that is at risk of 
flooding.  
 
The Proposal: 
The application is made in outline and proposes the erection of 9 dwellings with the provision of 14 
car parking spaces and two double garages and vehicular access from South Street and across the 
TDC owned car park, which will result in minimal loss of existing coach parking. 
 
The proposal has been revised from that originally submitted and intended for presentation to Plans 
Committee. As members will be aware, the application received a late representation from Historic 
England and was subsequently pulled from the August Plans Committee Agenda. Significant 
discussions have since taken place between the Applicant, Historic England and TDC Officers and 
the revised proposal is an output of these discussions.  
 
The application remains to made in outline but seeks approval of access, layout and scale. Submitted 
drawing P316 18 30 E shows the layout of the development taking the form of a courtyard scheme in 
a C-shape with the 9 dwellings arranged around the eastern, northern and western parts of the site. A 
paved area would be provided within the centre of the site providing 14 parking spaces to serve 
proposed plots 3-9. Plots 1 and 2 would be set over a footprint that would allow for attached garaging. 
The southern part of the site would remain open with plots 1 and 2 being set back from the 
escarpment and the Commons. An area of communal open space will be sited centrally within the 
southern part of the site with private gardens to either side. The submitted elevation drawings confirm 
that all dwellings on site would be set over two storeys (ground plus first floor). Landscaping and 
boundary treatments and the external appearance of the dwellings will be considered at Reserved 
Matters Stage.  
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Great Torrington Town Council:  
Comments in respect of revised scheme: 
Members reviewed the revised design of this development and associated documentation, noting 
that the dwellings now form a C-shape around a courtyard with 2 houses closer to the southern 
boundary of the site rather than 4 as in the previous applications. Members reviewed the recent 
responses from other consultees including Historic England who have also noted the revised 
design and who state that this new design significantly reduces the visibility of the development in 
long views into Torrington. 
 
However, Members continue to raise a number of concerns in relation to this proposed 
development: 
· The site includes a narrow exit onto Mill Street: Members are concerned this is too narrow 
for vehicular access and raises safety concerns for vehicles emerging onto a very steep 
part of Mill Street. This could also cause noise nuisance with cars accelerating up a very 
steep part of Mill Street. Members felt access onto Mill Street should be avoided or be 
restricted to pedestrian access only. 

Page 16



· Members stressed the importance of protecting trees and wildlife in the local area, including 
ensuring that in addition to retention of trees on the southern boundary, an important tree 
on the northern border of the site be retained too. Members referred to Great Torrington 
Neighbourhood Plan Policy ENV2: Wildlife Enhancement. 
· Members noted the concerns raised by a local resident in relation to over-shadowing of the 
solar panel array in their garden and the economic impact this development will have on 
the resident’s business which relies significantly on the power generated through the solar 
panels. Members referred to Great Torrington Neighbourhood Plan Section 8.12 which 
recognises the importance of renewable energy in contributing to national carbon reduction 
targets. 
· Members noted the recent court case of William Ellis McLennan vs Medway Council and 
Ken Kennedy [2019] EWHC 1738(Admin) (OB) and requested that the issues raised be 
investigated further by the District Council and taken into consideration in any decisions to 
be made. 
· The dwellings proposed are two-storey and Members’ preference would be for 
bungalows. This may go some way to mitigate the over-shadowing issues from two-storey 
properties. 
· Part of this site is within the Great Torrington Conservation Area and Members were 
concerned that the height of the proposed dwellings would be in contradiction to the 
characteristics of this area. 
 
Members referred to the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan, Policy ST04: 
Improving the Quality of Development. This policy states that “Development will achieve high quality 
inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places. Design will be 
based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider 
context and the surrounding area taking full account of the principles of design found in policy DM04.” 
In addition, Members referred to section 7.3 of the Great Torrington Neighbourhood Plan which states 
that “Development will be of high quality, well designed to fit in with the local area and contribute to 
creating a strong sense of place” and Policy ENV1: Landscape Protection which states that 
“Developments will be supported which demonstrate sensitivity to the distinctive landscape character 
of the area by retaining local features...” 
 
Members voted to OBJECT to this application based on the concerns outlined above. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
First Response: 
Members considered the outline proposals and did not have any objections. 
 
Second Response: 
Following a Planning Committee meeting at Great Torrington Town Council yesterday, I am writing to 
provide you with the outcome of Members’ review of the above mentioned planning application 
which has recently been updated with a new Contextual Sections document. 
 
Members conducted a site visit last week and reviewed the new Contextual Sections document during  
Yesterday’s meeting. Members were disappointed with the updated proposal for this development as  
they feel strongly that it will dominate the skyline at the top of Castle Hill because the houses are so 
close to the edge of the hill. There are also concerns that the buildings will have a detrimental impact 
on the dark skies area of Castle Hill. Finally, Members expressed concerns that as a result of the view 
these properties will have over the valley, they will be out of the price range of many local and young 
people. Overall Members would like to see a more sympathetic development for this site. 
Decision: Great Torrington town Council objects to this planning application as per the updated 
Contextual sections document. 
 
Third Response: 
Members reviewed the amended plans in relation to application number 1/0070/2018/OUT at a Great 
Torrington Town Council Planning Committee Meeting this morning. Following a review of drawing 
number P316 18 20 I, Members have concerns that the plots on the south-facing valley edge have 

Page 17



moved forward since the original application was reviewed in January 2018 (ref: drawing number 
P316 1820 G) and the houses are now much closer to the valley edge than previously proposed. As a 
result of this, Members felt that the development will have a significant detrimental impact on the 
skyline. 
 
These houses will be visible across the valley and Members felt that the development is not 
sympathetic to the surrounding area, particularly given that part of the site sits within a conservation 
area. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
No comments made in respect of revised scheme. 
  
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
First Response: 
The site is partly within the Conservation Area and adjacent Caynton House a visually prominent 
listed building on the escarpment forming the edge of the settlement of Great Torrington. I 
acknowledge that there was a large supermarket structure granted consent on this site but the scale 
and design had a completely different impact and visual interaction with the surrounding street scape 
and views into the Conservation Area than this proposal. 
 
The absence of details in terms of layout, scale and massing makes it difficult to comment on the 
impact on the setting of the both the Conservation Area and the listed buildings which surround and 
form a backdrop to the site. 
 
Please accept this as an objection in the interim. 
 
Second Response:  
Notwithstanding the preliminary drawings provided previously the current plans under consideration 
return to the principle of development on this site.  The application is at outline and while we have had 
some ideas provided these have diverted the discussions from the main consideration as to the 
principle of development. 
 
The current plans indicate the silhouette of the likely dwelling projected over the agreed silhouette of 
the Waitrose store.  In this case the roofline and area covered by development is so similar that an 
objection to this permission could not be sustained.   
 
The success of the scheme in this location will be dependent on the elevational treatment and this will 
be the subject of a subsequent application.  The previous comments remain relevant. 
 
The proposal seeks to construct dwellings on the site of a previously approved supermarket.  
The principle of a large structure has been approved on the site and so there is no objection in 
principle to other development.  The issue remains how to integrate 9 smaller units onto the site while 
retaining the visual dominance of Caynton House which is a listed building and prominent on the top 
of the escarpment which forms the southern boundary to the town. 
 
The concept from conservation was that any new development should appear as a mews 
development which would have served Caynton House with a solid wall with openings punctuating it 
as a replacement for the monolithic building approved.  This  concept is difficult to achieve in practical 
terms as the south facing units are dependant on openings and the land at the top of the escarpment 
for amenity and views.  It is difficult to have a streamlined elevation while creating detached dwellings 
which utilise the gradient successfully. 
 
The east elevation design with its enclosing wall does give a more vernacular appearance on this 
elevation but the inclusion of chimneys may enhance this elevation. 
The challenge is to design the south elevation to sit in context with the views into the conservation 
area at this point with Caynton House being the focal point but the rear of South Street forming the 
backdrop to the historic street scape. 
 

Page 18



The current proposal is in outline only and as the success of the scheme will rely on the detailing and 
use of materials it is difficult to comment further. 
 
The previous application was agreed with the south elevation having a very simple design with natural 
finishes.  The proposal for detached dwellings cannot match the simple silhouette but attempts are 
indicated to unify this elevation. 
 
It is difficult to comment in more detail at this time. 
 
Natural England:  
Comments in respect of revised scheme: 
Natural England has previously commented on this proposal and made comments to the authority in 
our letter dated 06 February, 2018. 
 
The advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this amendment although we made 
no objection to the original proposal. 
 
The proposed amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly different 
impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal. 
 
Should the proposal be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the natural 
environment then, in accordance with Section 4 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
Act 2006, Natural England should be consulted again. Before sending us the amended consultation, 
please assess whether the changes proposed will materially affect any of the advice we have 
previously offered. If they are unlikely to do so, please do not re-consult us. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
Natural England has no comments to make on this application. 
 
Natural England has not assessed this application for impacts on protected species. 
 
Natural England has published Standing Advice which you can use to assess impacts on 
protected species or you may wish to consult your own ecology services for advice. 
 
Natural England and the Forestry Commission have also published standing advice on 
ancient woodland and veteran trees which you can use to assess any impacts on ancient 
woodland. 
 
The lack of comment from Natural England does not imply that there are no impacts on 
the natural environment, but only that the application is not likely to result in significant 
impacts on statutory designated nature conservation sites or landscapes. It is for the local 
planning authority to determine whether or not this application is consistent with national 
and local policies on the natural environment. Other bodies and individuals may be able 
to provide information and advice on the environmental value of this site and the impacts 
of the proposal to assist the decision making process. We advise LP As to obtain specialist 
ecological or other environmental advice when determining the environmental impacts of 
development. 
 
We recommend referring to our SSSI Impact Risk Zones (available on Magic and as a 
downloadable dataset) prior to consultation with Natural England. Further guidance on 
when to consult Natural England on planning and development proposals is available on 
gov. uk at https:llwww.gov.uklguidance/local-planning -authorities-get -environmental- 
advice 
  
Environmental Protection Officer:  
Comments in respect of revised scheme: 
The application site adjoins South Street car park, the main parking facility serving Torrington town 
centre. Subsequently, there is the potential for detriment to amenity of the proposed dwellings, 

Page 19



particularly plots 1, 8 and 9, from noise and light disturbance associated with vehicle movements. 
It is acknowledged that a stone wall is to be introduced along the eastern boundary which will 
certainly mitigate against potential disturbance, particularly at the ground floor level. However, the 
wall is unlikely to screen potential noise and light intrusion at first floor. Should planning consent 
be granted, it is recommended that mitigation measures are introduced to ensure both noise and 
light intrusion is prevented to first floor habitable rooms of plots 1, 8 and 9. For example, locating 
non-habitable rooms on the eastern façade facing the car park. 
 
The application site is located in close proximity to several existing dwellings such that detriment 
to their residential amenity may arise from construction works if control measures are not in place. 
The Environmental Protection Team recommends a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan is provided by the applicant outlining measures to ensure disturbance to existing residents is 
prevented or minimised. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends the imposition of a condition requiring approval of a Construction Management Plan. In 
addition, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of a condition 
restricting construction works, including deliveries to site, to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday 
and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays with no works permitted on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
 
Land Quality 
As mentioned in the previous consultation response dated 30 January 2018, there appears to be 
no detailed information on the historic use and subsequent land quality of the application site. 
Having regard for the sensitive end use, the application site needs to be appropriately assessed 
for any potential contamination that may be harmful to human health. Where contamination is 
identified, remedial measures must be proposed for implementation to ensure the site is suitable 
for occupation. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends the imposition of the Authority’s full standard contaminated land condition. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
In relation to the above application, there appears to be no information pertaining to the land quality of 
the application site. Given the sensitive end use (i.e. dwellings with gardens) a phase 1 contaminated 
land survey would be expected as a minimum requirement. The Environmental Protection Team 
would recommend the imposition of the Authority's contaminated land condition should planning 
consent be given.  
 
South West Water:  
Comments in respect of revised scheme: 
I refer to the above and would advise that South West Water has no objection to the submitted 
amendments. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
With reference to the planning application at the above address, the applicant/agent is advised to 
contact South West Water if they are unable to comply with our requirements as detailed below. 
 
Asset Protection 
Please find enclosed a plan showing the approximate location of a public sewer in the vicinity. 
Please note that no development will be permitted within 3 metres of the sewer, and ground cover 
should not be substantially altered. 
 
Should the development encroach on the 3 metre easement, the sewer will need to be diverted at 
the expense of the applicant. The applicant/agent is advised to contact the Developer Services 
Planning Team to discuss the matter further. 
 
Clean Potable Water 
South West Water is able to provide clean potable water services from the existing public water 
main for the above proposal. 
 
Foul Sewerage Services 
South West Water advises a Planning Condition to emphasise that: Foul drainage from the 

Page 20



Development (and no other drainage) shall be connected to the public foul or combined sewer. 
Reason: To ensure the discharge of drainage from the Development shall not be prejudicial to the 
public sewerage system and ensure there are adequate public foul sewerage facilities to receive 
foul water flows, in order to safeguard the public and environment. 
 
Surface Water Services 
The statutory Water and Sewerage Undertaker supports the Planning Policy Guidance for Flood Risk 
& Coastal Change statement. To accompany its planning application, the applicant must demonstrate 
how its proposed development will have separate foul and surface water drainage systems and not be 
detrimental to existing infrastructure, the public and environment (and that any provisions for 
protecting infrastructure have been agreed with SWWL as service-provider). The applicant should 
demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will discharge as high up the hierarchy of 
drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with evidence that the Run-off Destination Hierarchy 
has been addressed, and reasoning as to why any preferred disposal route is not reasonably 
practicable): 
1. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable, 
Provide written evidence as to why Infiltration devices, including Soakaways, Swales, Infiltration 
Basins and Filter Drains do not meet the design standards as specified in either H3 Building 
Regulation standards for areas less than 100m2. Soakaways serving larger areas must meet the 
design standard specified in BS EN 752-4 (para 3.36) or BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design. 
2. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable, Provide written evidence 
for refusal of discharge consent from owner of water body (Environment Agency, Local Authority, 
Riparian Owner etc) 
3. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where 
not reasonably practicable, Provide written evidence for refusal of discharge to drainage system 
(Highway Authority, Environment Agency, Local Authority, Private ownership) 
4. Discharge to a combined sewer.( Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity 
evaluation) South West Water will carry out a hydraulic capacity review of the combined sewerage 
network before permission will be granted to discharge to the combined sewer. 
Having reviewed the applicant’s current information as to proposed surface water disposal for its 
development, please note that method proposed to discharge into the ground (infiltration) is 
acceptable and meets with the Run-off Destination Hierarchy. However, should this method be 
amended, SWWL will require clear evidence to demonstrate why the preferred methods listed within 
the Run-off Destination Hierarchy have been discounted by the applicant. 
 
Your LPA will be mindful of Local Plan policy to limit the adverse (including cumulative) effect of 
proposed development such that sustainability is paramount and flooding risk is not increased 
elsewhere, together with Paragraphs 162 of the NPPF, and Paragraphs 109 and 120 of the PPG 
(Conserving and enhancing the natural environment). 
 
I trust this clarifies the water and drainage material planning considerations for your LPA, 
however, if you have any questions or queries, please do not hesitate to contact me either via e- 
mail: developerservicesplanning@southwestwater.co.uk or direct line: 01392443983. 
  
Devon County Council (Highways):  
No comments in respect of revised scheme. 
 
Comments in respect of the original scheme: 
The site has planning permission for use as a Waitrose foodstore. The traffic generation of 
the proposed nine dwellings is significantly lower than the approved foodstore. 
 
The car park is not public highway, that starts at South Street. The visibility onto the public 
highway is acceptable and this access is considered safe, it already serves the car park and 
library. 
 
Any possible issues surrounding the interaction of residential traffic and users of the car park 
are not a consideration for the Highway Authority as this is not public highway. The LPA 
should themselves consider whether the proposal is 'safe and suitable for all people' in 

Page 21



accordance with paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 
 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, HAS NO OBJECTION 
TO THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
  
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
No comments in respect of revised scheme. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
We note that we are not a statutory consultee for the above planning application because it is not 
classed as a major development. We are currently receiving a very high volume of major planning 
application consultation requests and therefore we will not be responding to any minor planning 
applications. 
  
Chief Education Officer:  
No comments in respect of revised scheme. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
With regard to the above application, Devon County Council will need to request education 
contributions to mitigate the impact of this development. 
 
I can advise that 9 family type dwellings can expect to produce an additional 2.25 primary pupils & 
1.35 secondary school pupils. 
 
Primary provision in Great Torrington is at capacity and under significant pressure; we would there 
need to request for primary contributions. As a new primary school is required this would be at our 
New Build rate of £16,019 per additional pupil. Therefore a total primary contribution of £36,042 is 
requested. 
 
In addition, as a new primary school is required, we would also need to request a proportionate land 
contribution of 10sqm per family-type dwelling. Based upon a land value of £440,000 per hectare, this 
land contribution would equate to £3,960 and would be used to assist in the procurement of the new 
school site. 
 
There is sufficient capacity for the additional secondary students we can expect from this 
development and therefore a contribution towards secondary education would not be required. 
 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education contribution. 
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
  
DCC Archaeology Section:  
No comments in respect of revised scheme. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
I refer to the above application. Previously undertaken archaeological work here has demonstrated 
the presence of medieval archaeological deposits and the consent grated for planning application 
1/0654/2014/FULM is conditional upon a programme of archaeological work being undertaken - 
Condition 6. I would therefore advise that any consent granted for this current application is also 
conditional upon a programme of archaeological work to be undertaken in mitigation for the impact of 
the proposed development upon the known heritage assets here. 
 
The preferred wording of such a condition is set out below, based on model Condition 55 
as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 

Page 22



 
‘No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority.  
 
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge Local Plan, that an appropriate record is made of 
archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development. ' 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of the area archaeological 
excavation of all areas of archaeological sensitivity affected by the proposed development that may 
contain archaeological or artefactual deposits to ensure an appropriate record is made of the heritage 
assets prior to their destruction by the proposed development. The results of the fieldwork and any 
post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and 
illustrated report. 
 
Historic England: 
Comments in respect of revised scheme: 
Thank you for your letter of 20 October 2020 regarding further information on the above application 
for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following advice to assist your 
authority in determining the application. 
 
In our previous substantive advice on this application, dated 5 August 2020, we identified the 
importance of Great Torrington's conservation area and historic character, as reflected in its dramatic 
location and plan form. We emphasised the desirability of conserving certain views into the town in 
any new development scheme to protect its setting and those of nearby listed buildings. Our concerns 
were that the outline nature of the application did not provide sufficient information for your authority 
to judge impacts and any potential harm that might be created. Further, we considered that the 
heritage impact assessment lacked detail as a result of the scant details provided within the 
application on which to base its assessment. 
 
The application has now been amended to reflect subsequent joint discussions. The proposed layout 
of the development is now approximately C-shaped, allowing an open space to form the centre of the 
space and removing the 'solid wall' effect along the escarpment. This significantly reduces the 
visibility of the development in long views into Torrington and creates a better variety of depths to 
break up the scheme visually. The new layout will create much greater opportunity for minimising 
impacts and mitigating any harm caused to the historic environment. Ideally, plot 2 would be 
pushed further back into the site but because it (and the site as a whole) would now be much less 
dominant in views, we consider that this is a decision for your authority to make. Clearly, those 
houses closest to the edge of the site are likely to have glazing and possibly decking to make the best 
of views, but your authority should be able to control this at reserved matters stage and by the 
removal of permitted development rights where appropriate. 
 
Because we have assessed that the revised layout will significantly reduce levels of harm to the 
historic environment, we consider the outline nature of the application (if the layout plan is also 
included in any decision) to be of much less concern. 
 
Historic England wish to thank your authority and the applicant for taking on board our comments and 
seeking amendments to take the conservation of heritage assets better into account. We now 
consider that the application has reached a point where our involvement is no longer required. 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has no further comments to make at this stage of the planning process. In 
determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the Planning 

Page 23



(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If there 
are any material changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. Please 
advise us of the decision in due course. 
 
Comments in respect of original scheme: 
The significance of the heritage assets 
Great Torrington sits in a dramatic elevated position, perched on a peninsula of land with a steep 
escarpment to the south that leads down to the Torridge Valley. The topography has been a key 
element of the development of the town as a defensive settlement, with evidence of a motte and 
bailey castle still in existence. The topography of the town was also key to its role during the Civil 
War, where one of the last major battles took place in 1646. 
 
The application site partially sits within the Great Torrington Conservation Area on a car park and 
former market garden. Located at the top of the escarpment, the site is clearly visible alongside urban 
development of varying ages within shared views from the valley. The conservation area's skyline is 
dominated by the spire of the Grade 11* listed Church of St Michael and All Angels, which forms a 
prominent landmark rising above the undulating roofline of the terraced row of light rendered houses 
that front onto South Street. These sit in an elevated position, with sloping gardens that lead to the 
application site. The site forms a foreground to the urban development of the town. 
 
On the opposite side the valley above Taddiport is the grade 11* Cross House. The orientation of the 
principle façade focuses views along the north running branch of the valley which curves around the 
promontory. The settlement of Great Torrington is likely to be visible within the wider vista and will 
help frame views down the valley. Multiple listed buildings (the majority of which are grade II) are 
located in Torrington and some of these are in close proximity to the application site and will certainly 
be read in context with the development in some views. 
 
The impact of the proposals on the heritage assets 
The proposal is an outline application for the erection of nine dwellings, with associated landscaping 
and infrastructure. Whilst outline in nature, we understand that the layout of the site and size of the 
dwellings forms a part of this application and would therefore not be reserved matters. 
 
The application is neither entirely outline, nor a full application - it leaves a degree of control for your 
authority, but simultaneously binds it to a set layout. Our concern at this approach lies in the lack of 
suitable information available to appropriately assess the impact of the development on the historic 
environment. The application includes a brief Heritage Statement, but this document does not follow 
the available guidelines for assessment of significance, nor issues of setting. We do not consider 
that it conforms to the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 
189, which states that applicants must describe the significance of any heritage assets affected by 
development, including any contribution made by their setting, in a proportionate manner. We 
disagree with many of its conclusions. Because of this, we consider that it will be impossible for 
your authority to comply with paragraph 190 of the NPPF, to take such information into account in 
decision making and to minimise or avoid conflict between the conservation of heritage assets and 
the proposal. 
 
Historic England was consulted by your authority in 2014 for the development of a supermarket on 
this site (1/0654/2014/FULM). This was a full application with detailed drawings. We provided advice 
in our letter of August 2014 (our ref. P00427212) and emphasized the sensitivity of the site. We 
further advised that a successful scheme needed to be recessive and nestle into the base of the 
town's silhouette providing a green buffer zone around it. Whilst the application in 2014 was 
for a supermarket, the same general principles remain for any development on this site. 
 
Historic England is concerned that the current proposal locates some of the proposed dwellings in a 
linear pattern, set towards the southern edge of the site. This location and layout will introduce a 

Page 24



rather blunt block form along the escarpment, which could be dominant in views towards Torrington 
from the south and will not reflect historic development patterns. The section drawings and visuals 
provided dwell on impacts in relation to height and retained views over the top of the proposed 
houses, but other impacts remain unclear. We are particularly concerned that balconies, and/or 
elevated decks above the falling ground levels to the amenity spaces, with associated extension of 
living space towards the edge of the escarpment could create an alien and eye-catching feature at 
this important edge of town position. In our opinion, the layout of the development would result in 
harm to the historic environment and whilst this harm would be 'less than substantial' (NPPF 
196), it should nonetheless be avoided where alternatives are possible. Less than substantial harm 
does not equate to acceptability. 
 
In assessing the justification of the proposal and its form, we suggest that there is a distinct difference 
between a proposal for a supermarket which provides significant public benefits to the community, 
and a small housing scheme. It is for your authority to consider if any harm caused to the significance 
of the heritage assets (including any contribution made by their settings) is clearly and convincingly 
justified (NPPF 194), and then to weigh this harm against any public benefits of the proposal (NPPF 
196). It may be that alternative layouts within the site can reduce or avoid harm and improve the 
design of the housing also. We therefore would suggest that justification for the identified harm is 
lacking. 
 
Given previous investigations, it is highly likely that the site has archaeological potential. We therefore 
recommend that you seek the input of your archaeological advisors at Devon County Council in 
relation to the proposal. 
 
Historic England's position 
We consider that proposals for housing in this location requires an innovative and informed approach 
which appropriately takes into account the topography of the area, the historic context of the town, the 
setting of the heritage assets affected, and the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
The NPPF states that new development should make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness 
(NPPF 192), and should be sympathetic to local character and history including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape, with development having good architecture, layout and with appropriate 
landscaping (NPPF 127). We are not convinced that this application meets this high bar. Your 
authority may consider that only through examination of a well-supported, full planning application will 
it be possible to consider these matters in sufficient detail. We remind your authority that great weight 
should be given to the conservation of heritage assets (NPPF 193) and that alternative development 
proposals are likely to be possible which are less harmful, or create no harm. 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. These concerns relate 
to the lack of appropriately detailed heritage assessment available to consider all heritage impacts, 
and the harm that the proposals would cause to the significance of the conservation area and other 
heritage assets, where a part of that significance stems from setting. 
 
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order for 
the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 127, 192, 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF. 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which they possess; and section 72(1) of the same Act to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards or 
further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you 
would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
 

Page 25



Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  39  Number of letters of support:  1 
Number of representations received:  21 Number of neutral representations: 5 
Number of objection letters:  21  

 
The application has received 21 letters of representation in total and these have been set out 
according to which iteration of the development they relate to. Members should however have regard 
to comments made in respect of the original development where these do not directly relate to design.  
 
The revised scheme has attracted 6 letters of objection, which raise the following concerns: 
 

 Concerns that the size of the dwellings will be increased after outline planning permission has 
been granted; 

 Single storey dwellings would lessen the harm and is particularly important for plot 2 which 
projects beyond the building line. In any event this development should be restricted to two 
storey (i.e. ground floor and first floor); 

 To achieve gravity flow to the main sewer the houses on the southern half of the site might 
have to be raised in height – this would be unacceptable when a relatively inexpensive 
alternative of a private package pump would obviate the need for this; 

 The north-west part of the site, with vehicular access to and from Mill Street, is not included in 
the planning application. There is concern that this will be incorporated into plot 5 – the 
highway department has rejected the use of this access for vehicles in previous planning 
applications because of the danger it poses; 

 The prominent tree to the north of the site hosts a resident population of birds – its wildlife and 
visual importance should ensure its protection if the development goes ahead; 

 Almost a third of the site is within the Great Torrington Conservation Area – the Council must 
have regard to the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990;   

 The company (Solar PV Tech) who provided and installed the solar array on a neighbouring 
site has advised that construction of these new houses will have a massive effect on the 
generation of the solar PV system and the carbon it offsets;    

 The owner of Number 3 Mill Street (Mr M Whittaker) has submitted extensive objections 
raising concerns over the impact of the proposal on his solar PV array that is located to the 
north of the application site. These representations are available to view in full on the TDC 
website. Key points raised are: 

o The objector runs a vehicle decal manufacturing business that is internet and home 
based. It has been trading for seventeen years and employs a total of 5 people both 
here and in the USA. The business is the only sustainable carbon neutral decal 
manufacturer in the world; 

o The proposed development will shade the solar installation reducing its output and will 
threaten the business in the long term – the objector estimates that it will cost up to 
£200,000 over 20 years; 

o The objector challenges the Applicant’s Light assessment and suggests the true extent 
of shadow on the array would be 90% in mid-winter reducing the output of the array to 
virtually zero even at high noon; 

o The panels are fed by defused light, not just direct sunlight, so they generate power 
from the whole sky;  

o If only 10% of a single panel is shaded the whole systems efficiency goes down by 
50% as each individual cell on a panel is in series so the effect is cumulative; 

o Further concern is expressed over the potential impact of any trees that may be 
planted along this boundary in the future;   

o The objector has provided a High Court Decision, ‘William Ellis McLennan vs Medway 
Council and Ken Kennedy [2019] EWHC 1738’, which established that the Council was 
not entitled to reject as immaterial, in planning terms, the effect that another 
development proposal may have upon a renewable energy system.’     

 

Page 26



 
The originally submitted scheme received 15 letters of objection, 5 neutral comments and 1 letter of 
support. The representations raised the following issues: 
 

 Concerns over nature of proposed boundary with properties on Mill Street; 
 The properties on Mill Street have a right of access onto the application site; 
 Proposal is not in keeping with historic context; 
 The site should be used as a community asset; 
 Amenity impacts: noise, overlooking; 
 Light intrusion/pollution; 
 Too many dwellings for the site; 
 The proposed buildings are too tall – the site should be developed with bungalows; 
 Access across a public car park could be dangerous; 
 Loss of public car parking; 
 Surface water may damage wall along the top of the Commons; 
 The site should be developed with buildings of architectural merit; 
 Loss of view of the valley from properties on Mill Street; 
 The application is not supported by an LVIA; 
 Design concerns over impact of building a housing estate; 
 Impact on views from Rosemoor/Little Torrington; 
 Impact on skyline of town and Castle Hill; 
 Brownfield developments should be developed before sites of natural and historic value; 
 Proposed siting would impact on popular public benches; 
 The number of houses and materials used should reflect the surroundings and buildings 

should be restricted to single storey or a maximum of 2 storey in height; 
 There should be increased planting along the southern boundary; 
 The Applicant needs to provide a 3 metre easement to the SWW sewer; 
 Reptiles should be protected and safely relocated to another location; 
 The contextual plans suggest the proposal would have a significant impact on the skyline; 
 The development will affect the working of neighbouring solar panels; 
 It is wrong to use the Waitrose development previously approved on this site as a precedent; 
 The Applicant is incorrect in stating the site adjoins the Conservation Area; it is partly within it. 

 
The Great Torrington Common Conservators have provided the following comments: 

 The design and layout appears unsympathetic to the Commons and neighbouring listed 
buildings; 

 Encroachment onto the Commons should be avoided; 
 There should be no pressure on existing trees and natural boundary with the Commons; 
 Consideration should be given to minimising light pollution. 

 
Where the above comments concern relevant planning matters they will be addressed within the 
planning considerations section below. It should be noted that rights of access is a legal matter and 
that the loss of a view is not a planning consideration. 
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of 
Development); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main 
Centres); ST08 (Scale and Distribution of New Development in Northern Devon); ST10 (Transport 
Strategy); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); ST17 (A 
Balanced Local Housing Market); ST23 (Infrastructure); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); 
DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM10 (Green 
Infrastructure Provision); GTT (Great Torrington Spatial Vision and Development Strategy);  

Page 27



 
Government Guidance: 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework);  
  
Great Torrington Neighbourhood Plan: 
A neighbourhood plan is being progressed for Great Torrington; the Great Torrington Neighbourhood 
Plan (GTNP). The submission GTNP, prepared by Great Torrington Town Council, was subject to 
consultation during 14th February - 28th March 2019. An independent examiner was subsequently 
appointed to determine whether or not the "basic conditions" as defined in the Localism Act 2011, 
Schedule 10 and Schedule 4B, 8 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 were met by the 
Neighbourhood Plan. The Examiner's Report was published on the 8th December 2019. The examiner 
concluded that the Neighbourhood Plan could meet the basic conditions, subject to the acceptance of 
the recommendations contained in his report and that if the recommended modifications are accepted 
(by the District Council), the Great Torrington Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2031 is submitted to a 
referendum. 

 
As the GTNP has now passed through Examination and with publication of the associated 
Examination Report, in accordance with guidance set out in Paragraph 4.8 of the NPPF, the following 
policies are considered material and should be afforded limited weight on the basis that the Council 
has not yet determined that the basic conditions have been met and it has not yet been subject to 
referendum: ENV1: Landscape Protection; ENV2: Wildlife Enhancement; ENV4: Dark Skies; ENV5: 
Renewable Energy; H1: Housing Types; H3 Design and Layout; TI1: Car Parking; TI3: Residential 
Parking; TI4: Visitor Parking; CF1: Community Facilities.  
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The planning considerations of relevance to this proposal are: 
 

1. The Principle of Development; 
2. Design and Impact on Character; 
3. Heritage Impacts; 
4. Amenity; 
5. Highways; 
6. Drainage; 
7. Ecology; 
8. Impact on Solar Installation 
9. Planning Obligations and Viability; 
10. The Planning Balance. 

 
The Principle of Development: 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The site the subject of this application falls within the development boundary of Great Torrington, in a 
central location adjacent to the Town Centre. Great Torrington is identified as a Main Centre under 
Policy ST06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) where appropriate levels of growth 
that will increase self-containment, to meet its own needs and those of surrounding communities, 
where such is sought through the local vision, will be supported. Policy ST06 states that development 
will be supported within the development boundaries of the sub-regional, strategic and main centres. 
 
NDTLP Policy ST08 (1) requires that ‘development will be focused at the Sub-regional, Strategic and 
Main Centres to increase self-containment through sustainable growth that provides balanced 

Page 28



housing markets within environmental limits and increases access to jobs, health, education, leisure, 
culture and community facilities’. Part 2 of this Policy sets out minimum housing and employment 
requirements with 632 dwellings balanced with 4 hectares of employment land being identified for 
Great Torrington up to 2031.  
 
NDTLP Policy GTT (Great Torrington Spatial Vision and Development Strategy) sets the ambition for 
the town to ‘develop as a self-sufficient local service centre with a vibrant, independent retail and 
employment offering. Great Torrington will be enhanced and promoted through tourism and leisure 
utilising its unique cultural heritage as well as the natural environment of the Commons. Its future will 
be supported through small to medium scale employment and housing development and the 
successful regeneration of key sites and buildings both within the historic town centre and urban 
fringe. A creative and dynamic community will be fostered through improved access to arts, culture 
and leisure facilities.’ Policy GTT states that Great Torrington’s future will be supported through small 
to medium scale housing development. Part (b) indicates that a minimum of 632 dwellings will be 
provided and part (c) confirms that this will be secured through redevelopment opportunities on 
brownfield sites within the town and modest urban extensions to the east and south.  GTT (a) 
supports ‘high quality, sustainable development secured in appropriate locations that maintain the 
integrity of the settlement's setting within the Great Torrington Common’. 
 
The application site is not allocated for a specific type of development, being identified on NDTLP 
Proposals Map 5 as ‘white land’. Given this, the principle of residential development is acceptable in 
this sustainable location with the site not being protected for any other use. The development of 9 
dwellings is considered small-scale and therefore the proposal would be consistent with Policy GTT in 
this regard. The Applicant has justified the level of development proposed with reference to 
surrounding densities and the sensitive nature of the immediately surrounding area and, in light of this 
justification, your Officer accepts that the number of dwellings put forward is appropriate for the site 
and in accordance with Policy ST02 (b) which seeks ‘conserving and enhancing the natural, built and 
historic environment through the prudent use of key resources including land.’   
 
Letters of representation from third parties object to this proposal for residential development on the 
grounds that the site should be developed in a manner that benefits the local community rather than 
for housing. As indicated above, the site is not protected for a specific use and whilst community uses 
could be acceptable on this site; a proposal for residential development is equally acceptable and 
there are considered to be no planning grounds to object to the principle of this development. This is 
particularly so given the site is adjoined on two sides by existing residential development meaning 
such a use would be compatible and appropriate.    
 
Notwithstanding the above acceptance of the principle of development, as a result of the Burwood 
Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 
4.23 years across Northern Devon. By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in 
determining planning applications for housing. 
 
Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 
‘Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 
permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
(National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.’ 
 
For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 
automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 

Page 29



development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 
considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 
the policies are generally considered to be out-of-date for the application of the Presumption. 
 
The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal is 
not considered to harm a 'protected area' so as to warrant a clear reason for refusal (see Section 3 
below in respect of designated heritage assets), the decision taker/s in this case needs to consider 
the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), 
NPPF).  
 
Against this background, and notwithstanding the support for the principle of residential in this location 
within the development boundary of Great Torrington, due to the lack of a 5YHLS, the planning 
considerations will need to be weighed up within the planning balance with the NPPF's requirement to 
grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits as a material consideration.  
 
The planning considerations are set out below.  
 
Design and Impact on Character including impact on Heritage Assets: 
Policy ST04 of the NDTLP encourages improved design quality, and notes: development will achieve 
high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places. 
Design will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, 
its wider context and the surrounding area, taking full account of the principles of design found in 
Policy DM04.  
 
Policy DM04 then proceeds to detail 14 design principles which should be taken into consideration 
within any new development. The crux of DM04 requires new developments to be of high quality 
design, including being well related to their surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality 
materials, and to be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the local area. Policy H3 of the 
GTNP concerns design and layout.  
 
Policy DM08A is also relevant which relates to landscape impacts, and seeks to ensure that 
proposals do not cause undue landscape harm. Policy ENV1 of the GTNP seeks to protect the 
landscape.  
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of nine dwellings which would 
range in floorspace from 100 square metres to 160 square metres and would be set over two storeys. 
Whilst submitted in outline, the application does seek to set layout and scale across the whole site. 
The appearance of the proposed dwellings, i.e. their architectural detailing and use of materials, along 
with hard and soft landscaping will be for the reserved matters stage.  
 
NDTLP Policy ST15 advises that ‘great weight will be given to the desirability of preserving and 
enhancing northern Devon’s historic environment.’ Policy DM07 requires all proposals affecting 
heritage assets to be accompanied by sufficient information, in the form of a Heritage Statement, to 
enable the impact of the proposal on the significance of the heritage asset and its setting to be 
properly assessed. Part (2) of Policy DM07 advises: ‘proposals which conserve and enhance heritage 
assets and their settings will be supported. Where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and 
their settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, and 
an acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the national policy 
tests, giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets.’  
 
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires that ‘where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use.’  Paragraph 193 states ‘when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation 

Page 30



(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether 
any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance.’ 
 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires decision 
makers to have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess; and section 72(1) of the same 
Act requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas. 
 
A number of concerns have been raised in regards to the proposed design and potential impacts on 
heritage assets, views and the character of the surrounding area. However, no specific comments 
have been made in respect of the revised scheme other than one representation suggesting the 
dwellings should be single storey. The Town Council recommended refusal of the original scheme on 
design and visual/heritage impact grounds stating that the houses will be visible across the valley and 
that the development was not sympathetic to the surrounding area, particularly given that part of the 
site sits within a Conservation Area. In respect of the revised scheme, the Town Council is 
maintaining their objection and indicate that: ‘the dwellings proposed are two-storey and Members’ 
preference would be for bungalows. This may go some way to mitigate the over-shadowing issues 
from two-storey properties; and part of this site is within the Great Torrington Conservation Area and 
Members were concerned that the height of the proposed dwellings would be in contradiction to the 
characteristics of this area.’ 
 
Both Historic England and the Conservation Officer have been involved in meetings to revise the 
development proposal and it is now supported by a detailed Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) 
prepared by South West Archaeology. The HIA concludes: ‘the new softer build form, particularly on 
the visually key southern face of the site with varying roof heights and shapes, the open central 
courtyard, and use of materials notably lessens the level of harm. The site is considered to be suitable 
for a small low density and well considered residential development of two storey buildings as is 
proposed, and this will not have a significant impact upon the historic narrative of the town, nor its 
wider landscape setting.’  
 
Historic England is now broadly supportive of the proposal, advising: 
‘In our previous substantive advice on this application, dated 5 August 2020, we identified the 
importance of Great Torrington's conservation area and historic character, as reflected in its dramatic 
location and plan form. We emphasised the desirability of conserving certain views into the town in 
any new development scheme to protect its setting and those of nearby listed buildings. Our concerns 
were that the outline nature of the application did not provide sufficient information for your authority 
to judge impacts and any potential harm that might be created. Further, we considered that the 
heritage impact assessment lacked detail as a result of the scant details provided within the 
application on which to base its assessment. 
 
The application has now been amended to reflect subsequent joint discussions. The proposed layout 
of the development is now approximately C-shaped, allowing an open space to form the centre of the 
space and removing the 'solid wall' effect along the escarpment. This significantly reduces the 
visibility of the development in long views into Torrington and creates a better variety of depths to 
break up the scheme visually. The new layout will create much greater opportunity for minimising 
impacts and mitigating any harm caused to the historic environment. Ideally, plot 2 would be 
pushed further back into the site but because it (and the site as a whole) would now be much less 
dominant in views, we consider that this is a decision for your authority to make. Clearly, those 
houses closest to the edge of the site are likely to have glazing and possibly decking to make the best 
of views, but your authority should be able to control this at reserved matters stage and by the 
removal of permitted development rights where appropriate. 
 
Because we have assessed that the revised layout will significantly reduce levels of harm to the 
historic environment, we consider the outline nature of the application (if the layout plan is also 
included in any decision) to be of much less concern. 
 

Page 31



Historic England wish to thank your authority and the applicant for taking on board our comments and 
seeking amendments to take the conservation of heritage assets better into account. We now 
consider that the application has reached a point where our involvement is no longer required.’ 
 
It will be for the detailed design stage (reserved matters) for the external appearance to be finalised 
and accordingly the level of harm to the designated heritage assets to be confirmed however in 
setting the built form of the development across the site, both in terms of layout and scale, and with 
regard to the conclusions of the HIA and comments from Historic England, it is considered that the 
level of harm to be associated with this proposal is limited. Notwithstanding this, and given the 
sensitive nature of the site, it is recommended that a Design Code be secured via condition to inform 
the detail of any future reserved matters application to assist the Local Planning Authority in securing 
the very best and most appropriate design. Against this context, and with regard to the outline nature 
of the application, whilst the proposal is considered to cause harm insofar as it will bring a new built 
form to a site that is currently undeveloped (affecting views, the setting of listed buildings and partly 
the Conservation Area), with careful detailing at the reserved matters stage there is potential for an 
appropriate development to be achieved that causes limited harm and possibly an enhancement.   
 
The Town Council and third party objections raise concerns that the development should be restricted 
to single storey dwellings. The Applicant has provided indicative contextual images and sections to 
demonstrate that this is not the case and that the scale of the dwellings proposed will sit below the 
existing upper limits of the town when viewed from the south. Furthermore, the revised layout 
significantly reduces the visibility of the development due to the southern part of the site being 
identified as open space/private gardens. The mature trees along the southern boundary would be 
retained and this will soften the visual impact of the development – a condition is recommended to 
secure tree protection measures to be approved prior to the commencement of development. Given 
this, it is not considered reasonable or appropriate for this development to be restricted to single 
storey dwellings.  
 
Further concerns have been raised over the impacts of lighting on the Great Torrington dark skies. 
GTNP Policy ENV4 states that ‘planning applications for developments which respect the area’s dark 
skies, take account of the town’s position in the landscape and minimise light pollution shall be 
supported.’ The development proposal will sit within the context of the existing built form of the town 
and therefore it is not considered that it will cause harm above the current wider impact of lighting 
from the town. Nevertheless, it is considered appropriate to include a condition on any planning 
permission requiring details of external lighting to be agreed prior to its installation. This will serve a 
number of purposes in addition to landscape/character impact, i.e. a sensitive lighting scheme will 
also support ecology interest both within and adjoining the site and protect the amenities of 
neighbours.   
 
The County Archaeology Officer is raising no objections subject to a condition being required to 
secure a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation to 
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. Subject to the inclusion of this condition on any decision, 
the development raises no concerns in respect of archaeology and is in accordance with NDTLP 
Policies ST15 and DM07.     
  
NDTLP Policy ST17 states that ‘the scale and mix of dwellings, in terms of dwelling numbers, type, 
size and tenure provided through development proposals should reflect identified local housing 
needs, subject to consideration of: (a) site character and context; and (b) development viability’. 
Supporting Paragraph 7.13 requires the housing mix to be provided by an individual development 
proposal to have regard to relevant up-to-date and robust evidence. Paragraph 7.13A indicates that 
Policy ST17 recognises that ‘the character and context of an individual development site may 
influence or constrain the types of residential development that are appropriate in individual 
circumstances’. Policy H1 of the GTNP seeks to secure an appropriate housing mix.  
 
The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HEDNA) for Torridge and North Devon Councils 
undertaken by GL Hearn and dated May 2016, concludes based on the evidence, that it is expected 
for the focus of new market housing provision to be on two and three-bed properties. Continued 
demand for family housing can be expected from newly forming households. There may also be some 

Page 32



demand for medium-sized properties (2- and 3-beds) from older households downsizing and looking 
to release equity in existing homes, but still retain flexibility for friends and family to come and stay. 
The HEDNA sets the following required housing mix on development sites: 
 

 1 bed = 15% 
 2 bed = 35% 
 3 bed = 35% 
 4 bed = 15% 

 
The application seeks to set scale as follows: 2 x 100 sqm, 3 x 120 sqm, 2 x 150 sqm and 2 x 160 
sqm. It is not possible to confirm the number of bedrooms associated with this development until the 
design is fixed. However, the Technical Housing Standards would suggest that these dwellings will be 
a mix of 3 and 4-bedroom units. Given this, the Applicant was asked to provide justification for this 
mix as it deviates from the above identified needs. The Applicant submitted viability appraisals to 
demonstrate that a policy compliant mix would not be viable (see below) and also sought to justify the 
proposal on the basis that there would be greater impacts on heritage assets/surrounding character 
should a greater number of units come forward. The submitted HIA also gives support for the design 
approach taken. Your officer has considered the justification put forward and, in line with parts (a) and 
(b) of Policy ST17, is satisfied that a case has been put forward to justify the proposed mix.  
 
In light of the above assessment, the scale and layout of the development (which are before the 
Council for determination) would give rise to a limited degree of harm both in terms of visual impact 
and on designated heritage assets. The level of this harm will be further considered at the detailed 
stage with the benefit of an agreed Design Code to inform design. Furthermore, this harm must be 
weighed against the current site being overgrown and making little contribution to the Conservation 
Area and setting of nearby listed buildings.  
 
Amenity: 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
Policy DM04 (i) seeks for development to ‘ensure the amenities of existing and future neighbouring 
occupiers are safeguarded.’ 
 
In addition, policy DM02 of the NDTLP relates to Environmental Protection and seeks to ensure that 
development proposals will have an acceptable impact having regards to Hazards and Pollution.  
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. As detailed in the representation 
section objection comments have been submitted in terms of impact on privacy and security etc.  
 
In respect of the occupiers of existing dwellings, it is considered that the proposed development of the 
site could be achieved as to maintain an acceptable standard of amenity.  Some of the 
representations received in respect of the application suggest that the proposal would result in issues 
relating to noise, light intrusion, privacy and security.  In terms of noise, it is considered that a 
residential development of nine dwellings would not be likely to result in the generation of significant 
levels of noise; external lighting will be controlled via the inclusion of a condition (see above); the 
proposal is unlikely to result in increased overlooking or other privacy issues (this is a matter for 
consideration at the reserved matters stage) given the indicated orientation of the dwellings and the 
separation distance with neighbours; and there is no evidence to suggest that the proposal would 
adversely affect security to a greater degree than is currently the case, in fact the surveillance 
provided by further residential properties could reduce the risk of anti-social behaviour in this part of 
South Street Car Park.  

Page 33



 
The scale and layout of the development is for consideration and the main amenity impact arising 
from these dwellings would be in relation to adjoining Caynton House and Caynton Court. Whilst Plot 
2 would be sited in close proximity to this boundary; due to the extent of the curtilage area associated 
with Caynton House and its distance from the boundary, it is not considered that the application would 
give rise to an unacceptable level of amenity harm. The private amenity areas of Plots 4 and 5 would 
be overlooked by two upper floor windows of the dwelling sited close to the western boundary of the 
site. It is assumed that these windows serve bedroom/bathroom accommodation and not main living 
accommodation. Furthermore, both Plots 4 and 5 would have areas of private amenity space which 
would not be directly overlooked. Therefore, it is considered that the level of harm arising is not so 
great as to justify refusal. The positioning of windows will be confirmed at reserved matters stage; 
however, the layout shows that this level of development could come forward in a manner that 
protects the amenities of immediately adjoining residents and future occupants, particularly when 
considering the distance between the site and the majority of the dwellings on Mill Street, which have 
significantly long gardens.  
 
It is noted that the construction phase would have the potential to have an adverse impact in respect 
of amenity; however, this would be for a limited time only.  It is recommended that a condition be 
attached to any forthcoming planning permission to limit the hours of construction and to require the 
submission of a Construction Method Statement, as requested by the Environmental Protection 
Officer. 
 
The Environmental Protection Officer, in noting the sites relationship with South Street Car Park, is 
raising the potential for detriment to amenity of the proposed dwellings, particularly plots 1, 8 and 9, 
from noise and light disturbance associated with vehicle movements. The Environmental Protection 
Officer acknowledges that a stone wall is to be introduced along the eastern boundary which will 
mitigate against potential disturbance, particularly at the ground floor level. However, he indicates the 
wall is unlikely to screen potential noise and light intrusion at first floor. Should planning consent be 
granted, the Environmental Protection Officer recommends that mitigation measures are introduced to 
ensure both noise and light intrusion is prevented to first floor habitable rooms of plots 1, 8 and 9. For 
example, locating non-habitable rooms on the eastern façade facing the car park. It is considered 
unlikely that main living accommodation will look onto the public car park and this is a matter that can 
be further considered at the detailed design stage. 
 
There are no other issues relating to the proposal that would be expected to adversely affect the 
amenities of the existing residents of the nearby residential properties, or the future residents of the 
proposed development.  It is therefore considered that the proposal accords with Policies DM01, 
DM02 and DM04 of the NDTLP, subject to the inclusion of the recommended conditions. 
 
Highways: 
Policy ST10 of the NDTLP relates to the districts Transport Strategy, and seeks to reduce the need to 
travel by car. The site is located within the development boundary of Great Torrington adjacent to the 
Town Centre and is therefore within walking distance of a number of key services and facilities in this 
Main Centre.  
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP relates to highways, and notes: 
(1) All development must ensure safe and designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking 
and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highways users including cyclists and 
pedestrians. 
(2) All development shall protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footpaths, cycleways and 
bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where 
practical to do so. 

 

Page 34



Policy DM06 of the NDTLP is also relevant which requires development to provide suitable parking 
provision.  
 
The application proposes 14 car parking spaces and two double garages to serve the new 
development; this equates to 2 spaces per dwelling. Given the central location of the site with access 
to a range of services and facilities along with it being adjacent to a large public car park, the 
application is considered to be acceptable when assessed against Policy DM06. Policy TI3 of the 
GTNP sets parking standards for residential development indicating this should be 2 spaces for 3-
bedroom dwellings and 3 spaces for 4-bedroom dwellings. The proposal falls slightly short of this 
however the Policy also accepts that ‘residential development that provides less than the required 
standards will only be considered acceptable in circumstances where there are areas of high 
accessibility. ‘  GTNP Policy TI4 concerns visitor parking and requires 0.25% of a space per dwelling; 
the application proposal does not make any provision for this however given the central location 
adjacent to a large public car park this is not considered to cause harm.  
 
Policy TI1 of the GTNP seeks to protect the level and availability of car parking at South Street Car 
Park and states: ‘proposals that involve the loss of existing on-street parking or off-street parking 
at the locations identified on the Policies Map must replace the spaces lost within a convenient 
walking distance.’ The proposed Site Plan indicates the re-siting of a coach parking space and it is 
therefore considered there would be minimal, if any, loss of spaces. In any event, it is not in TDC’s 
interests to lose car parking spaces and it is expected that the Council will seek to reconfigure any 
space(s) affected by the proposal in as efficient manner as possible.  
 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has been consulted on the application proposal and is raising no 
objections acknowledging that the traffic generation associated with 9 dwellings will be significantly 
less than the previously approved retail superstore. Furthermore, the LHA considers visibility onto the 
public highway (South Street) to be acceptable and this access is considered safe, recognising it 
already serves the car park and library. The LHA notes that the car park is not public highway, and 
that this starts at South Street. Consequently, the LHA advises it is for the LPA to assess whether the 
vehicular access across this car park would be safe and suitable, as is the test required by the NPPF. 
On this matter, the LPA does not consider that the increase in traffic associated with the proposed 
housing development would give rise to such highway movements (both in terms of frequency and 
nature) to cause an unsafe situation.  
 
Third party representations raise concerns over the potential for proposed plot 5 to have a direct 
vehicular access onto Mill Street. The application proposes a sole point of vehicular access from 
South Street Car Park to serve the development. The red line which identifies the application site 
does not include any access onto Mill Street. 
 
Therefore, notwithstanding concerns raised by third parties in letters of representation, your officer is 
satisfied that given the open nature of the car park and the site being located at the less-used end, 
there would be no conflicts with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP or the NPPF.    
 
Drainage: 
Policy ST03 requires that development takes account of climate change to minimise flood risk. Policy 
DM04 requires development to 'provide effective water management including Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of rain water'.  
 
South West Water (SWW) have commented on the application and raise no objections however the 
Applicant’s attention is drawn to the location of a public sewer at the northern boundary of the site. 
SWW has advised that the proposed surface water disposal method (to discharge into the ground 
(infiltration)) is acceptable and meets with the Run-off Destination Hierarchy. Notwithstanding this, 
SWW requests inclusion of a condition on any planning permission to allow only foul drainage to be 
connected into the public or combined sewer.    
 
The management of surface water is considered to be acceptable in principle however a condition is 
recommended to secure the detailed design of this system prior to commencement of development.  
 

Page 35



Taking account of the above, and subject to the inclusion of the suggested conditions, it is concluded 
that the proposal concludes with Policies ST03 and DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
Ecology: 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14 which states that development 
proposals should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity interests. Policy ENV2 of the 
GTNP seeks to protect wildlife interests.  
 
The site adjoins but is not within an identified County Wildlife Site and the development proposal 
would not encroach onto this protected area.  
 
The application is supported by wildlife surveys (Dormouse and Reptile Survey (October 2014) and 
an associated update (January 2018), both undertaken by Tarka Ecology and the Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (July 2020)) which identify the presence of dormice and 
reptiles within the site.  
 
In summary, the surveys concluded dormouse activity has been proved on this site with a freshly 
made nest in a tube situated in the boundary hedge. This means a European Protected Species 
Licence (EPSL) will need to be obtained before any work can take place that might disturb this 
species or its habitat on this site. Such licences are not applied for until planning permission to 
develop the site is granted. Furthermore, there is a substantial reptile presence with breeding taking 
place. Consequently, the site will need to have reptile fencing erected and the reptiles captured and 
re-Iocated to nearby receptor sites after planning permission is granted and at the appropriate time of 
year. The Applicant has confirmed there are a number of potential locations for translocation of the 
reptiles, including land directly to the south of the site, the Torrington Commons, Torrington Cemetery 
and Tarka Ecology has confirmed that their premises at Watertown Farm, Landcross is a recognised 
receptor site and they have agreed to accommodate relocated species should the Torrington sites not 
be available. Give the confirmed site options, your Officer is satisfied that appropriate reptile 
translocation can take place however recommends a condition to secure a relocation strategy prior to 
commencement of development.  
 
Case law in respect of European protected species has established that Local Planning Authorities 
must take into account the requirements, or 'three tests' for granting an EPSL, as required by the 
Habitat Regulations when determining a planning application which would otherwise result in an 
offence, in this case, the destruction of an identified habitat (in this case relating to dormice and 
reptiles).   
 
The three tests are: 
 
1. It is in: 
a) the interests of public health and public safety,  
b) or for other imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic 
nature. 
 
2. That there is no satisfactory alternative. 
 
3. It will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the species concerned at a 
favourable conservation status in their natural range.  
 
Test 1. The proposal will enable the provision of additional dwellings on a site in a highly sustainable 
location that is currently undeveloped.  The proposed development will result in a more efficient use of 
the site with the provision of additional accommodation, in accordance with the Government's drive to 
increase house building and will contribute to the Council’s identified housing deficit.     
 

Page 36



Test 2.  In considering alternatives, the site is undeveloped land in a sustainable location within the 
development boundary of Great Torrington and its development for housing will bring this vacant site 
into use. Whilst there are other sites allocated for housing within the development boundary of Great 
Torrington, delivery has been very poor with little new housing development coming forward. Given 
the identified shortfall in housing and the sustainable nature of the site, there is not considered to be a 
satisfactory alternative.   
 
Test 3. The submitted wildlife surveys and mitigation/enhancement statement set out proposed 
measures to ensure that the protected species can safely be protected: in respect of dormice,  
an EPSL will be required before any work can take place that will disturb the boundary trees and 
shrubs and the work under the licence will entail cutting the boundary shrubs and hedgerow that need 
to be removed, in stages; in respect of reptiles, the boundary will need to have reptile fencing erected 
to prevent further encroachment by reptiles from outside the site, while the present ones are captured 
and re-Iocated to a nearby suitable receptor site. The Applicant has provided options for receptor 
sites and a condition will secure a translocation strategy prior to the commencement of development.  
 
It is considered that the proposal will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.  The three tests outlined 
above have been considered in relation to the application and further to the above justification the 
proposals are not considered to fail any of the above tests in respect of European Protected Species. 
 
In terms of further more general mitigation, the protection of existing boundary habitats will be 
secured via Hera Fencing to protect the existing trees to the north and south of the site and external 
lighting to units 1-5 will have an upward light ratio of 0% and good optical control used. Any external 
security lighting would be set on motion-sensors and short (1 min) timers.  
 
In terms of enhancements, the development proposes the following: 
Hedgehog Highways - these are to be incorporated into all rear garden fences where indicate the 
submitted site plan. Relevant signage can be provided by the applicant to ensure the Homeowners 
keep the access points open; 
Bat Boxes - the bat boxes on the houses as identified on the site plan above drawing will be       
integrated Vivara Pro Segovia Woodstone bat box or similar approved and incorporated on the gable 
ends where appropriate; and 
Bird Boxes - the sparrow terraces will be Vivara Pro Estella Woodstone nest boxes or similar 
approved and incorporated at soffit level where appropriate. 
 
Providing the above measures are secured via a planning condition, it is considered that the 
application proposal will have an overall positive impact on biodiversity interests at the site and in 
maintaining the reptile population through translocation in accordance with NDTLP Policies ST14 and 
DM08, the above quoted legislation and Policy ENV2 of the GTNP.  
 
Impact on Solar Installation: 
A third party who lives at Number 3 Mill Street is raising objections to the proposal on the grounds that 
the development will adversely affect his solar installation, which is shown on the submitted revised 
drawings. The objector has submitted a number of representations and has referred the Local 
Planning Authority to the legal judgement William Ellis McLennan vs Medway Council and Ken 
Kennedy [2019] EWHC 1738. This judgment established that the Council was not entitled to reject as 
immaterial, in planning terms, the effect that another development proposal may have upon a 
renewable energy system 
 
The legal judgment recognised that Paragraphs 148, 153 and 154 of NPPF and policies with the local 
plan were directed towards new development, however the essential point is that both the local plan 
and the NPPF recognise the positive contribution that can be made to climate change by even small-
scale renewable energy schemes. It further indicates that Section 19(1 A) of the 2004 Act and the 
NPPF confirm that mitigation of climate change is a legitimate planning consideration. Therefore, 
whilst the solar installation in that particular case served a private domestic and business interest, its 
part in addressing (however modestly on an individual scale) issues of climate change was a material 

Page 37



planning consideration. It was however also accepted that it is for the decision taker to ascribe the 
appropriate level of weight to this material consideration.  
 
The objector has indicated that the development proposal will shade the solar installation reducing its 
output at an estimated cost of up to £200,000 over 20 years. The objector challenges the Applicant’s 
Light Assessment and suggests the true extent of shadow on the array would be 90% in mid-winter 
reducing the output of the array to virtually zero even at high noon. It is further suggested that if only 
10% of a single panel is shaded the whole systems efficiency goes down by 50% as each individual 
cell on a panel is in series so the effect is cumulative. Specific concern is raised over the potential for 
the dwellings along the northern part of the site to have trees planted to screen their gardens. A 
diagrammatic presentation of the expected effect of the proposed development and trees on the solar 
installation has been provided, which indicates that even in the height of Summer some power will 
need to be drawn from the national grid due to buildings and trees to the south of the array; in Winter, 
most power will need to be drawn from the national grid.   
 
The Applicant has provided an Updated Light Assessment and accompanying submission setting out 
their position in respect of the impact on the solar installation. Firstly, they refer to legal advice which 
confirms that there is no legal right to light in law and that there is no covenant between the two 
pieces of land in question which would protect light levels. Reference is also made to the most recent 
use of the site being as a ‘market garden’ meaning there are no controls over what could or couldn’t 
be planted there i.e. trees could be planted at any time. The Applicant has also sought expert advice 
from a PV specialist who has calculated the likely PV generation for the system as between 1893 
kWh and 1703 kWh per annum with 100kWh for months of the year with the least daylight. At such 
times of the year, the PV specialist indicates that if you assumed a 50% generation (which is indicated 
as being too high in any event) then 50kWh would be the amount of energy affected, which equates 
to £7.50 per annum in real money. The specialist multiplies this figure for the remaining lifetime of the 
panels (assumed to be 18 years) and concludes that the loss would be £135 at 50 kWh through 
December and January. Based on these conclusions, the Applicant concludes there will be a de 
minimis impact when factored into the planning balance.    
 
Given these conflicting view points presented by the Applicant and objector, the Local Planning 
Authority has instructed a sustainability specialist to consider the development proposal 
independently. Their written report has not yet been received at the time of drafting this report and 
Members will be verbally updated at the Plans Committee meeting and the Officer presentation will 
include visual images to demonstrate the assessed impact. Notwithstanding this, the consultant has 
advised that the modelled data is broadly consistent with the Applicant’s more basic study and they 
conclude there will be a marginal loss of light through partial shading in November, December and 
January, but the rest of the year and most importantly in the Summer months, where the vast majority 
of energy is generated through the PVs, the array is not affected by the proposed development.   
 
Against this context, and in light of the independent advice received from the appointed consultant, it 
is concluded that the impact of the development on the neighbouring solar array will be minimal and 
that this affect should be afforded minimal weight in the planning balance.  
 
Planning Obligations and Viability: 
Any shortfall in infrastructure for the proposed development should be funded by developer 
contributions in accordance with NDTLP Policy ST23 (Infrastructure), which requires development to 
provide or contribute towards the timely provision of physical, social and green infrastructure made 
necessary by the specific or cumulative impacts of those developments and where such contributions 
comply with Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 as amended.  GTNP 
Policy CF1 advises that contributions may be sought from housing developments to secure delivery of 
community facilities, through methods such as planning obligations. 
 
The application generates the following infrastructure requirements: 
 
Education Contribution 
The Local Education Authority has advised that 9 family type dwellings can expect to produce an 
additional 2.25 primary pupils and 1.35 secondary school pupils. At the time of their consultation, they 

Page 38



identified a need for contributions towards only primary provision as follows: £36,042 - primary 
education and £3,960 – primary land contribution. 
 
Public Open Space 
In respect of green infrastructure and built recreational facilities, NDTLP Policy DM10 states: 
‘Development will provide new accessible green infrastructure, including public open space and built 
facilities, to meet at least the green infrastructure quantitative and accessibility standards, as set out 
in Table 13.1 and Infrastructure Delivery Plan, to meet the needs of its intended occupants’. 
 
Based on the proposed mix of housing, the application of the provisions of Policy DM10 and 
associated Table 13.1 of the NDTLP, the development generates the following off-site contributions 
with suggested projects: 
 

 £11,124.75 – amenity/natural green space and play space (Calf Street Play Area and 
improvements to Torrington Commons infrastructure); and 

 £24,851.48 – parks, sports, recreation grounds (redevelopment of Torridgeside Football Club’s 
Donnacroft site and/or installation of floodlights). 

 
Viability: 
The Applicant has submitted viability appraisals which demonstrate that with a policy compliant level 
of contributions towards education and open space, the development would be unviable. These 
appraisals are available for Members of the Plans Committee to view on the Council’s website, in line 
with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Practice Guidance (NPPG) and recent high 
court judgement.   
 
NDTLP Policy ST18 allows for negotiation to vary the scale and nature of affordable housing 
provision, along with the balance of other infrastructure and planning requirements, on the basis of a 
robust appraisal of development viability. The proposal falls below the threshold for affordable 
housing however in order to demonstrate viability, the Applicant has submitted appraisals that 
consider: a 9 dwelling scheme that is policy compliant; the 9 unit scheme of the mix proposed and 
with no obligations (which is deemed to be viable); and an 11 unit scheme that is policy compliant 
including provision of affordable housing. The Council’s Strategic Enabling Officer has reviewed these 
submitted viability appraisals and is in broad agreement with the assumptions made in recognition of 
the relatively high construction costs that will be necessitated by the quality of development that will 
be required on this site. Two areas were however queried: external costs and professional fees. In 
response to these concerns, the Applicant re-ran the appraisals on the basis of 6% professional fees 
(as opposed to 8%), which had little impact on the overall viability. The Applicant has also sought to 
further justify the external costs with reference to site topography and the need for conservation 
sympathetic finishes. The Council has no evidence to further challenge the suggested costs and on 
this basis the conclusions of the viability appraisals are accepted in that they demonstrate that the 
proposed 9 unit scheme would be unviable if the financial contributions were sought with a housing 
mix closer to the HEDNA requirements.  
 
Your Officers advise that a sensitive approach to development is essential on this sustainable site. As 
set out above, a condition is recommended to require a design code to be agreed prior to the 
submission of reserved matters and on this basis your officers are satisfied that a high-quality 
development commensurate with the suggested build rates can be secured. The position remains, 
however, that the proposal is in conflict with NDTLP Policy ST23 and GTNP Policy CF1 as the 
proposal is unable to provide for the identified shortfall in infrastructure.  
 
The Planning Balance: 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration in 
planning decisions. 
 

Page 39



As discussed above, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing land to meet the identified need within the district.  It is therefore necessary to consider 
whether the adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits (the tilted balance). 
 
In this instance, the proposal would provide a contribution of 9 dwellings towards local housing supply 
on an undeveloped site that is located in a sustainable location adjacent to Town Centre of Great 
Torrington, which is identified as a Main Centre in the NDTLP. The site is therefore within close 
proximity of a number of key services and facilities as well as public transport routes meaning that 
future occupants would be less reliant on the private motor car. Given the Council’s current lack of a 
5YHLS significant weight should be attached to the delivery of housing in this sustainable location. 
The proposal would also provide a benefit to the local economy in respect of the construction of the 
development and improve the sustainability of Great Torrington in respect of the viability of local 
services and facilities (admittedly to a relatively limited degree). All of these elements are in 
accordance with the three core strands of the NPPF in respect of economic, social and environmental 
benefits and the proposal is in compliance with the Council’s Spatial Development Strategy for 
Northern Devon’s Sub-regional, Strategic and Main Centres (NDTLP Policy ST06) and broadly in 
compliance with the Great Torrington Vision and Spatial Strategy in respect of the scale and location 
of housing development.  
 
The highways impacts are considered to be acceptable, both in respect of traffic generation and the 
proposed access; the Local Highway Authority is raising no objections to the proposal. It is considered 
that the Reserved Matters stage will allow for the appearance of the dwellings to be developed in 
such a way as to protect the amenities of existing and future residents of the new development. There 
are no objections in principle to the proposed foul and surface water drainage methods however 
conditions are recommended to ensure these methods can be confirmed as acceptable once the 
detailed design and layout is finalised. Through condition the proposal will secure the protection of 
protected species and deliver biodiversity enhancements at the site. All of these material 
considerations are considered to deliver a neutral position post-development.  
 
Turning to the adverse impacts, as discussed earlier, the redevelopment of this site will result in a 
degree of harm to the Conservation Area and its setting and the setting of nearby listed buildings. In 
turn there would also be limited harm to existing views towards Great Torrington from the south. The 
scale and layout of development has been set at this outline stage and the submitted drawings have 
sought to demonstrate that the development would sit within the context of the existing townscape. It 
is considered that the success of this form of development will depend on external detailing, and to 
ensure that the Reserved Matters proposal comes forward in a sensitive manner, a condition requiring 
the agreement of a Design Code has been recommended. Nevertheless, it is considered that limited  
harm can be attributed to the development proposal, however through careful detailed design and 
adherence to a robust Design Code it is envisaged that the resultant impact could be an 
enhancement. In addition to heritage and visual impacts, the development is unable to provide 
financial contributions to meet needs that are generated in terms of education and public open space 
with this position being confirmed by the submission of a viability assessment. This is considered to 
result in moderate harm arising from any future development; however, the scale of this impact from 9 
dwellings is not so significant as to severely affect these key facilities within Great Torrington to the 
detriment of the wider population.  
 
Two varying position have been put forward in terms of the impact on a neighbouring solar 
installation. As indicated above, the impact on this installation and consequently impact on climate 
change is a material planning consideration that needs to be weighed into the planning balance. 
Whilst both the Applicant and the Council’s independent consultant indicate there will be an impact on 
this array, this is considered to be minimal and just during the Winter months. Furthermore, any such 
impact must be considered in the context of the site owner currently being able to plant trees up 
against the site boundary, which could have a greater impact than the proposed dwellings. A 
condition is recommended to prevent any future residents planting trees along their boundary and 
within their rear gardens so this should ensure future efficacy for the neighbouring array.   
  

Page 40



In weighing the identified harm against the benefits, it is considered that the adverse impacts 
associated with the development fail to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, with the 
result that when assessed against the policies in the NDTLP and the NPPF as a whole and having 
considered all the planning issues, on balance, a recommendation for approval is made. 
 
Finally, it is noted that objections have been received in respect of the application along with a 
recommendation of refusal by the Town Council.  Whilst the issues raised have been given due 
consideration, it is considered, on balance, that they should not preclude the granting of outline 
planning permission, for the reasons set out above.  
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 
Recommendation 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions   
 
 1         Approval of the details of: 
  

a) appearance; and 
 b) landscaping  
  
 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 
  
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
            
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

            
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
 
 For the avoidance of doubt, approved plan P316 18 30 E sets the layout for the built form of 

the dwellings only and not any associated decking or balconies.  
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 4         Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 

construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local 
Planning Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage 

Page 41



the impacts of construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include:- 

                       
                      a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
                      b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
                      c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
                      d) the removal/disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
                      e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 

           f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include 
wheel-washing facilities 

g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust 
suppression 
h) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, 
vibration, dust and lighting. (Assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified 
persons and the plan should demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to 
reduce impacts) 

                      i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
           j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works 

and the provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of 
how complaints will be addressed. 

                       
           The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to 
ensure continuing compliance during the construction of the development. 

                       
            Reason: To minimise the impact of the works during the construction of the development in 

the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic and to safeguard the amenities of the 
area in accordance with Policies DM01, DM02 and DM04 of the North Devon and Torridge 
Local Plan.  

 
 5         Construction works shall not take place other than between 0700 and 1900hrs on Mondays to 

Fridays, Saturdays between 0800 and 1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
            
           Reason: To minimise the impact of the works during the construction of the development in the 

interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic and to safeguard the amenities of the 
area in accordance with Policies DM01, DM02 and DM04 of the North Devon and Torridge 
Local Plan. 

 
 6         Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 

required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence 
until conditions a to d have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found after 
development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing 
until condition d has been complied with in relation to that contamination.  

                       
                      a. Site Characterisation 
            An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the 

planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature 
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The 
contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

            
           The report of the findings must include:  
                      (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  

Page 42



                      (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: o human health, o property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and 
pipes, o adjoining land, o groundwaters and surface waters, o ecological systems, o 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  

(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). This 
must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  

            Approval by the Local Planning Authority of the report submitted at this stage will confirm 
whether there is a need to undertake remediation measures under conditions b, c and e 
below.  

                       
            b. Submission of Remediation Scheme  
            A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by 

removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 
and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management 
procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land 
after remediation.  

            
           c. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme  
            The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to 

the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must 
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.  

 
            Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 

verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

                       
            d. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination  
            In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of condition a, and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition b, 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report 
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with condition c.  

            
           e. Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance  
            Where an approved remediation scheme includes a requirement for a monitoring and 

maintenance scheme to ensure the long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over 
time, a report setting out monitoring and maintenance requirements must be submitted in 
writing for the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of the 
measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation objectives have been achieved, 
reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must 
be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. This must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  

                       
            Reason (common to all): To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 

the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

Page 43



            
 7         The reserved matters shall be carried out in accordance with a Design Code which shall be 

submitted before or at the same time as the reserved matters application and shall provide 
details of the following: 
a) architectural and design principles; 
b) housing mix, taking account of the fixed layout and scale parameters set by this outline 

permission; 
           c) a schedule of materials and finishes for the dwellings and, where so required by the 

Local Planning Authority, samples of such materials and finishes; 
           d) external lighting; 
           e) boundary treatments; 
           f) roofscapes; 
           g) car and cycle parking; 
           h) existing landscape features to be retained; 
           i) details of any ground re-contouring or remodelling required within the site; and 
           j) details of hard surfacing. 
            
           The development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details. 
             
            Reason: To define the details of the proposal and to ensure a high standard of design is 

achieved in the interests of the appearance and character of the area and to secure 
development that is appropriate to the setting of nearby listed buildings with recognition of the 
sites location partially within the Great Torrington Conservation Area in accordance with North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan Policies ST04, ST15, DM04, DM07 and DM08A.   

 
 8         No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such 
other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

            
            Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018), that an 
appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development. 

 
 9         Prior to the commencement of any development hereby granted planning permission and 

before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the 
development hereby granted planning permission, site specific details of the specification and 
position of the fencing for the protection of any retained tree/group of trees within or adjoining 
the site, a tree constraints report and plan in accordance with the recommendations in 
BS5837:2012, together with a site specific arboricultural impact assessment and arboricultural 
method statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

            
           The works shall be carried out as approved and the fencing shall be erected prior to the 

commencement of any of the development hereby permitted and shall be maintained until the 
development has been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have 
been removed from the site.  

            
           Reason: To protect the trees to be retained on and adjoining this site from damage before and 

during the course of development.  
            
           This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the Local Planning Authority is 

satisfied of the proposed tree and landscaping works prior to works commencing on site. 
Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the loss of 
existing trees and/or hedges which are of amenity value.  

 

Page 44



10        The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the Dormouse and Reptile 
Survey (October 2014) and the associated update (January 2018), both undertaken by Tarka 
Ecology and the Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (July 2020).  Prior to the 
commencement of development a Reptile Mitigation strategy including the required 
Translocation destination together with the provision of suitable reptile fencing will be 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
The approved mitigation measures shall be implemented both during and post construction in 
accordance with the approved details and the reptile translocation shall be undertaken prior to 
works commencing on site. Post construction mitigation measures shall be maintained in 
perpetuity.  

 
Reason: To ensure the interests of protected species on the site are maintained and to 
achieve biodiversity enhancement in accordance with North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
Policies ST14 and DM08.      

         
11        Foul drainage from the Development (and no other drainage) shall be connected to the public 

foul or combined sewer. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the discharge of drainage from the Development shall not be prejudicial to 

the public sewerage system and ensure there are adequate public foul sewerage facilities to 
receive foul water flows, in order to safeguard the public and environment. 

 
12        No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of 

the proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The design of this permanent surface 
water drainage management system will be in accordance with the principles of sustainable 
drainage systems. No part of the development shall be occupied until the surface water 
management scheme serving that part of the development has been provided in accordance 
with the approved details and the drainage infrastructure shall be retained and maintained for 
the lifetime of the development.  

            
            Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is managed in accordance 

with the principles of sustainable drainage systems.  
 
13        Before the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the vehicular access, parking 

and manoeuvring facilities indicated on the approved site plan (P316 18 30 E) shall be 
provided surfaced and drained and shall, thereafter, be permanently set aside and reserved 
for such purposes. For the avoidance of doubt, a minimum of 2 car parking spaces and 2 cycle 
spaces shall be provided for each dwelling and no vehicular access shall be provided from Mill 
Street.   

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to the site. 
 
14 Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme showing the external lighting to be 

provided on the site shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  The 
scheme shall be supported by a lighting impact assessment prepared in accordance with the 
guidance issued by the Institution of Lighting Engineers concerning the reduction of obtrusive 
light and its recommendations included within the submitted lighting scheme.  The 
development shall not commence until written approval has been issued by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Only the approved lighting scheme shall be implemented on the external areas of 
the site, and shall be retained in accordance with the approved scheme thereafter unless 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and the amenities and 
living conditions of the occupiers of the neighbouring properties. 
 

Page 45



15 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking, re-enacting or 
modifying that Order), no development within Classes A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H of Part 1 and 
Class A of Part 2 to Schedule 2 of the said Order shall be carried out without an express grant 
of planning permission.  

                                  
           Reason: To ensure that the form and bulk of the development is not changed by inappropriate 

alteration and extension and in the interests of the character and appearance of the Great 
Torrington Conservation Area and setting of nearby listed buildings. 
 

16 No trees or hedges shall be planted along the northern boundary of the site or within the 
private gardens of Plots 5, 6, 7 and 8). 

 
 Reason: To protect the efficiency of the neighbouring solar installation.   

 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

                

P316 18 01 B  22.01.2018 
     

P316 18 28 B 20.10.2020 
   

P316 18 29 G 20.10.2020 
   
  

  P316 18 30 E    20.10.2020 
 
Statement of Engagement 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
  
In this instance the Council required additional information and changes to be made following the 
consultation process. The need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and 
submitted for further consideration. The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive 
manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning application. 

Page 46



 
Committee Report – 3rd December 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0642/2020/OUT 

Registration date: 17 August 2020 

Expiry date:  12 October 2020 

Applicant:  Mr E Serna  

Agent:  R A Rowe & Co. Ltd. 

Case Officer:  Angelo Massos 

Site Address:  The Old Telephone Exchange,  
Bucks Cross,  
Bideford, 
EX39 5DP, 
 
 

Proposal:  Outline application with all matters reserved for 1 
no. dwelling 

Recommendation: Refusal 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8b



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
Councillor Boughton: call in to plans Committee application no 1/0642/2020/OUT if the officer is 
minded to refuse.  The reason for doing so is that although it is outside of the development boundary, 
it’s on a brown field site. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

   
   
   
   
   
     
          
   
   
   
   
   
    
     
      
   

1/0390/1997 CONVERSION TO 
RESIDENTIAL USE 

REF 06.05.1997 

    

1/1206/2007/FUL Replacement of existing 
building with residential 
dwelling 

REF 06.12.2007 

     

1/0452/2013/FUL Demolition of redundant 
telephone exchange and 
erection of dwelling 

REF 03.10.2013 

   

1/0100/2014/FUL Demolition of redundant 
telephone exchange and 
erection of dwelling 

REF 25.04.2014 

     

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description 
The site known as the Old Telephone Exchange is located within the open countryside within the 
Parish of Parkham and is approximately 1.1 Km east of the settlement of Bucks Cross, which has the 
provision of services in the form of a village shop, post office, community hall and caravan park. To 
the north of the site is the secondary school known as Atlantic Academy which is situated within the 
AONB and is set back from the A39. The existing site is occupied by a former BT telephone exchange 
building that has been disused for a number of years and subsequently has become redundant.  The 
site is roughly triangular in shape with a hedgerow boundary that is comprised with a number of trees. 
The site has an existing vehicle access that is a shared access and also servers an agricultural field 
to the south. The existing site access adjoins an unclassified highway which runs parallel to the A39 
which, provide vehicular links to Bucks Cross.  
 
The site has been subject to numerous planning applications that has sought a residential use of the 
site since 1997. In 1997 an application submitted for the conversion and extension to the existing 
building was dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate as the existing building required substantive 
alterations and extension in order to function as dwelling. Furthermore, the residential use of the site 
was considered to be unsympathetic with the rural surroundings and therefore would result in harm to 
the character and appearance of the rural setting.  
 
In 2007 an application for a new dwelling on the site was also dismissed at appeal by the Planning 
Inspectorate as the site was considered to be within the open countryside and thus an unsustainable 
location for residential development. An application for the demolition and erection of a dwelling was 
also submitted in 2013 and was refused by the Planning Committee on the grounds that the use of 
the site for residential purposes within an open countryside location was unsustainable. A further 
application was submitted in 2014 and the previous refusal reason from 2013 was upheld and the 
principle of a residential use of the site was considered to result in unsustainable development.  
 
 
 

Page 48



Proposed Development 
The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the residential use of 
the site.  No detailed plans of the proposed dwelling have been provided for consideration at this 
stage, however an illustrative proposed site plan has been provided which confirms that a new 
dwelling could be accommodated within the site along with a proposed cesspool foul drainage 
system.  
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Parkham Parish/Town Council:  
Parkham Parish Council considered this Application on 21 September 2020 and unanimously voted to 
recommend approval with the additional comment that it is a good use of a brown field site that would 
otherwise become derelict. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing Advice  
 
South West Water:  
Proposal: Outline application with all matters reserved for 1 no. dwelling 
With reference to the planning application at the above address, the applicant/agent is advised to 
contact South West Water if they are unable to comply with our requirements as detailed below. 
Asset Protection 
Please find attached a plan showing the approximate location of a public 4 inch water main in the 
vicinity of the above proposed development. Please note that no development will be permitted within 
3 metres of the water main. The water main must also be located within a public open space and 
ground cover should not be substantially altered. 
Should the development encroach on the 3 metre easement, the water main will need to be diverted 
at the expense of the applicant. 
Please click here to view the table of distances of buildings/structures from public water mains. 
Further information regarding the options to divert a public water main can be found on our website 
via the link below: 
www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/water-services-and-connections/diversion-of-water-
mains/ 
Clean Potable Water 
South West Water is able to provide clean potable water services from the existing public water main 
for the above proposal. The practical point of connection will be determined by the diameter of the 
connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company’s existing network. 
Foul Sewerage Services 
South West Water is able to provide foul sewerage services from the existing public foul or combined 
sewer in the vicinity of the site. The practical point of connection will be determined by the diameter of 
the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company’s existing network. 
The applicant can apply to South West Water for clarification of the point of connection for either 
clean potable water services and/or foul sewerage services. For more information and to download 
the application form, please visit our website: 
www.southwestwater.co.uk/developers 
Surface Water Services 
The applicant should demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will discharge as 
high up the hierarchy of drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with evidence that the Run-off 
Destination Hierarchy has been addressed, and reasoning as to why any preferred disposal route is 
not reasonably practicable): 
1. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable, 
2. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable, 
3. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where not 
reasonably practicable, 
4. Discharge to a combined sewer. (Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity evaluation) 
I trust this clarifies the water and drainage material planning considerations for your LPA, however, if 
you have any questions or queries, please contact the Planning Team on 01392 442836 or via email: 

Page 49



DeveloperServicesPlanning@southwestwater.co.uk. 
 
Environment Protection 
Thank you for providing the additional information on foul drainage pertaining to the above 
application. 
  
As you have mentioned, although the installation of a cesspool is a less favourable approach 
according to the ‘Hierarchy of Drainage Options’, it is viable especially given the reported constraints 
of the site.  The Environmental Protection Team has no objection to this foul drainage provision.  
However, it is noted from the site plan that the cesspool will be partially underneath the driveway 
which may make it susceptible to damage resulting from vehicle movements and consequently, 
potentially compromise it’s effectiveness.  I would recommend that Building Control is consulted on 
this particular matter. 
 
Building Control (In relation to the associated installation of a cesspool) 
Install would have to be in accordance with manufacturers design details and would normally cover 
such circumstances. BC would check this as well. 
 
It will be a very big hole when dug out for it, especially at 36,000 litres (36m3) 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  0  Number of letters of support:  5 
Number of representations received:  5 Number of neutral representations:  0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
Five letters of representation were received by interested third parties and Council Harding in support 
of the application their comments are summarised as follows: 
 
- Visual amenity  
- Use of existing brown field site  
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST04 (Improving 
the Quality of Development); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); 
ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental 
Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08A 
(Landscape and Seascape Character); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM27 (Re-use of Rural 
Buildings); ST21 (Managing the Delivery of Housing); ST10 (Transport Strategy); BUC (Bucks Cross 
Spatial Strategy);  
 
Government Guidance: 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Main Planning Considerations: 
 

1. Principle of Development 
2. Character and Appearance 
3. Neighbouring Amenities 
4. Highways 
5. Environmental Impact 
6. Ecology 

Page 50



7. Planning Balance. 
 
1. Principle of Development 
  
1.1 The application site is located outside of the settlement boundary for Bucks Cross and in the 

open countryside as identified on the Proposals Maps to the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan (2018).  As a result, the provisions of Section (4) of Policy ST07 of the Local Plan are 
relevant which states that 'In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural 
Settlements, development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and 
social needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
Countryside location'. 

 
1.2 As the site accommodates an existing disused and redundant building consideration has been 

given to Policy DM27, Re-use of Disused and Redundant Rural Buildings which provides in 
principle support for the conversion of rural buildings. Although the building is disused and 
redundant and meets this aspect of Policy DM27, the existing size of the building is 
considered incapable of functioning as a dwelling and would require significant external 
alterations which would result in substantive rebuilding. Furthermore, the application in 1997, 
reference 1/0390/1997 considered this approach and was dismissed by the Planning 
Inspectorate at appeal. Therefore, it is considered that the principle of residential development 
through the re-use and conversion of the existing building is not supported in principle by 
Policy DM27. The following aspects of the Principle of Development section of this report will 
consider the principle of residential development against spatial and other relevant and 
applicable Policies within the Local Plan and in the NPPF. 
 

1.3 Parkham Parish Council were consulted on this application and provided comments of support 
for the proposed development that it would make ‘good use of a brownfield site’. Nonetheless, 
the spatial strategy for the settlement of Bucks Cross is of more relevance in this instance due 
to the locality of the site within 1.1 Km of Bucks Cross. The spatial strategy of Bucks Cross set 
out in Policy BUC of the Local Plan notes that high quality minimal development will be 
enabled, supported by the necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of Bucks Cross.  The 
Policy further states that the provision of residential accommodation will include affordable 
homes to meet housing needs in the local community and great weight will be given to 
conserving landscape and scenic beauty in considering proposals for development.  The 
supporting text to Policy BUC notes that the development boundary for Bucks Cross is defined 
on the Policies Maps to the Local Plan outside of which the principle of residential 
development is only supported on an exceptional basis.   
 

1.4 Due to the sites former use it is considered to be a brownfield site. Therefore, Policy ST02 
Mitigating Climate Change provides supported and encourages the redevelopment of 
previously developed land providing where available and if environmental constraints allow. 
Nonetheless, Policy ST02 requires development to be located appropriately in order to 
mitigate and reduce greenhouse gas emissions from locating development in unsustainable 
locations. Therefore, given the isolated open countryside location of the site and the likely 
dependency upon private, unsustainable mode of transport to access services and facilities to 
meet daily needs. The brownfield aspect of the application is considered to bear limited weight 
in supporting the principle of development. This is due to the unsustainable, isolated, open 
countryside location of the site, which is considered to not accord with the primary principle of 
mitigating climate change by Policy ST02 and the above spatial strategy Policies ST07 and 
BUC.  
 

1.5 Furthermore, Paragraph 79 in the NPPF required that decisions should avoid the development 
of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply: 
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a 
farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside; 
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would be 
appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets; 

Page 51



c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its immediate 
setting; 
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; or 
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it: 
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would 
help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and 
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area 

 
1.6 The above exceptions as set out Paragraph 79 are not considered to be applicable in this 

instance. Therefore, the proposed development would result in an isolated dwelling within the 
countryside and thus not in accordance with Paragraph 79 in the NPPF. It is to be noted within 
a letter of support received from an interested third-party, considers the site to be located 
along an isolated country lane which thus reinforces the isolated locality of the site in relation 
to Bucks Cross. 
 

1.7 Notwithstanding the above, as a result of the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), 
the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 years across 
Northern Devon. By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material 
consideration in determining planning applications for housing. 

 
Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 

 
'Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should 
grant planning permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance (National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear 
reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.' 
 

1.8 For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to 
be automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a 
policy of the development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their 
substance and considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted 
relatively recently, none of the policies are generally considered to be out-of-date for the 
application of the Presumption. 
 

1.9 The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this 
proposal does not harm a 'protected area', the decision taker in this case needs to consider 
the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 
11(d)(i), NPPF).  
 

1.10 In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to Policy ST21 of the NDTLP 
which relates to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, Section (2) of Policy ST21 is 
relevant, which supports development outside of settlement limits (where completions are 
below 90% of the annual requirement). The Burwood Appeal Decision determined that Section 
(2) of Policy ST21 is currently engaged, which states that residential development outside of 
defined settlement limits will be supported where they can comply with the following criteria: 

 
'(a) in a location and of a scale and nature commensurate to the deficit in required housing; 

Page 52



(b) be able to demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the deficit 
in housing supply; 
(c) broadly consistent with, not prejudicial to and contributing towards the positive 
achievement of the plan's overall spatial vision and strategy for northern Devon, along with the 
relevant settlement vision and development strategy; and 
(d) in all other respects in accordance with other Local Plan policies, in so far as they apply 
 

1.11 The following considers each of these points in turn in relation to the proposed development: 
 

(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply 
cannot be proven. This proposal is minor in scale with the proposed addition of one 
dwelling, however combined with other development, can assist in the contribution towards 
a 5YHLS. The proposal is located in an isolated location and does not have any other built 
form within the vicinity of the site. The site is located in the open countryside and is 
approximately 1.1Km outside of to the settlement boundary of Bucks Cross with no 
footpath directly linking the settlement to the application site.  The proposal would 
therefore not meet criteria (a). 

 
(b)  The application is made in outline with all matters reserved and therefore is unlikely to 

result in a development which commences in a short period of time to assist in addressing 
the deficit in housing supply, with a further reserved matters application together with the 
discharge of any pre-commencement conditions being required.  

 
(c)  As noted above, the application site is located at some considerable distance to the 

settlement boundary of Bucks Cross with no public footpath linking the two along the A39 
road or the unclassified highway that runs parallel to and is located adjacent to the 
application site.   The nearest bus stop is located at the Atlantic Academy, however, is 
solely operated to facilitate transport for pupils therefore the public bus stop is within Bucks 
Cross itself.  The proposed development would be out of keeping with the provisions of the 
spatial strategy for Bucks Cross which encourages development within the settlement 
boundaries to support the existing community and the supporting text which makes clear 
that residential dwellings outside of the settlement boundaries would only be acceptable in 
exceptional circumstances. It is acknowledged that there are a number of letters in support 
of the application from interested third parties and the Local Ward Councillor which support 
the reuse of a brownfield site in this instance for a residential use. The comments received 
considered the proposed residential use for the site within the proposed location to be 
supportable.  It is further noted within paragraph 1.4 of this report the brownfield aspect of 
this proposal does not constitute as an exceptional circumstance that outweigh the 
principles of the spatial strategy for Bucks Cross. The proposal would therefore not meet 
criteria (c).  

 
The assessment above recognises that the proposed site is not on allocated land and is 
outside of the settlement boundary; therefore the proposal is contrary to this element of the 
spatial strategy, however, Policy ST21 recognises that development can be acceptable 
outside settlement limits in a scenario where a lack of housing supply is present. This 
proposal could assist in supporting local services, however due to the limited facilities 
available within Bucks Cross and the distance of the application site from the settlement 
boundary, with no provision for safe pedestrian access and dependency upon the use of 
private modes of transport, the proposal is not considered to be compliant with the wider 
principles of the local strategy.  There are no allocated sites identified within Bucks Cross 
and only minimal levels of development are sought within the settlement, taking account of 
the minimal levels of services.  The proposed addition of one dwelling would be of a 
reasonable scale when compared with the spatial strategy and size of the existing 
settlement, however the distance from the settlement boundary is a key consideration.  

 
(d) The remaining planning considerations are discussed in the report below.    
 

Page 53



1.12 Given the above, the proposal is not considered to comply with the provisions of Policy ST21 
or the spatial strategy set out in Policy BUC.  Further, the proposal is contrary to Policies 
ST07, ST02 and Paragraph 79 in the NPPF.  
 

1.13 Due to the lack of a five-year housing land supply, the planning considerations will need to be 
weighed up within the planning balance with the NPPF's requirement to grant permission 
unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits as a material consideration. The planning considerations are set out below.  

 
2. Character and Appearance 
 
2.1 Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP all have a strong design focus and establish the need 

for development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting. In addition, 
Policy DM08A requires development to respect landscape character of both designated and 
undesignated landscapes and seascapes.  

 
2.2 The application site is located within landscape character area 5B Coastal Undulating 

Farmland as defined by the Joint Landscape Character Assessment for North Devon and 
Torridge Districts (LCA).  This area is characterised by open, uninterrupted sea views, a 
strong field pattern with crooked hedgerow trees, productive rolling farmland and low levels of 
development.  

 
2.3 No detailed plans have been provided of the proposed dwelling for consideration at this stage, 

although the submitted site plan provides an indicative layout of a dwelling and associated 
amenity and parking spaces.  The indicative site layout, whilst only illustrative at this outline 
stage does demonstrate that a dwelling could occupy the site with the existing hedgerow 
boundaries being retained.  The scale and design of the proposed dwelling as well as its final 
siting would be secured via a subsequent Reserved Matters Application following any grant of 
planning permission.  It is not therefore possible to comment on these details at this outline 
stage. 

 
2.4 Notwithstanding the above a residential use of the site is considered incompatible with the 

size, location and rural characteristics of the immediate surroundings and thus would result in 
an unsympathetic, contrasting and cramped form of development within the rural, open 
countryside surroundings.  It is thus considered that a residential use of the site would result in 
an incompatible form of development that would be out of keeping and in conflict with the 
design and landscaping Policies ST04, DM04 and DM08A. 

 
 
3. Neighbouring Amenities 
 
3.1  Policy DM01 of the Local Plan states that development will be supported where it would not 

significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or the future occupiers of the 
proposed development. 

 
3.2 Due to the isolated setting of the site, with no neighbouring properties within the vicinity. It is 

considered that the proposed development will result in no significant harm in terms of amenity 
consideration and therefore is in accordance with Policy DM01.  

 
 
4. Highways 
 
4.1 Policy DM05 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that all development has safe and well-

designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking and layouts.  Policy DM06 
specifically relates to parking provision noting that development proposals should provide an 
appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet the anticipated needs of the 
development. 

 

Page 54



4.2 The current application is made in outline with all matters reserved and therefore there are no 
details of the proposed access for consideration at this stage.  The indicative site plan 
suggests that the new dwelling could be accessed via the existing agricultural track access 
along with the provision for parking and turning within the site. The County Council's Highways 
Officer has been consulted on the application and no objections have been raised subject to 
reference to standing advice.   

 
4.3 At this outline stage, the proposed development is considered to be in keeping with the 

provisions of Policies DM05 and DM06.  A full assessment of the access and parking 
arrangements would be undertaken at the reserved matters stage. 

 
 
5. Environmental Impact 
 
5.1 Policy DM02 requires that development does not result in unacceptable impacts from 

contaminated land, pollution to water from surface or ground and the atmosphere.   
 
5.2 The submitted application form proposes the use of a soakaway for surface water runoff from 

the site and the illustrative site plan indicates that this could be provided to the southern side 
of the proposed dwelling, beneath its main amenity space. 

 
5.3 An FDA1 form has also been completed by the applicant providing details of the proposed foul 

drainage arrangements and confirms that it is intended to connect the new dwelling to a non-
main foul drainage system utilising a cesspool system. As a part of the application the 
Council’s Environmental Protection Officer was consulted and provided comments with no 
objection to the proposed foul drainage system however, raised concern that the cesspool will 
be partially underneath the driveway which may make it susceptible to damage resulting from 
vehicle movements and consequently, potentially compromise it’s effectiveness. Therefore, 
Building Control were consulted and provided the following comments Install would have to be 
in accordance with manufacturers design details and would normally cover such 
circumstances. BC would check this as well. In light the comments received, the proposed foul 
drainage system installation is considered acceptable and prior to its first use it would have to 
be approved by building regulations.  

 
5.4 Given the former historic use of the land, there is the potential for ground contamination or 

environmental harm from materials within the existing built form on the site; that is potentially 
proposed to be demolished or incorporated within the proposed dwelling. Given the sensitive 
end use, it is essential that the application site is appropriately assessed for any ground 
conditions or hazardous materials within the existing built form that may be harmful to human 
health and, where identified, measures are introduced to ensure the land is suitable for 
habitation. The matter of potential environmental harm can be considered, and appropriate 
assessment and any necessary mitigation can be secured within the reserve matters 
application stage. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would be in 
accordance with Policy DM02.  

 
 
6. Ecology 
 
6.1 Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on 

wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 
2010).  This is further reinforced within the North Devon and Torridge District Local Plan 
through Policy DM08 which requires new development to 'avoid adverse impacts on existing 
ecology features as a first principle and enable net gains by designing in biodiversity features'.  

 
6.2 A completed Wildlife Trigger List and addendum to the ecology report provided by Tarka 

Ecology from 2014 has been submitted in support of the application which concludes that no 

Page 55



effect on protected species as a result of this scheme. However, informative 1 informs the 
application should bats be discovered during the construction works then they should stop and 
contact the National Bat Helpline or Natural England. 
  

6.3 No details have been provided at this outline stage of proposed biodiversity enhancement 
measures as part of the proposed development.  Given the outline nature of the application, it 
is considered reasonable that this could be assessed as part of any formal reserved matters 
application or could be addressed via a condition attached to any forthcoming outline planning 
permission. It is thereby considered that the local planning authority has satisfied its statutory 
duty. 

 
 
7. Planning Balance 
 
7.1 As discussed above, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a five-year 

supply of housing land to meet the identified need within the district.  It is therefore necessary 
to consider whether the adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits (the tilted balance). 

 
7.2 In terms of benefits, the proposed development would make a modest contribution of 1 

additional dwelling towards local housing supply on a disused and redundant brownfield site 
within the open countryside. 

 
7.3 Notwithstanding the potential benefits of the proposal, the proposal is on a site which is 

significantly removed from the development boundary of Bucks Cross with minimal facilities 
and services; there would therefore be significant adverse impacts in terms of sustainability for 
the addition of a new dwelling in this location, with a heavy reliance on the private car to 
access all services and facilities.  The application site would not have a public footpath linking 
the site along the A39 road or the unclassified highway that runs parallel to and is located 
adjacent to the application site.   The nearest bus stop is located at the Atlantic Academy, 
however, is solely operated to facilitate transport for pupils therefore the public bus stop is 
within Bucks Cross itself.  

  
7.4 Furthermore, residential use of the site is considered incompatible with the size, location and 

rural characteristics of the immediate surroundings in which the site is set within an isolated, 
quaint country lane. Therefore, the residential use and development of the site would result in 
an unsympathetic, contrasting and cramp form development within the rural, open countryside 
setting.   

 
7.5 The proposed development is therefore not considered to be in keeping with the three strands 

of the presumption in favour of sustainable development in respect of economic, social and 
environmental aspects.  

 
7.5 Notwithstanding this, the proposed development is not considered to result in an adverse 

impact to neighbouring amenities, highways, environmental impact and ecology.  
 
7.6 The proposed development would result in harm associated with the conflict with Policies 

ST02, ST07 and BUC and the fact that future residents will have a reliance on private vehicles 
to access all services and facilities needed on a day-to-day basis; this harm should be 
afforded significant weight. As identified above, the proposed development would be contrary 
to the various criteria set out in Policy ST21. 

 
7.7 As demonstrated above, the adverse impacts associated with the development are considered 

to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, with the result that when assessed 
against the policies in the NDTLP and the NPPF as a whole and having considered all the 
planning issues, on balance, a recommendation for refusal is made. 

 
 

Page 56



8. Conclusion 
 
8.1 The proposed development is considered to be contrary to the provisions of Policies ST07 and 

BUC of the Local Plan, notwithstanding the Council's current lack of 5-year housing land 
supply and the provisions of Policy ST21.  The brownfield aspect of the application is 
considered to bear limited weight in supporting the principle of development in this instance 
due to the unsustainable, isolated, open countryside location of the site, which is considered to 
not accord with the primary principles of mitigating climate change by Policy ST02 which 
reinforces the above spatial strategy of Policies ST07. The proposed development is therefore 
considered to result in an unsustainable form of development, that would result in an isolated 
dwelling within the open countryside which is contrary to the provisions of Paragraph 79 in the 
NPPF and Policies in the NDTLP.   

 
8.2 In addition, it is considered that a residential use of the site would result in an incompatible 

form of development that would be unsympathetic, and out of keeping within the rural, open 
countryside character and setting and thus conflicts with the design and landscaping Policies 
ST04, DM04 and DM08A. 

 
8.3 Taking account all of the above and in consideration of the tilted balance, it is concluded that 

the adverse impacts associated with granting planning permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission 
be refused. 

 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
REFUSE for the following reasons:  
 
1 The proposed development is considered, due to its nature and siting, to result in an 

unsustainable form of development set at a distance to the settlement of Bucks Cross.  The 
proposed development is therefore considered to be out of keeping with the provisions of 
Policies ST02, ST07, ST21 and BUC of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2018) and 
national policy guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular the 
provisions of paragraphs 11(d) and 79. 

 
 2    The proposed development is considered incompatible with the size, location and rural 

characteristics of the immediate surroundings of the site that thus, would result in an 
unsympathetic, contrasting and cramp form of development within the rural, open countryside 
surroundings.  It is therefore, considered that a residential use of the site would result in an 
incompatible form of development that would conflict with the design and landscaping policies 
ST04, DM04 and DM08A of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2018). 

 
 
 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

SE 20 01 2 16.11.2020 
  

 
 
 

Page 57



 
Statement of Engagement 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an 
application which is likely to be considered favourably.  Nonetheless, as the application seeks outline 
planning permission the principle of development has been accepted by both parties as the primary 
reason for the Council not supporting the application in this instance. The Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking to discuss the concerns with the planning application and 
therefore, in this instance the applicant accepts the Council’s current position.  
            
 

Page 58



 
Committee Report – 3rd December 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0790/2020/LA 

Registration date: 15 September 2020 

Expiry date:  10 November 2020 

Applicant:  Torridge District Council  

Agent:  David Wilson Partnership 

Case Officer:  Tracey Blackmore 

Site Address:  The Burrows Centre,  
Sandymere Road,  
Northam, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 1XS 

Proposal:  Refurbishment and alterations to existing building 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8c



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
This application is called before Plans Committee due to the land being within the ownership of 
Torridge District Council. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

     

1/0791/2020/LA Cafe and toilet block with 
outdoor seating and 
associated pathways 

PCO  

    

1/0444/2018/LA Demolition of existing visitor 
centre (except wc's) and 
erection of new 2 storey 
visitors centre, associated 
office accommodation and 
cafe facility. 

PER 03.08.2018 

   

1/1131/2019/LA Variation of Condition 2 
(Approved Plans) of planning 
permission 1/0444/2018/LA
  

PER 07.02.2020 

     

1/0791/2020/LA Cafe and toilet block with 
outdoor seating and 
associated pathways 

PCO  

   

1/1149/1978 VISITORS CENTRE WITH 
PUBLIC LAVATORIES, 
SANDYMERE, NORTHAM 
BURROWS 

PER 08.11.1978 

   

1/1455/1985 PROPOSED ERECTION OF 
GENERATOR HOUSE, 
NORTHAM BURROWS 
VISITOR CENTRE, 
NORTHAM 

PER 03.03.1986 

     

1/0444/2018/LA Demolition of existing visitor 
centre (except wc's) and 
erection of new 2 storey 
visitors centre, associated 
office accommodation and 
cafe facility. 

PER 03.08.2018 

   

1/1131/2019/LA Variation of Condition 2 
(Approved Plans) of planning 
permission 1/0444/2018/LA
  

PER 07.02.2020 

     

1/0791/2020/LA Cafe and toilet block with 
outdoor seating and 
associated pathways 

PCO  

   

DEM/0004/2020 Partial demolition (wcs to 
remain) 

CLOSED 19.10.2020 

 

 
Site Description & Proposal 

Page 60



Site Description: 
 
The application site consists of an existing visitor centre built in 1985 along with a substantially sized 
car park located adjacent a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and within the North Devon Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  
 
The building which is located within the Northam Burrows Country Park is situated in close proximity 
to the beach, pebble ridge and dunes to the west, and the Royal North Devon golf course to the east. 
 
Inside the existing building is an open plan area comprising of exhibition space, shop and 
interpretation space.  There is also a section containing the office space, storage and staff 
toilets/kitchenette.  The final section of the building houses public toilets. Externally, there is an 
enclosed storage area which can house vehicles and materials.  
 
The building is of timber clad finish on a single block construction, under a slate roof and has not had 
any major refurbishment since its construction in 1985 
 
The visitors centre is open to the public from late May to early September but is staff year around by a 
park ranger and assistant ranger. 
 
Proposed Development:  
 
This application is seeking full planning permission for the refurbishment and alterations to the 
existing exterior and interior of the visitor centre building. 
 
The proposed external works include: 
 

 The existing timber cladding is to be removed to allow for additional external installation and 
replaced with vertical natural timber cladding. 

 The existing roof slates will be removed (as unable to be reused) and a non-reflective, dark 
grey, metal coasted sheet roofing is to be installed. This will provide a more robust roof 
material against the prevailing element.  

 Four rooflights are to be installed to the roof with integral blinds to limit the light spillage.  The 
rooflights will provide natural lighting and cross ventilation to the exhibition space. 

 The existing shuttered timber windows are to be replaced with dark grey aluminium. Externally 
fitted roller blind shutters are to be installed to all windows to provide security out of hours and 
during out of season periods. 

 Rainwater good and down pipes in dark grey PVC are to be installed to match the roof colour.  
 
 

The proposal is to provide enhanced interpretation and educational facilities to promote the Northern 
Burrow Country Park and the wider North Devon Biosphere Reserve and to improve the toilet and 
office facilities.    
 
An extant planning permission (1/1131/2019/LA) was granted in 2019 consisting of a two-storey, 
building that would replace the existing building.  Due to a number of circumstances, including the 
lock down in March, this extant permission cannot be achieved in the timescale of the funding 
deadline, which is due to expire on the 31st March 2021.  This current application is for a more modest 
development, to refurbish the existing building.   
 
There is a second planning application (1/0791/2020/LA) to provide additional facilities via a new 
single storey, cafe and toilet block with outdoor seating and associated pathways to the visitor centre, 
which is also before Members.  
 
 
 
 

Page 61



Consultee representations: 
 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
Recommend approval. 
 
Natural England:  
1st Response – 6th October 2020 
 
Designated Sites – OBJECTION 
 
As submitted we consider it is likely to damage or destroy the interest features for which Northam 
Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified. 
 
We recognise that there is an extant permission for the development of this site ref: 1/0444/2018/LA 
for which Natural England provided advice (20th June 2018 ref: 248074). We also wrote to the 
Council (5th September 2018 ref: 255649) expressing concern that Natural England’s advice had 
been left to conditions. 
 
Designated sites are material planning considerations. A proposal within or close to a SSSI needs to 
be consistent with maintaining and enhancing the special interest of the protected site. It must be 
demonstrated that harm will not accrue and that the development will not have an adverse impact on 
the interest features of the site or be contrary to local and national policy. 
Policy ST14 of the joint Torridge and North Devon Local Plan requires that the quality of northern 
Devon’s natural environment will be protected and enhanced, which includes SSSIs. 
 
Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) - Objection 
This SSSI is notified for its geology, sand dune and dune slack habitats, wet grassland and rare 
plants. 
 
Further information about the notified special interest of SSSIs can be found at www.magic.gov.uk 
Natural England objects to these planning proposals. As submitted, we consider they are likely to 
damage or destroy the interest features for which Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest 
has been notified. 
 
We have reached this view for the following reasons: 
 

 Little consideration has been afforded to the location of the development within an SSSI, its 
special interest, the potential impacts and any mitigation necessary. 

 The proposal to raise, re-profile and timber edge the access road is likely to result in a direct 
loss of the grassland habitat for which the site is notified as a SSSI. Such a ‘fixed’ structure 
may also inhibit the natural roll back of the pebble ridge. 

 The potential for negative impacts on the SSSI from the construction of a new cesspit adjacent 
to the SSSI. The application includes a lot of contradiction about what is proposed and what is 
possible. e.g. there is a septic tank and drainage field on one of the plans but the foul drainage 
(54000 litre capacity) will replace the current system or is an additional requirement. 

 
The ecological report does not make any recommendations for mitigation but merely suggests 
consultation with Natural England is required. There may be scope for amendments to the location 
and/or design of the proposal or consideration of mitigation that could avoid or mitigate the 
environmental harm described above and allow Natural England to withdraw our objection. 
 
In the context of the Taw Torridge Estuary Coastal Change Management Area pilot, only appropriate 
developments should be approved when considering new structures on dynamic areas of coast. 
Northam Burrows is highly dynamic and the agreed policy for management of the pebble ridge is to 
allow it to roll back naturally through managed realignment. As such, there would be no guarantee 
that a new fixed road structure would be defended in situ in perpetuity. Plans for accessing the new 

Page 62



visitor centre need to show that the expected coastal changes at the site have been taken into 
consideration. 
 
The new visitor centre and café is likely to promote increased access to the beach over the pebble 
ridge at this end of the beach. We are in discussions with Torridge District Council (Adrian Redwood 
TDC Estates Manager) about replacing the existing access at Sandymere as the current structure is 
hindering pebble movement along the ridge. Our advice is that consideration must be given to how 
access between the beach and the visitor centre will be managed sustainably. A visitor access 
management plan should form part of the submission. 
 
These considerations are necessary so that the LPA is able to make a fully informed decision in line 
with their NERC section 40 duty to have regard to conserving biodiversity as part of your decision 
making and the need to take reasonable steps to conserve and enhance the special features of sites 
of special scientific interest. 
 
The Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI - further consideration required 
The development site is within 1km of the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI which is notified for its 
overwintering bird interest and intertidal habitats. Overwintering birds associated with the Taw 
Torridge Estuary SSSI use the Northam Burrows SSSI as foraging and resting habitat. 
 
It is known that noise and lighting can lead to both the displacement and disturbance of some wildlife. 
The main concerns are to ensure that noise and light disturbance from any source is considered and 
that design measures to avoid and mitigate disturbance are incorporated into the proposal. 
 
However, more widely, Natural England’s advice is that the development has the potential to affect 
the SSSI by virtue of the associated increase in recreational activity on Northam Burrows Country 
Park and the SSSI contributing to disturbance and displacement effects on the overwintering water 
birds on the estuary. 
 
The data gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide Roost and Recreational Impacts 
study2, of which your Authority is a partner, provides the evidence of recreational impacts on 
important high tide roosts and on birds feeding through all states of the tide. 
 
Plans for the visitor centre state that the proposals aim to increase the number of visitors to Northam 
Burrows. Consideration must be given to how the impact of increased visitor numbers throughout the 
year will be managed to mitigate any adverse impacts on the areas used by the SSSI overwintering 
birds. This could also be included in the visitor access management plan. 
 
Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission contrary to the advice in this 
letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
to notify Natural England of the permission, the terms on which it is proposed to grant it and how, if at 
all, your authority has taken account of Natural England’s advice. You must also allow a further period 
of 21 days before the operation can commence. 
 
2nd Response – 13th November 2020 
 
Further to Natural England’s objection of 6th October 2020 (ref: 328208 & 328059) regarding the 
above proposals, we have received further information from Torridge District Council in the form of a 
visitor access management plan; a construction management plan scoping document; updated foul 
drainage strategies and confirmation that the hard surfaced disabled parking and turning area 
includes a hydrocarbon barrier mat.  We also recommended including an ecological watching brief 
and are satisfied that Michael Day can fulfil this role (pers comms 13-11-20). 
 
Based on this information we have the following comment. 
 
Designated sites – Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Designated sites are material planning considerations.  A proposal within or close to a SSSI needs to 
be consistent with maintaining and enhancing the special interest of the protected site.   

Page 63



 
Subject to these documents being made a condition of any permission, it is Natural England’s view 
that the development is unlikely to damage or destroy the interest features for which the SSSI has 
been notified.  We can therefore withdraw our objection. 
 
Given the location of the proposal site in relation to the SSSI and the associated potential for damage 
as a result of storage or disposal of materials within the SSSI, should the Council be minded to grant 
permission, we advise that the following informative is also appended to any consent:   
 
• The applicant is advised that should storage, access or encroachment within the Northam 
Burrows SSSI be found to occur outside of the exclusion zone or footprint of the access road as a 
result of the proposals during or after the works, this will be considered an offence under Section 28 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) whereby the applicant may be liable on 
summary conviction to a maximum fine of £20,000 or on conviction on indictment to an unlimited fine. 
 
All contractors working on site should be made aware of the informative and should be provided with 
a map that clearly shows the boundaries of the development site and the Northam Burrows SSSI. 
 
If permission is granted, we would wish to be consulted again on the detail of the construction 
management plan. 
 
AONB Team:  
Overall, we welcome the proposed changes to the Visitor Centre, represented by these two 
applications. In their delivery they will offer a facility that is furthering public enjoyment and 
understanding of the AONB and as a result it will fulfil a number of AONB Management Plan 
objectives, without great detrimental impact on the designated landscape. 
 
With regards to the refurbishment of the building, we do not believe that there are any specific 
landscape issues associated with these proposals. We are satisfied with the proposed external 
cladding and do not believe there are any landscape issues with regard to the replacement of the 
existing roof. We note that there are a few new external openings and in the roof and building, whilst 
this is not a problem during the day, at night there is the potential effect of light spill from the building 
into the surrounding AONB. Currently, at night Northam Burrows represents one of the largest unlit 
areas within the Torridge part of the AONB, therefore, this is a potential issue and whilst we note that 
there are proposals to provide blinds for the windows and roof lights and you may consider it 
expedient to make this a condition of planning.  
 
It is evident that the addition of a café, will increase the overall footfall of the Centre and will make it 
more visible within the landscape, particularly when viewed from elevated land (for example Kipling 
Tors).  However, as the proposal is for a single storey building, that will be partially screened by the 
topography/sand dunes it would appear to have a low profile and we do not believe there are any 
major impact upon the landscape.  Indeed, the previously consented scheme was for a much larger 
building and the current proposals have certainly reduced the potential mass and height of the new 
development on the surrounding area and this is clearly borne out by the accompanying LVIA. 
 
However, we note that there are high levels of grazing in the proposed café building, which it has the 
potential to be reflective during the day and be a source of light pollution at night.  This could have a 
detrimental effect on the peace and tranquillity of the Burrows and therefore, we would seek 
assurances that the applicants are using non-reflective glass and/or are utilising another method to 
minimise sun glare during the day and again you may wish to make this a condition of planning 
permission.  In addition, we would recommend that the café building is not used during the hours of 
darkness (or at the very least between 10pm and 6pm) in order to preserve the dark night skies at this 
location. Likewise, we believe that there should be no external lighting associated with the building. 
 
Finally, we note that the plans currently provide for a single accessible parking bay adjacent to the 
buildings, whereas, we are aware that currently the Wardens park their vehicles adjacent to the visitor 
centre.  In order to minimise the overall footfall of the proposed development, we would recommend 

Page 64



that other than for deliveries, all parking, with the exception of the accessible parking bay, is 
confirmed to the edge of Sandymere.  
 
In conclusion therefore, the AONB partnership welcomes the proposed changes to the Visitor Centre 
at Northam Burrows, which we believe will enhance visitor experience and understanding of the 
designated AONB.  The proposed building will have far less impact, in terms of height and mass, on 
the surrounding landscape, than the previously consented structure.  The concept of using a modular 
design for the café, that could easily be moved and refurbishment of the existing centre, would appear 
to be a much more sustainable way forward, especially given the potential vulnerability of this part of 
the coast to sea level rise. 
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
There are no objections in principle to the proposal. As with the previous application for a new 
building, 0444/2018, the proposed refurbishment should be seen as an opportunity to improve and 
upgrade safety and security measures throughout the existing and proposed buildings and wider site 
in general. 
 
Whilst the Visitor Centre will potentially benefit from higher levels of natural surveillance from 
increased footfall and staffing numbers, this obviously will not be the case outside of opening hours. 
Therefore, a sensible and practical level of security, which will not adversely affect the efficient 
running of the centre, is essential to help create a successful and sustainable visitor experience. 
 
Doors to private areas such as staff offices, safe, stock and plant rooms should have a form of access 
control. 
External doors and windows are recommended to be independently security tested and certificated 
products to an appropriate nationally recognised standard such as PAS24:2012 / 2016 or similar. 
All ground floor and easily accessible glazing must incorporate glass successfully tested to BS EN 
356:2000Glass in building. Security glazing–resistance to manual attack to category P1A. 
Roof lights should also be independently security tested to an appropriate standard such as LPS 1175 
or STS 202. 
The proposed shutters must be certified to at least LPS1175 or STS202 to provide additional 
protection to both doors and windows. 
The provision and use of CCTV should be considered as it fits well within the overall framework of a 
security management plan. However, it should not be relied upon as a panacea to all criminal and 
anti-social behaviour. 
Any proposed lighting scheme should be co-ordinated with any CCTV installation. 
It is my understanding that the building itself will also be fitted with a monitored intruder alarm. 
I note the intention to used pressure impregnated timber cladding to reduce combustibility. 
Consideration should also be given to the shell of the building being treated with an anti-graffiti finish. 
I am assuming that any storage of equipment, tools and fuel will remain in secure containers within 
the rear compound? 
The vehicular access (4) for staff, deliveries and accessible parking (5) should include a lockable 
barrier or gate to prevent unwanted access out of hours. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
No comments. 
The burrows road is not public highway, there is an existing facility, and therefore no impact for the 
Highway Authority to consider. 
 
The Environment Agency:  
This proposal would fall under classification as minor non-residential extensions / alterations in Flood 
Zone 1.  Therefore, the Environment Agency provide no comments.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections.  
  
 

Page 65



Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  1 
Number of representations received:  1 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
There has been 1 letter of support received raising the following points: 
 
I write on behalf of the South West Coast Path Association.  The South West Coast Path is 
designated as a National Trail in accordance with Section 52 of the National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act 1949.  Northam Burrow is an important part of this route, connecting the nearby 
settlements of Appledore and Westward Ho! 
 
The proposals set out within this application will improve the experience of visitors to the centre and in 
doing will also be of benefit to walkers of the South West Coast Path (SWCP). 
 
- The proposals will not impact on the physical integrity of the SWCP. 
- The proposals will not adversely impact on the environmental quality of the SWCP or views from the      
path. 
- The proposals will not result in a greater volume of wheeled traffic and could instead enhance 
pedestrian use of the SWCP in its vicinity. 
- The proposals could result in an improvement to the quality of the surrounding of the SWCP and the 
experience of walkers on the National Trail. 
 
Policy Context: 
 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 (Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST09 (Coast and Estuary Strategy); 
ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental 
Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); 
DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM17 (Tourism and Leisure Attractions);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The main considerations for this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Landscape Character and Visual Impact 
4. Drainage and Flood Risk 
5. Highway Safety 
6. Ecology 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



1. The Principle of Development: 
 
 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 states that key consideration in the 
determination of a planning application is the development plan.  Applications should be determined 
in accordance with the development plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  
For the purpose of the development plan the statutory development plan is comprised of the North 
Devon & Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2018) (NDTLP).  The NPPF must be taken into 
account and is a material planning considered in planning decisions. 
 
Northern Devon's unspoilt coastline is a popular tourist attraction that contributes significantly to the 
area's environmental quality and identity. This nationally important landscape is partly designated as 
North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). Much of the coastline, including 
Lundy Island and surrounding coastal waters, is also designated as Special Areas of Conservation 
and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Policy ST14 of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan 
(NDTLP) states that the distinctive environment and cultural heritage of the coastal zone, including 
seascapes, will be protected and enhanced. 
 
Within the adopted NDTLP, the application site is located within the North Devon Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB), Biosphere Transition Zone, Coastal & Estuary Zone, and open Countryside. 
 
As the site is located within the Countryside, Policy ST07(4) of the NDTLP states that 'in the 
countryside, beyond local centres, villages and rural settlements, development will be limited to that 
which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building re-use and development 
which is necessarily restricted to a countryside location. 
 
The undeveloped parts of this coastal zone are a finite resource and their unspoilt character, 
appearance and tranquillity will be protected against inappropriate development not related to the 
coast or not providing benefits for the local community. 
 
Northern Devon's high-quality environment includes sites of international importance, such as the 
UNESCO Biosphere Reserve and other Special Areas of Conservation, as well as numerous 
environmental assets important at national, regional and local levels. It is important that the quality 
and diversity of these natural biodiversity, landscape, marine and estuarine environmental assets, 
their local distinctiveness and their contribution to this world class environment are recognised, 
conserved and enhanced. A large part of the River Torridge's catchment area is identified as a Nature 
Improvement Area to restore it towards an integrated network of wildlife-rich habitats. 
 
Policy ST09(7) states that development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary will be supported 
where it does not detract from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the 
undeveloped character of the Heritage Coasts, and it is required because it cannot reasonably be 
located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary. 
 
Policy DM17 (2) (Tourism and Leisure Attractions) states that the development of new and the 
expansion or rationalisation of existing tourism, visitor or leisure facilities will be supported where (a) 
the location is necessary; (b) existing buildings are reused or converted wherever feasible; (c) the 
local road network can accommodate the type and scale of traffic to be generated and maintain the 
safety or public highway users; (d) it is designated to protect and enhance the key characteristics of 
the relevant landscapes character types; and ( e) environmental and heritage assets are not subject 
to significant harm, and are conserved or enhanced, with particular respect to the setting and special 
qualities of nationally important landscapes, biodiversity and heritage designations.  
 
The NDTLP advises that where possible, new and extended tourism and leisure attractions should 
deliver opportunities to enhance educational and appreciation of northern Devon’s environment and 
heritage for all sections of the community, including tourist and visitors. 
 
The existing building is around 40 years old and the proposed refurbishment of the existing building 
will result in improved facilities at the visitor centre, which in turn will provide an enhanced 

Page 67



interpretation and education facility furthering public enjoyment and understanding of the North Devon 
Biosphere Reserve and the AONB.   
 
 The refurbished building will also provide a more energy efficient building and significantly enhance 
and improve the visual appearance of the visitors centre building. 
 
The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development. This is echoed in Policy ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development) in 
the NDTLP.  Taking the three overarching objectives in turn, there would be social gains in the 
provision of a modern interactive refurbished visitors centre for use for all sections of the local and 
wider community.  The proposal would make an economic gain in the creation of new jobs generated 
during construction and a more long-term gain in supporting northern Devon’s tourism industry.  
There would also be further environmental gains, with the refurbished building being more energy 
efficient to reduce energy consumption and finally, this modest development to refurbish the existing 
building will have a lesser impact on the surrounding sensitive landscape. 
 
Considering the above, the proposal for the refurbishments and alteration to existing visitors centre 
building, would be acceptable, in principle, under these policies, if it complies with all other material 
planning considerations. 
 
 
2. Design, Visual Impact and Landscape Character 
 
Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP all have a strong design focus and establish the need for 
development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting 
 
Policy ST14 gives overarching guidance to development within SSSI's and AONB's to ensure that the 
quality of northern Devon's natural environment will be protected and enhanced. 
 
Policy DM04 of the NDTLP notes that good design seeks to guide overall scale, and appearance of 
new development. Policies ST09 and DM08A relate to design and landscape and indicate that with 
sites situated within the AONB and the Undeveloped Coast, great weight should be given to 
conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of the area. 
 
The NPPF also attaches great importance to the enhancement and conservation of the landscape 
with Paragraph 172 outlining that AONB's have the highest status of protection in relation to these 
issues. 
 
The existing visitor centre building at the site is around 40 years old and the refurbishment of this 
existing building will, significantly improve and enhance the visual appearance of the locality. 
 
The external works include the existing timber to be removed to allow for additional external insulation 
and replaced with vertical natural timber cladding.  The existing slate is to be removed and a non-
reflective, dark grey, coated metal sheet roofing is to be installed.  Four rooflights with integral blinds 
are to be installed to the roof to provide for natural lighting and cross ventilation to the exhibition 
space.  
 
The use of the vertical natural timber cladding is an acceptable design solution in this locality and the 
use of timer provides a softening and is environmental appropriate to the design ethos of the visitor 
centre.  The proposal roof is to be non-reflective and therefore will not have an adverse effect on the 
special qualities of the surrounding sensitive landscape.  
 
The refurbished building will have a slightly smaller floor area than the existing, as the south west 
entrance lobby is to be removed, with the proposed new entrance being within the courtyard area to 
improve shelter from the prevailing south westerly winds.  
 
The AONB partnership have been consulted as part of this application and commented as follows 
 

Page 68



“with regards to the refurbishment of the building, we do not believe that there are any specific 
landscape issues associated with these proposals. We are satisfied with the proposed external 
cladding and do not believe there are any landscape issues with regard to the replacement of the 
existing roof. We note that there are a few new external openings and, in the roof, and building, whilst 
this is not a problem during the day, at night there is the potential effect of light spill from the building 
into the surrounding AONB. Currently, at night Northam Burrows represents one of the largest unlit 
areas within the Torridge part of the AONB, therefore, this is a potential issue and whilst we note that 
there are proposals to provide blinds for the windows and roof lights and you may consider it 
expedient to make this a condition of planning”.  
 
A condition has been attached to this recommendation to ensure detailed specifications of the roof 
lights and associated blinds, are submitted and agreed, to prevent light pollution to the dark skies and 
to preserve the character of the surrounding AONB. 
 
A number of more detailed design recommendations have been made by the Designing Out Crime 
Officer and the agent has advised these will be further considered in the design details.  
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy ST04, ST09, 
ST14, DM04 and DM08A of the NDTLP and the NPPF.  
 
3. Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
Policy DM02 of the NDTLP requires that development must not result in unacceptable impacts in 
relation to pollution of surface or ground water, whilst Policy DM04 of the NDTLP established that 
water management must be addressed by development. 
 
Policy ST03 of the NDTLP requires that development should be designed and constructed to take 
account of the impacts of climate change and minimise risk to and vulnerability of people, land, 
infrastructure and property by locating and designing development to minimise flood risk through 
avoiding development of land for vulnerable use which is or will be at risk from flooding.  
 
A Foul Water drainage strategy has been submitted in support of this application.  This states the 
existing foul water drainage discharges to a cesspool, which is maintained by Torridge District 
Councils in-house maintenance team.  The drainage strategy has provided an assessment of the 
other foul water drainage options.  This confirms that the near public sewer is more than 1.25 km from 
the site and therefore not economic or practical to discharge foul drainage to the public sewer.  A 
Septic tank and Package Treatment Plant would not be suitable as it needs to discharge to a drainage 
field. The ground investigation report states the on-site infiltration rates do not meet the minimum 
standards for a drainage field to effectively treat and allow the effluent water to soakaway. Therefore, 
it is proposed to still utilise the existing cesspool and the maintenance of the cesspool will be 
managed by in-house staff as the existing arrangements.  
 
It is proposed that the surface water management would be discharge by existing soakaways, on site. 
The proposed development will not increase the impermeable area of the site, therefore, no increase 
in the volume of surface run-off water.    
 
The Council’s Environment Protection Officer has been consulted and has no objections.  
 
The Environmental Agency (EA) flood maps show the site is to be in Flood Zone 1 and the does not 
lie within the functional floodplain.  However, the site is vulnerable to geomorphic changes that could 
increase future flood risk.  Therefore, a Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted in support of this 
application.  This concludes that there are flood alleviation measures already in place by a pebble 
ridge to the west of the site, this is replenished on a regular basis.   
 
The Environment Agency have been formally consulted on this application and has no comments to 
make on this proposal. 
 

Page 69



Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy ST03, DM02 and 
DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
4. Highways 
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP requires development to have safe and well-designed vehicular access 
and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highway 
users including cyclists and pedestrians, and that all development shall protect and enhance existing 
public rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or 
provide new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy DM06 states that proposals 
will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet anticipated 
needs. 
 
Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires specific applications for development to ensure that safe and 
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 advises that development 
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
The application proposes no changes to current vehicular access arrangements at the site.  
 
The submitted Transport Statement advises there are regular bus services from Bideford and 
Barnstaple that run close to the entrance of the County Park.  The site is accessible by cycle from all 
3 entrances and the site is well served by formal and informal footpaths and is close to the route of 
the South West Coast Path.  
 
It is considered that there is sufficient parking provision within the County Park, the closest being 140 
metres from the refurbished visitor centre.  
 
The Local Highway Authority has been consulted and have no comments to make.  
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy DM05 and DM06 
of the NDTLP as well as the NPPF. 
 
 
5. Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). Policy DM08 of 
the NDTLP concerns biodiversity and requires development to conserve, protect and, where possible, 
enhance biodiversity and geodiversity interests and soils commensurate with their status and giving 
appropriate weight to their importance. 
 
Following the initial objection from Natural England, further detailed information was submitted in the 
form of a visitor access management plan; a construction management plan scoping document; 
including a proposed ecological watching brief.  
 
Subject to these documents being made a condition of any permission, it is Natural England’s view 
that the development is unlikely to damage or destroy the interest features for which the SSSI has 
been notified.   
 
These documents have been conditioned, in consultation with Natural England, as part of this 
recommendation.  
 
The application is accompanied by an Ecology Report dated the 2nd September 2020. 
 

Page 70



The report confirms there were no bats nor any evidence of bats within the various roof spaces and 
the potential for bats to roost on the exterior was negligible.  In respect to Nesting Birds, Swallows 
have nested in previous years on the exterior of the centre, but there was no active or recent nest 
present at the time of survey.   
 
In terms of ecological enhancements, the report recommends the bird boxes can be re-positioned on 
the exterior of the building.  The applicant has confirmed the bird boxes are to be reinstated on the 
refurbished building (some with webcams) as the Lead Ranger of the Country Plan, utilises these as 
part of his nature talks. 
 
Subject to these enhancements, the proposed development is considered to be in keeping with the 
provisions of Policy DM08.  A condition could be included as part of any permission granted to ensure 
that the development is undertaken in accordance with the recommendations and mitigation 
measures in the submitted Ecological Appraisal. 
 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 
Recommendation 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations and ecological enhancements outlined in Ecological Report prepared by 
Obis Ecology dated the 2nd September 2020. 

                       
           Reason: In order to provide a net gain in biodiversity in accordance with Policies ST14 and 

DM08 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031. 
 
4  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the aims and 

objectives of the Northam Burrows Country Park Visitors Access Management Plan. 
 

Reason: To ensure access between the beach and the visitors centre will be managed 
sustainably. 

 
5 Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Local Planning Authority, in consultation 

with Natural England, shall have received and approved a Construction Management Plan 

Page 71



(CMP) this plan should be based on the agreed Construction Management Plan (scope of 
requirements) dated November 2020. The CMP should include the following: 

 
(a) details of an ecological watching brief.   
(b) the timetable of the works; 
(c) daily hours of construction; 
(d) any road closure; 
(e) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with 
such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays 
inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on 
Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(f) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 
(g) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 
(h) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 
(i) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(j) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
(k) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 
construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
(l) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(m) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(n) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(o) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 
of any work; 

 (p) How the Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) designation is to be protected from 
damage during the construction phase of the development.  

 
Reason: To provide safe traffic movements and protect all highway users and to take account 
of construction impacts within/affecting the SSSI 
 

6 Prior to the development commencing, detailed specifications and plans of the roof lights and 
associated blinds to be installed to the roof of the visitors centre hereby permitted, including 
details of how the blinds would be operated, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The roof lights and associated blinds shall be installed and 
operated in accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
refurbished visitors centre and shall remain in perpetuity.   

 
Reason: To prevent light pollution to the dark skies and to preserve the character of the 
surrounding AONB. 

 
7 No external lighting shall be installed on site unless details of such lighting, including the 

intensity of illumination and predicted lighting contours, have been first submitted to and 
approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  Any external lighting shall accord with 
the details so approved. 

 
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the designated AONB and to prevent light 
pollution to the dark skies and to preserve the character of the surrounding AONB. 

 
 
Plans Schedule 
 

Page 72



 Reference Received 
                 

  1434 01 00 PL2     09.09.2020 
  1434 01 02 PL4     09.09.2020 
  1434 01 04 PL4     09.09.2020 
  1434 01 06 PL2     09.09.2020 
  1434 01 07 PL4     09.09.2020 
  
  

 
Informatives 

  
01. The applicant is advised that should storage, access or encroachment within the Northam 

Burrows SSSI be found to occur outside of the exclusion zone or footprint of the access road 
as a result of the proposals during or after the works, this will be considered an offence under 
Section 28 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) whereby the applicant may 
be liable on summary conviction to a maximum fine of £20,000 or on conviction on indictment 
to an unlimited fine. 

 
Statement of Engagement 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
  
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
  
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 

Page 73



 
Committee Report – 3rd December 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0791/2020/LA 

Registration date: 17 September 2020 

Expiry date:  12 November 2020 

Applicant:  Torridge District Council  

Agent:  David Wilson Partnership 

Case Officer:  Tracey Blackmore 

Site Address:  The Burrows Centre,  
Sandymere Road,  
Northam, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 1XS 

Proposal:  Cafe and toilet block with outdoor seating and 
associated pathways 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 8d



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
This application is called before Plans Committee due to the land being within the ownership of 
Torridge District Council. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

    

1/0444/2018/LA Demolition of existing visitor 
centre (except wc's) and 
erection of new 2 storey 
visitors centre, associated 
office accommodation and 
cafe facility. 

PER 03.08.2018 

   

1/1131/2019/LA Variation of Condition 2 
(Approved Plans) of planning 
permission 1/0444/2018/LA
  

PER 07.02.2020 

   

1/0790/2020/LA Refurbishment and 
alterations to existing building 

PDE  

     

1/0790/2020/LA Refurbishment and 
alterations to existing building 

PDE  

     

1/1149/1978 VISITORS CENTRE WITH 
PUBLIC LAVATORIES, 
SANDYMERE, NORTHAM 
BURROWS 

PER 08.11.1978 

   

1/1455/1985 PROPOSED ERECTION OF 
GENERATOR HOUSE, 
NORTHAM BURROWS 
VISITOR CENTRE, 
NORTHAM 

PER 03.03.1986 

     

1/0444/2018/LA Demolition of existing visitor 
centre (except wc's) and 
erection of new 2 storey 
visitors centre, associated 
office accommodation and 
cafe facility. 

PER 03.08.2018 

   

1/1131/2019/LA Variation of Condition 2 
(Approved Plans) of planning 
permission 1/0444/2018/LA
  

PER 07.02.2020 

   

1/0790/2020/LA Refurbishment and 
alterations to existing building 

PDE  

     

DEM/0004/2020 Partial demolition (wcs to 
remain) 

CLOSED 19.10.2020 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description: 
 
The application site consists of an existing visitor centre built in 1985 along with a substantially sized 
car park located adjacent a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and within the North Devon Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  
 
Northam Burrows Visitor Centre is located within the Northam Burrows Country Park is situated in 
close proximity to the beach, pebble ridge and dunes to the west, and the Royal North Devon golf 
course to the east. 
 
The site comprises of a grass area immediately to the south of the existing visitors centre, with a 
pedestrian access to the west and vehicular access to the east.  To the north west is a fenced area of 
dunes, with Sandymere lake/mudflat to the west and south-west.   
 
The visitors centre is open to the public from late May to early September but is staff year around by a 
park ranger and assistant ranger. 
 
Proposed Development:  
 
This application is seeking full planning permission for a café and toilet block building with associated 
hard surfacing and reconfigured earth mounding.   
 
It is proposed to excavate and recontour the hill in front of the existing visitors centre to create a site 
for a single storey, modular café building and outdoor seating area.  Repairs and upgrades are also 
proposed to the footpath, vehicular access and turning area. 
 
The proposed modular café building measures 16 metres x 9.2 metres with a height of 2.75 metre.    
The café building will include a catering kitchen, with internal seating area and an external decking 
area to allow for outdoor seating area.   A toilet block is proposed to the rear of the building with 6 
toilets, including 2 accessible toilets. A service corridor is proposed between the café and toilet area 
which will contain all external plant and equipment, to ensure the walls and roof are uncluttered of 
equipment.   
 
The building (including the service corridor) will be timber clad and the roof will be a dark grey, metal 
sheeting flat roof.  The window and doors will be dark grey, aluminium.  There will be external roller 
shutters to the windows and timber solar shading to the east and west elevation.  The outside decking 
area will be dark coloured composite deck boarding.  
 
Public access to the building will be by foot, using the existing footpath network. A concrete surfaced 
turning and disabled parking area is proposed to the east of the building, slightly extending the turning 
area.  This will include a disabled car parking space and 6 cycle spaces, as well as service access for 
the café and existing visitors centre.  
 
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
Recommend approval 
 
Natural England:  
1st Response – 6th October 2020 
 
Designated Sites – OBJECTION 
 

Page 76



As submitted we consider it is likely to damage or destroy the interest features for which Northam 
Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified. 
 
We recognise that there is an extant permission for the development of this site ref: 1/0444/2018/LA 
for which Natural England provided advice (20th June 2018 ref: 248074). We also wrote to the 
Council (5th September 2018 ref: 255649) expressing concern that Natural England’s advice had 
been left to conditions. 
 
Designated sites are material planning considerations. A proposal within or close to a SSSI needs to 
be consistent with maintaining and enhancing the special interest of the protected site. It must be 
demonstrated that harm will not accrue and that the development will not have an adverse impact on 
the interest features of the site or be contrary to local and national policy. 
Policy ST14 of the joint Torridge and North Devon Local Plan requires that the quality of northern 
Devon’s natural environment will be protected and enhanced, which includes SSSIs. 
 
Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) - Objection 
This SSSI is notified for its geology, sand dune and dune slack habitats, wet grassland and rare 
plants. 
 
Further information about the notified special interest of SSSIs can be found at www.magic.gov.uk 
Natural England objects to these planning proposals. As submitted, we consider they are likely to 
damage or destroy the interest features for which Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest 
has been notified. 
 
We have reached this view for the following reasons: 
 
• Little consideration has been afforded to the location of the development within an SSSI, its 

special interest, the potential impacts and any mitigation necessary. 
• The proposal to raise, re-profile and timber edge the access road is likely to result in a direct 

loss of the grassland habitat for which the site is notified as a SSSI. Such a ‘fixed’ structure 
may also inhibit the natural roll back of the pebble ridge. 

• The potential for negative impacts on the SSSI from the construction of a new cesspit adjacent 
to the SSSI. The application includes a lot of contradiction about what is proposed and what is 
possible. e.g. there is a septic tank and drainage field on one of the plans but the foul drainage 
(54000 litre capacity) will replace the current system or is an additional requirement. 

 
The ecological report does not make any recommendations for mitigation but merely suggests 
consultation with Natural England is required. There may be scope for amendments to the location 
and/or design of the proposal or consideration of mitigation that could avoid or mitigate the 
environmental harm described above and allow Natural England to withdraw our objection. 
 
In the context of the Taw Torridge Estuary Coastal Change Management Area pilot, only appropriate 
developments should be approved when considering new structures on dynamic areas of coast. 
Northam Burrows is highly dynamic and the agreed policy for management of the pebble ridge is to 
allow it to roll back naturally through managed realignment. As such, there would be no guarantee 
that a new fixed road structure would be defended in situ in perpetuity. Plans for accessing the new 
visitor centre need to show that the expected coastal changes at the site have been taken into 
consideration. 
 
The new visitor centre and café is likely to promote increased access to the beach over the pebble 
ridge at this end of the beach. We are in discussions with Torridge District Council (Adrian Redwood 
TDC Estates Manager) about replacing the existing access at Sandymere as the current structure is 
hindering pebble movement along the ridge. Our advice is that consideration must be given to how 
access between the beach and the visitor centre will be managed sustainably. A visitor access 
management plan should form part of the submission. 
 
These considerations are necessary so that the LPA is able to make a fully informed decision in line 
with their NERC section 40 duty to have regard to conserving biodiversity as part of your decision 

Page 77



making and the need to take reasonable steps to conserve and enhance the special features of sites 
of special scientific interest. 
 
The Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI - further consideration required 
The development site is within 1km of the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI which is notified for its 
overwintering bird interest and intertidal habitats. Overwintering birds associated with the Taw 
Torridge Estuary SSSI use the Northam Burrows SSSI as foraging and resting habitat. 
 
It is known that noise and lighting can lead to both the displacement and disturbance of some wildlife. 
The main concerns are to ensure that noise and light disturbance from any source is considered and 
that design measures to avoid and mitigate disturbance are incorporated into the proposal. 
 
However, more widely, Natural England’s advice is that the development has the potential to affect 
the SSSI by virtue of the associated increase in recreational activity on Northam Burrows Country 
Park and the SSSI contributing to disturbance and displacement effects on the overwintering water 
birds on the estuary. 
 
The data gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide Roost and Recreational Impacts 
study2, of which your Authority is a partner, provides the evidence of recreational impacts on 
important high tide roosts and on birds feeding through all states of the tide. 
 
Plans for the visitor centre state that the proposals aim to increase the number of visitors to Northam 
Burrows. Consideration must be given to how the impact of increased visitor numbers throughout the 
year will be managed to mitigate any adverse impacts on the areas used by the SSSI overwintering 
birds. This could also be included in the visitor access management plan. 
 
Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission contrary to the advice in this 
letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
to notify Natural England of the permission, the terms on which it is proposed to grant it and how, if at 
all, your authority has taken account of Natural England’s advice. You must also allow a further period 
of 21 days before the operation can commence. 
 
2nd Response – 13th November 2020 
 
Further to Natural England’s objection of 6th October 2020 (ref: 328208 & 328059) regarding the 
above proposals, we have received further information from Torridge District Council in the form of a 
visitor access management plan; a construction management plan scoping document; updated foul 
drainage strategies and confirmation that the hard surfaced disabled parking and turning area 
includes a hydrocarbon barrier mat.  We also recommended including an ecological watching brief 
and are satisfied that Michael Day can fulfil this role (pers comms 13-11-20). 
 
Based on this information we have the following comment. 
 
Designated sites – Northam Burrows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Designated sites are material planning considerations.  A proposal within or close to a SSSI needs to 
be consistent with maintaining and enhancing the special interest of the protected site.   
 
Subject to these documents being made a condition of any permission, it is Natural England’s view 
that the development is unlikely to damage or destroy the interest features for which the SSSI has 
been notified.  We can therefore withdraw our objection. 
 
Given the location of the proposal site in relation to the SSSI and the associated potential for damage 
as a result of storage or disposal of materials within the SSSI, should the Council be minded to grant 
permission, we advise that the following informative is also appended to any consent:   
 
• The applicant is advised that should storage, access or encroachment within the Northam 
Burrows SSSI be found to occur outside of the exclusion zone or footprint of the access road as a 
result of the proposals during or after the works, this will be considered an offence under Section 28 

Page 78



of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) whereby the applicant may be liable on 
summary conviction to a maximum fine of £20,000 or on conviction on indictment to an unlimited fine. 
 
All contractors working on site should be made aware of the informative and should be provided with 
a map that clearly shows the boundaries of the development site and the Northam Burrows SSSI. 
 
If permission is granted, we would wish to be consulted again on the detail of the construction 
management plan. 
 
 
AONB Team:  
1st response – 29th September 2020 
 
 Overall, we welcome the proposed changes to the Visitor Centre, represented by these two 
applications. In their delivery they will offer a facility that is furthering public enjoyment and 
understanding of the AONB and as a result it will fulfil a number of AONB Management Plan 
objectives, without great detrimental impact on the designated landscape. 
 
With regards to the refurbishment of the building, we do not believe that there are any specific 
landscape issues associated with these proposals. We are satisfied with the proposed external 
cladding and do not believe there are any landscape issues with regard to the replacement of the 
existing roof. We note that there are a few new external openings and, in the roof, and building, whilst 
this is not a problem during the day, at night there is the potential effect of light spill from the building 
into the surrounding AONB. Currently, at night Northam Burrows represents one of the largest unlit 
areas within the Torridge part of the AONB, therefore, this is a potential issue and whilst we note that 
there are proposals to provide blinds for the windows and roof lights and you may consider it 
expedient to make this a condition of planning.  
 
It is evident that the addition of a café, will increase the overall footfall of the Centre and will make it 
more visible within the landscape, particularly when viewed from elevated land (for example Kipling 
Tors).  However, as the proposal is for a single storey building, that will be partially screened by the 
topography/sand dunes it would appear to have a low profile and we do not believe there are any 
major impact upon the landscape.  Indeed, the previously consented scheme was for a much larger 
building and the current proposals have certainly reduced the potential mass and height of the new 
development on the surrounding area and this is clearly borne out by the accompanying LVIA. 
 
However, we note that there are high levels of grazing in the proposed café building, which it has the 
potential to be reflective during the day and be a source of light pollution at night.  This could have a 
detrimental effect on the peace and tranquillity of the Burrows and therefore, we would seek 
assurances that the applicants are using non-reflective glass and/or are utilising another method to 
minimise sun glare during the day and again you may wish to make this a condition of planning 
permission.  In addition, we would recommend that the café building is not used during the hours of 
darkness (or at the very least between 10pm and 6pm) in order to preserve the dark night skies at this 
location. Likewise, we believe that there should be no external lighting associated with the building. 
 
Finally, we note that the plans currently provide for a single accessible parking bay adjacent to the 
buildings, whereas, we are aware that currently the Wardens park their vehicles adjacent to the visitor 
centre.  In order to minimise the overall footfall of the proposed development, we would recommend 
that other than for deliveries, all parking, with the exception of the accessible parking bay, is 
confirmed to the edge of Sandymere.  
 
In conclusion therefore, the AONB partnership welcomes the proposed changes to the Visitor Centre 
at Northam Burrows, which we believe will enhance visitor experience and understanding of the 
designated AONB.  The proposed building will have far less impact, in terms of height and mass, on 
the surrounding landscape, than the previously consented structure.  The concept of using a modular 
design for the café, that could easily be moved and refurbishment of the existing centre, would appear 
to be a much more sustainable way forward, especially given the potential vulnerability of this part of 
the coast to sea level rise. 

Page 79



 
 
 
2nd Response – 17th November 2020: 
 
I can confirm that after further discussions with agent and applicant, I am aware of the proposed use 
of canopies / brise soleil style solar shading to reduce the potential effects of sun glare from the new 
café .  
 
I can further confirm that on behalf of the North Devon AONB Partnership and I am satisfied that 
these proposals will have the desired effect and have addressed the concerns regarding solar glare, 
highlighted in our consultation response to you, made on 29th September. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
No comments. 
The burrows road is not public highway, there is an existing facility, and therefore no impact for the 
Highway Authority to consider. 
 
The Environment Agency:  
This proposal would fall under classification as minor non-residential extensions / alterations in Flood 
Zone 1.  Therefore, the Environment Agency provide no comments. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team notes that the proposed 
development will be served by a cesspool. The 'hierarchy of drainage options' should be considered 
and discounted in the following order: 
 
Connection to the public sewer 
Package sewage treatment plant  
Septic Tank 
If none of the above are feasible a cesspool. 
 
The Environmental Protection Team has no concerns 
The intention of a cesspool is to fully contain waste and raises no particular environmental concerns. 
However, it will involve frequent emptying which may be considered a less green option. The 
Environmental Protection Team has no objections. 
  
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
There are no objections in principle to the proposal, the brief Crime & Disorder statement is noted. 
Whilst the Visitor Centre and proposed café will potentially benefit from higher levels of natural 
surveillance from increased footfall and staffing numbers, this obviously will not be the case outside of 
opening hours. 
 
Therefore, a sensible and practical level of security, which will not adversely affect the efficient 
running of the facilities, is essential to help create a successful and sustainable visitor experience. 
 
Crime within this type of community facility falls mainly into the following categories: 
• Theft by insiders (staff); 
• Theft & vandalism by visitors / opportunist /organised criminals; 
• Arson; 
 
Café 
Doors to private areas such as staff offices, safe, stock and plant rooms should have a form of access 
control. 
External doors and windows are recommended to be independently security tested and certificated 
products to an appropriate nationally recognised standard such as PAS24: 2016 or similar. 
All ground floor and easily accessible glazing must incorporate glass successfully tested to BS EN 
356:2000 Glass in building. Security glazing–resistance to manual attack to category P1A. 

Page 80



Any proposed roof lights should also be independently security tested to an appropriate standard 
such as LPS 1175 or STS 202. 
As with the main visitor building, any proposed external door and window blinds, grilles and shutters, 
should be certified to at least LPS1175 or STS202 to provide additional protection. 
Consideration should also be given to the shell of the building being treated with an anti-graffiti finish. 
Places that the public have access to which are isolated and lack natural surveillance can create 
vulnerable locations susceptible to criminal anti-social and nuisance activity and behaviour. As a 
deterrent and to assist in the detection and prevention of crime and ASB it is recommended that a 
monitored CCTV system is considered to cover both internal and external areas. 
Will the proposed decking boundary wall and safety rail be attached to the café building? If so this 
could provide a climbing aid either onto the roof area or over into the courtyard. 
If the exterior furniture is to remain outside out of hours, it must be positioned so as to not provide a 
convenient climbing aid providing access to the roof or into the courtyard space. Tables and benches 
should therefore be anchored in place to prevent them being moved. 
Public use litter/dog/recycling bins must be sited away from the main building and toilet block and be 
of a type that can be secured in place. Litterbins can be used to assist climbing and the contents used 
to start fires, either accidently or intentionally. 
There is the potential for an increase in the amount of cash held on site and whilst I would not expect 
detailed handling and storage process and policy to be discussed on this public forum, it must be 
considered and included in any security management plan. 
 
Public toilets 
Avoid all flat surfaces and accessible ledges wherever possible. Consider sloping tops with shiny 
surfaces for the cistern housing etc. 
1. Install hooks on cubicle doors and on the partitioning walls for coats and bags etc. instead of 
shelving 
2. The partitioning between each cubicle should be drill resistant to avoid holes being made for illicit 
use 
3. It is recommended that any baby changing facilities are of an approved ‘pull down variety’ with 
straps and a weight limit to deter illicit use 
4. Stainless steel furniture should be considered for walls and doors for ease of cleaning 
5. Avoid toilet seats as these can be used to facilitate illicit use 
6. Use fully enclosed light fittings and other fittings like cisterns for example to prevent sharps or items 
from being hidden. For information, on top of light fittings, tops of door frames, and high ledges or 
wiring channels appear to be a favourite place to store illicit items 
7. The access doors to the toilets will be well overlooked from the public realm which will assist in 
deterring criminal or antisocial or unacceptable behaviour 
8. The toilets should be maintained regularly to disrupt any unwanted activity and to enable unwanted 
items to be discarded quickly. This will demonstrate that the unwanted activities are not tolerated and 
will help reduce/prevent 
‘broken windows’* theory type activity from occurring. 
*Broken windows theory - Academic theory proposed by James Q. Wilson and George Kelling in 1982 
that used broken windows as a metaphor for disorder within neighbourhoods. Their theory links 
disorder and incivility within a community to subsequent occurrences of serious crime - Consider a 
building with a few broken windows, if the windows are not repaired, the tendency is for vandals to 
break a few more windows, eventually, they may even break into the building, and if it's unoccupied, 
perhaps become squatters or light fires inside. Or consider a pavement, some litter accumulates, 
soon more litter accumulates, eventually people start leaving bags of rubbish from take-away meals 
etc. 
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
No representations received.  

Page 81



 
Policy Context: 
 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 (Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST09 (Coast and Estuary Strategy); 
ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental 
Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); 
DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM17 (Tourism and Leisure Attractions);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The main considerations for this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Landscape Character and Visual Impact 
4. Drainage and Flood Risk 
5. Highway Safety 
6. Ecology 
 
 
1. The Principle of Development: 
 
 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 states that key consideration in the 
determination of a planning application is the development plan.  Applications should be determined 
in accordance with the development plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  
For the purpose of the development plan the statutory development plan is comprised of the North 
Devon & Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2018) (NDTLP).  The NPPF must be taken into 
account and is a material planning considered in planning decisions. 
 
Northern Devon's unspoilt coastline is a popular tourist attraction that contributes significantly to the 
area's environmental quality and identity. This nationally important landscape is partly designated as 
North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). Much of the coastline, including 
Lundy Island and surrounding coastal waters, is also designated as Special Areas of Conservation 
and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Policy ST14 of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan 
(NDTLP) states that the distinctive environment and cultural heritage of the coastal zone, including 
seascapes, will be protected and enhanced. 
 
Within the adopted NDTLP, the application site is located within the North Devon Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB), Biosphere Transition Zone, Coastal & Estuary Zone, and open Countryside. 
 
As the site is located within the Countryside, Policy ST07(4) of the NDTLP states that 'in the 
countryside, beyond local centres, villages and rural settlements, development will be limited to that 
which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building re-use and development 
which is necessarily restricted to a countryside location. 
 

Page 82



The undeveloped parts of this coastal zone are a finite resource and their unspoilt character, 
appearance and tranquillity will be protected against inappropriate development not related to the 
coast or not providing benefits for the local community. 
 
Northern Devon's high-quality environment includes sites of international importance, such as the 
UNESCO Biosphere Reserve and other Special Areas of Conservation, as well as numerous 
environmental assets important at national, regional and local levels. It is important that the quality 
and diversity of these natural biodiversity, landscape, marine and estuarine environmental assets, 
their local distinctiveness and their contribution to this world class environment are recognised, 
conserved and enhanced. A large part of the River Torridge's catchment area is identified as a Nature 
Improvement Area to restore it towards an integrated network of wildlife-rich habitats. 
 
Policy ST09(7) states that development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary will be supported 
where it does not detract from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the 
undeveloped character of the Heritage Coasts, and it is required because it cannot reasonably be 
located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary. 
 
Policy DM17 (2) (Tourism and Leisure Attractions) states that the development of new and the 
expansion or rationalisation of existing tourism, visitor or leisure facilities will be supported where (a) 
the location is necessary; (b) existing buildings are reused or converted wherever feasible; (c) the 
local road network can accommodate the type and scale of traffic to be generated and maintain the 
safety or public highway users; (d) it is designated to protect and enhance the key characteristics of 
the relevant landscapes character types; and ( e) environmental and heritage assets are not subject 
to significant harm, and are conserved or enhanced, with particular respect to the setting and special 
qualities of nationally important landscapes, biodiversity and heritage designations.  
 
The NDTLP advises that where possible, new and extended tourism and leisure attractions should 
deliver opportunities to enhance educational and appreciation of northern Devon’s environment and 
heritage for all sections of the community, including tourist and visitors. 
 
The proposed café facility will enhance the visitor attraction and provide a year-round ‘anchor’ to 
encourage visitors and support the economic sustainability of the Northam Burrows Country Park.   
 
The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development. This is echoed in Policy ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development) in 
the NDTLP.  Taking the three overarching objectives in turn, there would be social gains in the 
provision of a new cafe building will encourage people to visit and enjoy the Northam Burrows 
Country Park. The proposal would make an economic gain in the creation of employment generated 
during construction and in the longer term from the creation of jobs in the café.  This will also provide 
an additional income source for the Northern Burrows Country Park. There would also be 
environmental gains with the local and wider community enjoying and understanding the North Devon 
Coast AONB and the Northern Devon Biosphere Reserve, without great detrimental impact on the 
designated landscape. 
 
Considering the above, the proposal for the erection of a new modular café building, would be 
acceptable, in principle, under these policies, if it complies with all other material planning 
considerations. 
 
 
2. Design, Visual Impact and Landscape Character 
 
Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP all have a strong design focus and establish the need for 
development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting 
 
Policy ST14 gives overarching guidance to development within SSSI's and AONB's to ensure that the 
quality of northern Devon's natural environment will be protected and enhanced. 
 

Page 83



Policy DM04 of the NDTLP notes that good design seeks to guide overall scale, and appearance of 
new development. Policies ST09 and DM08A relate to design and landscape and indicate that with 
sites situated within the AONB and the Undeveloped Coast, great weight should be given to 
conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of the area. 
 
The NPPF also attaches great importance to the enhancement and conservation of the landscape 
with Paragraph 172 outlining that AONB's have the highest status of protection in relation to these 
issues. 
 
The proposed modular building form responds to its open position, in the landscape. The design and 
materials tie the new and existing visitor centre building together in a single, unified building complex, 
centred around a sheltered outdoor courtyard.  
 
The building will timber clad, with the same materials used to refurbish the existing visitor centre. The 
windows and doors will be dark grey aluminium, again, to match the existing visitor centre. The 
roofing will be a dark grey metal sheeting.   
 
A Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVIA) has been used as a tool to assist in the design process.  
This assessment considers the direct and indirect effects predicted from the development on the 
landscape character of the site and its wider environment (including the AONB) within a defined area 
of 3km.  
 
The element of this proposal that could contribute to landscape change and visual receptors area: 
 

 The increased scale of the built area; 
 The choice of materials – including glazing. 
 Ancillary features and groundworks. 

 
A mitigation strategy to reduce the potential landscape and visual impact has been prepared and 
following through into the detail design process (as set out below); 
 
               

                           

Page 84



 
 
Based on the mitigation strategy, the following limited changes to the landscape are noted.  
 

 The building will result in the balance of built and development land in the country park being 
slightly altered.  However, the proposed modular building will be seen in conjunction with the 
larger and taller existing visitors centre.  

 The increase in built area will result in built form being slightly more prominent in the wider 
landscape. 

 Mitigating measures, such as unifying external cladding across both buildings, design around 
a central courtyard, use of natural colours and keeping the proposal lower than the existing 
building helps to mitigate adverse landscape and visual effects.  

 The effects of change in views on visual receptors are judged to be minimal adverse.  No 
impacts are predicted in views from the north, from where the proposal will be screened by the 
taller existing building.  

 
The AONB partnership have been consulted as part of this application and commented as follows 
 
“It is evident that the addition of a café, will increase the overall footfall of the Centre and will make it 
more visible within the landscape, particularly when viewed from elevated land (for example Kipling 
Tors).  However, as the proposal is for a single storey building, that will be partially screened by the 
topography/sand dunes it would appear to have a low profile and we do not believe there are any 
major impact upon the landscape.  Indeed, the previously consented scheme was for a much larger 
building and the current proposals have certainly reduced the potential mass and height of the new 
development on the surrounding area and this is clearly borne out by the accompanying LVIA” 
 
A number of more detailed design recommendations have been made by the Designing Out Crime 
Officer and the agent has advised these will be further considered in the design details.  
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy ST04, ST09, 
ST14, DM04 and DM08A of the NDTLP and the NPPF.  
 
3. Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
Policy DM02 of the NDTLP requires that development must not result in unacceptable impacts in 
relation to pollution of surface or ground water, whilst Policy DM04 of the NDTLP established that 
water management must be addressed by development. 
 
Policy ST03 of the NDTLP requires that development should be designed and constructed to take 
account of the impacts of climate change and minimise risk to and vulnerability of people, land, 
infrastructure and property by locating and designing development to minimise flood risk through 
avoiding development of land for vulnerable use which is or will be at risk from flooding.  
 

Page 85



A Foul Water drainage strategy has been submitted in support of this application.  This states the 
existing foul water drainage discharges to a cesspool, which is maintained by Torridge District 
Councils in-house maintenance team.  The drainage strategy has provided an assessment of the 
other foul water drainage options.  This confirms that the near public sewer is more than 1.25 km from 
the site and therefore not economic or practical to discharge foul drainage to the public sewer.  A 
Septic tank and Package Treatment Plant would not be suitable as it needs to discharge to a drainage 
field. The ground investigation report states the on-site infiltration rates do not meet the minimum 
standards for a drainage field to effectively treat and allow the effluent water to soakaway. Therefore, 
it is proposed to still utilise the existing cesspool and the maintenance of the cesspool will be 
managed by in-house staff as the existing arrangements.  
 
It is proposed that the surface water management would be discharge by existing soakaways, on site. 
The proposed development will not increase the impermeable area of the site, therefore, no increase 
in the volume of surface run-off water.    
 
The Council’s Environment Protection Officer has been consulted and has no objections.  
 
The Environmental Agency (EA) flood maps show the site is to be in Flood Zone 1 and the does not 
lie within the functional floodplain.  However, the site is vulnerable to geomorphic changes that could 
increase future flood risk.  Therefore, a Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted in support of this 
application.  This concludes that there are flood alleviation measures already in place by a pebble 
ridge to the west of the site, this is replenished on a regular basis.   
 
The Environment Agency have been formally consulted on this application and has no comments to 
make on this proposal. 
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy ST03, DM02 and 
DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
4. Highways 
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP requires development to have safe and well-designed vehicular access 
and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highway 
users including cyclists and pedestrians, and that all development shall protect and enhance existing 
public rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or 
provide new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy DM06 states that proposals 
will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet anticipated 
needs. 
 
Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires specific applications for development to ensure that safe and 
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 advises that development 
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
 
The submitted Transport Statement advises there are regular bus services from Bideford and 
Barnstaple that run close to the entrance of the County Park.  The site is accessible by cycle from all 
3 entrances and the site is well served by formal and informal footpaths and is close to the route of 
the South West Coast Path.  
 
It is considered that there is sufficient parking provision within the County Park, the closest being 140 
metres from the proposed café.  
 
The Local Highway Authority has been consulted and have no comments to make.  
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy DM05 and DM06 
of the NDTLP as well as the NPPF. 
 

Page 86



 
5. Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). Policy DM08 of 
the NDTLP concerns biodiversity and requires development to conserve, protect and, where possible, 
enhance biodiversity and geodiversity interests and soils commensurate with their status and giving 
appropriate weight to their importance. 
 
Following the initial objection from Natural England, further detailed information was submitted in the 
form of a visitor access management plan; a construction management plan scoping document; 
including a proposed ecological watching brief, updated foul drainage strategies and confirmation that 
the hard surfaced disabled parking and turning area includes a hydrocarbon barrier mat 
 
Subject to these documents being made a condition of any permission, it is Natural England’s view 
that the development is unlikely to damage or destroy the interest features for which the SSSI has 
been notified.   
 
These documents have been conditioned, in consultation with Natural England, as part of this 
recommendation.  
 
The application is accompanied by an Ecology Report dated the 1st September 2020. 
 
The report confirms the construction of the proposed café will not lead to any significant loss of habitat 
or impacts to rare or notable species of plants due to the small scale of the works and the absence of 
notable plant species in the areas affected.  Similarly, the upgrading of the access road to the south 
will not lead to any significant impacts to the habitats of value that existing elsewhere within the SSSi.  
 
The Ecology report recommended that a Construction Management Plan (CMP) also known as a 
Construction Ecology Manage Plan (CEMP) is recommended, detailing measure to be put in place to 
prevent unnecessary impact to surrounding habitats during construction.   
 
Condition 4 of this recommendation conditions the submission of a CMP/CEMP to include the 
following; 
 

 How the Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) designation is to be protected from damage 
during the construction phase of the development and;  

 details of an ecological watching brief.  
 
Subject to this additional information being submitted in consultation with Natural England, the 
proposed development is considered to be in keeping with the provisions of above legislation. 
 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 
 
 

Page 87



Recommendation 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the aims and 

objectives of the Northam Burrows Country Park Visitors Access Management Plan. 
 

Reason: To ensure access between the beach and the visitors centre will be managed 
sustainably. 

 
4 Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Local Planning Authority, in consultation 

with Natural England, shall have received and approved a Construction Management Plan 
(CMP) this plan should be based on the agreed Construction Management Plan (scope of 
requirements) dated November 2020. The CMP should include the following: 

 
(a) details of an ecological watching brief.   
(b) the timetable of the works; 
(c) daily hours of construction; 
(d) any road closure; 
(e) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with 
such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays 
inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on 
Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(f) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 
(g) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 
(h) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 
(i) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(j) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
(k) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 
construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
(l) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(m) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(n) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(o) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 
of any work; 

 (p) How the Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) designation is to be protected from 
damage during the construction phase of the café and associated infrastructure 

 

Page 88



Reason: To provide safe traffic movements and protect all highway users and to take account 
of construction impacts within/affecting the SSSI 

 
5    No external lighting shall be installed on site unless details of such lighting, including the 

intensity of illumination and predicted lighting contours, have been first submitted to and 
approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  Any external lighting shall accord with 
the details so approved. 

 
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the designated AONB and to prevent light 
pollution to the dark skies and to preserve the character of the surrounding AONB. 

 
6  The café building hereby approved, shall only operate in accordance with the following hours 

07:00 am – 22:00 pm during the months of March – October and 07:00 am – 18:00 pm during 
the month of November to February. 

 
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the designated AONB and to prevent light 
pollution to the dark skies and to preserve the character of the surrounding AONB.  This is 
also in line with the opening hours of the Northam Burrows Visitor Centre. 

 
7   The development hereby approved shall be carried out in  accordance with the approved Foul 

Water Drainage Strategy (Ref: 50235w0003b) received on the 12th November 2020.  
 

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactorily arrangements for the disposal 
of foul water drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.  

 
8 The hard-surfaced disabled parking and turning area is to include a hydrocarbon barrier mat in 

accordance with drawing number REF: 50235-0021 REV D received on the 16th November 
2020. 

 
Reason: To protect the character and appearance of the sensitive landscape and to mitigate 
the impact on the SSSI.  

 
 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

50235 – 0021 REV D 
1434 02 00 PL3  

16.11.2020 
09.09.2020 

     

1434 02 02 PL3  09.09.2020 
     

1434 02 04 PL3  09.09.2020 
   

1434 02 05 PL3  09.09.2020 
   

1434 02 06 PL1  09.09.2020 
   

KP20187-ELE-SE 1  17.09.2020 
   

50235-0050C  09.09.2020 
  

 
Informatives 
 
 
01. The applicant is advised that should storage, access or encroachment within the Northam 

Burrows SSSI be found to occur outside of the exclusion zone or footprint of the access road 
as a result of the proposals during or after the works, this will be considered an offence under 
Section 28 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) whereby the applicant may 
be liable on summary conviction to a maximum fine of £20,000 or on conviction on indictment 
to an unlimited fine. 

 

Page 89



  
Statement of Engagement 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
   
 In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. 
The need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
   
 The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions 
to problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 90



 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
Committee 3 December 2020 

 
 

Appeal decisions for the period 23.10.2020 – 23.11.2020 
Application No. 
 
1/0828/2019/FUL 

Address/Proposal 
 
Barn At South Worden Farm 
Bradworthy 
Holsworthy 
 
Proposed Change of Use of redundant building to 
Art Exhibition Studio and Cafe 

Appeal 
Decision 
 
Allowed 

Officer 
Recommendation 
 
Refusal 

Committee/ 
Delegated 
 
Delegated 

Costs 
 
 
None 

 
1/0109/2020/FUL 

 
15 New Street 
Appledore 
 
Use of annexe as residential dwelling 

 
Dismissed 

 
Refusal 

 
Delegated 

 
None 

 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 9



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site Visit made on 6 October 2020  
by Nick Davies  BSc(Hons) BTP MRTPI  

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 03 November 2020  

 
Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3256400 

South Worden Farm, Road Past Worden, Bradworthy, Devon EX22 7TW 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

   against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Charles Mead against the decision of Torridge District  
   Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0828/2019/FUL, dated 6 September 2019, was refused by 

   notice dated 24 January 2020. 
• The development proposed is change of use of workshop (B2) to art exhibition 

   studio and cafe. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for change of use of 

workshop (B2) to art exhibition studio and cafe at South Worden Farm, Road 

Past Worden, Bradworthy, Devon EX22 7TW in accordance with the terms of 
the application, Ref 1/0828/2019/FUL, dated 6 September 2019, and the plans 

submitted with it, subject to the following conditions: 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans: 7822 00-001 A – Site and Location 

Plan; TDA01 2003 0719 – Measured Building Survey; 7822 10-001 - 
Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations. 

3) The use hereby permitted shall only take place from March to October 

and between the following hours:  
- 10:00 – 16:00 Wednesdays - Saturdays 

Preliminary Matters 

2. I have used the description of the development from the application form. It is 

not clear from the evidence whether the use of the building as a workshop is 
lawful, and this is not a matter for my determination under this appeal. In the 

absence of any planning history to demonstrate a lawful use, I have considered 

the proposed development on its merits, and have not ascribed any weight to 
the stated current use of the building.  

Main Issue 

3. The main issue is whether the roads leading to the site would provide safe and 
suitable access to the development for visitors and deliveries. 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3256400

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

4. The appeal site lies in a rural location, about 1.7 kilometres to the west of 

Bradworthy, a busy village with a wide range of services and businesses. The 

hinterland of this settlement is a mosaic of farms, scattered dwellings, tourism 

and recreation uses, all served by a network of country lanes. Within this 
context, the appeal site is part of a loose cluster of buildings that comprises 

about ten dwellings, a small business yard and agricultural buildings. 

Consequently, although the appeal site is somewhat remote from the services 
and facilities in the village, it is part of an existing complex of buildings, which 

generate vehicular movements on the lanes leading to and from the site. The 

evidence does not indicate that the current level of traffic in the area results in 

highway danger or adverse impacts on the road network. 

5. The appeal building is a single-storey agricultural-style structure, with a 
floorspace of about 114 square metres. It is proposed to convert it, with 

minimal external alterations, to an arts workshop and café. It is envisaged that 

the main clients would be special needs children and adults, and local people. 

The appellant’s statement says that the facility would only be open from 10:00 
to 16:00 on Wednesday to Friday, between April and September. The Transport 

Technical Note (the TTN) that accompanied the application, however, says the 

facility would open between March and October, with special events, including 
workshops and training sessions, on Saturdays approximately 28 times per 

year. Either way, the facility would only be open for part of the week, for a 

limited period of the year and only during daylight hours. The impact of 

resultant traffic on surrounding lanes would therefore be limited to these times. 

6. The TTN identifies that the business plan for the proposal predicts a maximum 
of 20 cars accessing the site daily (20 arrivals and 20 departures). However, 

the TTN goes on to derive “total people” trip rates from the TRICS database, 

and concludes that, if every trip to the site was undertaken by single car 

occupancy, nine arrivals and nine departures would be expected as a result of 
the proposal. These higher and lower estimates indicate that, during the times 

of opening, between 3 and 6.6 traffic movements would be generated each 

hour. No evidence has been provided by the Council to suggest that traffic 
generation would be higher. Given the vehicle movements generated by the 

existing uses in the immediate vicinity of the site, this would represent a 

moderate increase in traffic using the surrounding country lanes. 

7. Most of this additional traffic is likely to approach the development from the 

east, via the lanes from Bradworthy. It is this route that the Highway 
Authority’s statement suggests that I should consider, in particular. Traffic 

leaving Bradworthy would travel along Mill Road, which is one of the main 

routes into and out of the busy village. Consequently, the small number of 
movements generated by the development would not significantly increase the 

level of traffic using this stretch of road. Traffic would then turn left at the 

Bradworthy Mill junction, which I found safe to use in both directions when 

exercising due caution.  

8. The route from Bradworthy Mill to the site involves navigating approximately 
1.3 kilometres of country lanes. The first kilometre of this route is of variable 

width, but generally allows two small vehicles to pass with caution. There are 

narrower sections where two cars would not be able to pass, but the road is 

relatively straight, so forward visibility is generally good. This allows drivers to 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3256400

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

see oncoming traffic, and make use of the regular passing opportunities, 

without the need for either vehicle to reverse. Even the narrowest sections 

would allow a small vehicle and cyclist to pass safely. This road carries low 
levels of slow-moving traffic, so could accommodate the additional vehicle 

movements generated by the development, without an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety. 

9. Traffic would then turn left into a narrow lane, leading to a right-angle bend 

into the road that gives access to the appeal site. This stretch is single track, 
with no passing places. However, it is only about 80 metres in length, and is 

straight, so road users can see from the bend to the junction, allowing 

drivers/cyclists to wait at one end to allow the other vehicle to pass. Visibility 

for vehicles emerging at the junction is limited, but, in view of the low traffic 
speeds, can be negotiated safely with due care. 

10. The final stretch of road only serves the cluster of development that includes 

the appeal site. It is narrow, but quite straight, so opposing drivers have good 

visibility of oncoming traffic. There are regular opportunities for vehicles to 

pass each other. Although some of these involve encroachment onto private 
land, there is no evidence that this is a source of conflict within this rural 

community. In any event, traffic on this stretch is so infrequent, and travels at 

such low speed, that the carriageway effectively operates as a shared space for 
all road users, without any highway danger. The moderate level of additional 

traffic would not significantly alter these inherently safe highway conditions. 

11. I also drove from the site to the A39, which lies approximately 5 kilometres to 

the west, and is an alternative route for visitors to access the development. 

The nature of the roads leading in this direction is quite similar to those on the 
route to Bradworthy. There are narrow points, where two cars cannot pass, but 

they soon give way to wider stretches. There are also regular passing spaces of 

variable nature and dimensions. Forward visibility varies, but I travelled the 

lanes around the appeal site for a considerable period during my visit, and only 
had to use passing spaces on three occasions. None of these encounters 

required a reversing manoeuvre by either vehicle. Bearing in mind the small 

number of additional vehicle movements that will be generated on the roads to 
the west of the site, I conclude that they would provide safe and suitable 

access to the development. 

12. The roads in the wider area surrounding the appeal site are typical country 

lanes, with no lighting or footways. Whilst not being suitable for carrying large 

volumes of traffic, they do, nevertheless serve the agricultural, tourist and 
recreational businesses in the area, as well as the scatter of rural dwellings. 

There is no evidence that their current level of use results in an unacceptable 

impact on highway safety. The development would only result in a moderate 
increase in traffic movements, which would be limited further by the restricted 

season, days, and times of opening. The daily opening times mean that traffic 

to and from the development would only be travelling on the roads in daylight 

hours, reducing any potential conflict between cars and pedestrians/cyclists, 
which would otherwise result from the lack of streetlights. 

13. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the roads leading to the site 

would provide safe and suitable access to the development for visitors and 

deliveries. Consequently, the proposal would comply with Policies ST10, DM05 

and DM27 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031. These 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3256400

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

policies support the conversion of redundant and disused rural buildings, whilst 

protecting and enhancing the function and safety of the road network for all 

highway users, including cyclists and pedestrians. The proposal would also 
accord with the advice in the National Planning Policy Framework, that 

development should only be refused on highway grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual impacts on the road 

network would be severe. 

Conditions 

14. In accordance with the legislation, I have imposed a condition limiting the 

period within which the development must commence. I have also included a 
condition specifying the relevant plans, as this provides certainty. Neither party 

has suggested conditions to cover any other matters. However, my conclusion 

that the moderate increase in traffic would not be harmful to highway safety 
resulted, in part, from the limited hours of operation put forward by the 

appellant. I therefore consider it necessary to impose a condition restricting the 

opening hours to those described in the application. 

Conclusion 

15. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed. 

 

Nick Davies 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 6 October 2020 

by Mrs H Nicholls  FdA MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 4th November 2020. 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3254359 

15 New Street, Appledore, Bideford, Devon EX39 1QJ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Rofe against the decision of Torridge District Council. 
• The application Ref 1/0109/2020/FUL, dated 5 March 2020, was refused by notice dated 

28 April 2020. 
• The development proposed is subdivision of annexe from main dwelling to create two 

dwellings (to include removal of annexe occupancy condition 3 of planning permission 
ref: 1/1675/95/14/39). 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are:  

• the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area;  

• the effect of the proposal on future and neighbouring occupiers, including 

those resident in the appeal building, the occupiers of the host dwelling, No 
15 New Street, and occupiers of adjoining dwellings; and  

• the effect of the proposal on the availability of parking.  

Background  

3. From the evidence, the appeal building was originally extended from a garage 

and lower store to form an annexe associated with the host dwelling and was 
linked to it by way of a planning condition.  

Reasons  

Character and appearance  

4. The host dwelling is a mid-terrace two storey house situated on New Street, 

which is narrow and inaccessible by vehicles. Pedestrian access can be 
achieved to the front, but most dwellings benefit from parking and access via 

the service lane which appears to be known as ‘Backfield’.  

5. The historic 19th Century housing in New Street has been included in the 

Appledore Conservation Area (CA). The appeal site falls within the traditional 

pattern of linear rows of terraces fronting a narrow shared carriageway with 
utility areas and outbuildings located discretely to the rear served by a modest 

service lane. 

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3254359 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. The appeal building is clad in timber and has a corrugated metal sheet roof. It 

is largely orientated to face north-east, towards the rear of the host dwelling 

and those that adjoin it. Its rear elevation fronts Backfield but contains no 
windows or door openings that result in any interaction with the street.  

7. Whilst appreciating that the building exists and no further changes are 

proposed to its external appearance, it has an appearance more akin to an 

outbuilding than a dwelling. As a principal residence, with its limited aspect and 

sole access from the service lane, it would be at odds with the surrounding 
grain of development. As a dwelling, its utilitarian form and insubstantial 

appearance, as distinct from an ancillary outbuilding, would also break 

harmfully from the area’s comparatively more sophisticated and well-

proportioned terraced housing.  

8. In view of this main issue, the proposal would be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the area, contrary to, Policies ST04 and DM04 of the North 

Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2011 - 2031) (adopted 2018) (Local Plan). 

These Policies seek to encourage improved design quality, ensure 

developments contribute positively to local distinctiveness and create 
successful, vibrant places.  

Effect on future and neighbouring occupiers  

9. The evidence indicates that the building is capable of self-contained 
accommodation despite that the submitted plans omit reference to a kitchen. 

During my visit I noted that a kitchen was present in the building and that 

other rooms appeared to have functions typical of a dwelling, i.e. bedrooms. 

However, its capability to be occupied independently is not the sole determiner 
of its acceptability, but more broadly whether its detachment in planning terms 

from the host dwelling would enable both dwellings to provide satisfactory 

living environments for their respective occupants. 

10. The external amenity space for No 15 adjoins the appeal building and provides 

an area for sitting out. Whilst modest in size and to a degree detached from 
the host dwelling, it is still capable of serving its intended purpose. To remove 

this space as a garden from the host dwelling and prevent any shared use 

would deprive its occupants of a quality living environment, as the amenity 
space that otherwise exists adjacent to the rear elevation is negligible in size.    

11. The removal of a rear access and area for refuse storage are also factors that 

would detract from the living environment for occupants of the host dwelling, 

making the mid-terraced dwelling more difficult to access and the already 

cramped outdoor space less useable for recreational opportunities. Whilst it 
may be unusual for dwellings in the wider surroundings to have rear accesses, 

No 15 and most others in the New Street terrace appear to have them and are 

well used given the constrained access to the front elevation.  

12. In terms of impacts on neighbouring occupiers, the building is sited in close 

proximity to the rear of the terrace. The first floor full-length doors spanning 
the width of the rear elevation of the building provide views towards the rear 

windows in the terrace. Despite the suggestion in the evidence that the area of 

flat roof was not in use as a balcony, it was in situ at the time of my visit with 
associated balustrades enclosing a seating area. The balcony affords users a 

view towards gardens belonging to Nos 14A, 16 and 17. Whilst some degree of 

overlooking is expected in built up areas, and notwithstanding that some built 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3254359 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

features partially block views of the garden of No 16, the degree of overlooking 

of adjoining dwellings and gardens would be harmful to neighbouring 

occupiers.  

13. In view of this main issue, the proposal is harmful to the living conditions of 

neighbouring occupiers, including those of the host dwelling, contrary to Policy 
DM01 of the Local Plan which seeks to avoid significant harm to the amenities 

of any neighbouring occupiers or uses.  

Availability of parking  

14. In allowing for the building to be used as an annexe, the additional ancillary 

floorspace was not predicted to result in an increase in demand for car parking, 

and the relevant condition clearly required the car parking to be shared. Whilst 

there is a suggestion that the host dwelling has already lost access to the 
parking space, the condition remains effective at the present time.  

15. There is a general shortage of parking available in the vicinity of the appeal 

site. Though I note that the appellant has drawn attention to local car parks, 

and that these serve a role for visitors to the area generally, the loss of a 

conveniently located car parking space would be a poor outcome. The removal 
of the garage formerly associated with the host dwelling would also limit the 

ability to store bicycles, undermining the ability of occupants to opt for 

sustainable modes of travel.  

16. Though the loss of one parking space would be unlikely to result in a highway 

safety effect or severe cumulative impact when considered in combination with 
other developments, Local Plan Policy DM06 requires that development 

proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and range of parking 

provision to meet anticipated needs, having regard to aspects such as the 
accessibility and sustainability of the site and availability of public transport. 

17. Notwithstanding that there are bus services available locally, the area is not so 

sustainably located that residents can avoid a reliance on private vehicles. The 

proposal would therefore result in an increased demand for car parking by an 

additional household in an area which already has a short supply.  

18. The proposal therefore conflicts with, in particular, Local Plan Policy DM06.   

Other Matters  

19. The Council did not find that the proposal would result in more than a limited 

impact on the character or appearance of the CA and I have no reason to reach 

an alternative conclusion.  

20. The appellant has referred to another annexe which has become a self-

contained dwelling elsewhere in New Street. I have limited details about that 
particular case but it unlikely that the circumstances are so similar that it would 

outweigh the identified harm and justify granting permission in this instance.   

Planning balance and conclusion  

21. The parties agree that the Council is currently incapable of demonstrating a 5 

year supply of housing land (5YHLS). This means that the ‘tilted balance’ 

outlined in paragraph 11 (d) of the Framework is engaged. The tilted balance 

sets out that planning permission should be granted unless any adverse 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3254359 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 

when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.  

22. From the evidence, there is a 4.23 years’ worth of housing supply against the 

required five years. I acknowledge that even small developments can make a 

contribution towards bridging the gap.   

23. In terms of the benefits of the proposal, the proposal would deliver a modest-

sized dwelling, thus widening opportunities for home ownership, with resultant 
social benefits. It would be located in an area where residents can walk to a 

range of local facilities and there would be some economic benefits from future 

occupiers spending money in local shops and other businesses.  

24. However, I find the proposal to be harmful to the character and appearance of 

the area, harmful to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and 
incapable of providing sufficient parking. Considered holistically, these factors 

result in adverse impacts that significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits.  

25. The proposal conflicts with the Development Plan, considered as a whole. There 

are no considerations of sufficient materiality, including the application of the 
tilted balance, that outweigh the identified conflict.  

26. For the reasons set out above, the appeal is dismissed.  

 

Hollie Nicholls  

INSPECTOR 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

AGMB DECISIONS 23.10.2020 – 23.11.2020 
 

Application Number Address/Proposal Decision 
 

 
1/0839/2020/AGMB 

 

Great Knowle Barn, 
Pyworthy, Devon. 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under Class Q 

 
Approved 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 11



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 23.10.2020 and 23.11.2020 

 
List of Applications 

 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

 
Permitted 

 
1/1134/2018/
FULM 

Shaun 
Harringt
on 

Construction of 28 no. dwellings 
with access, car parking, 
landscaping and associated works - 
Land At Southwood Meadow, 
Buckland Brewer, Devon. 

Pauline Bromell PER 
13.11.2020 

 
1/0123/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Conversion of an existing 
outbuilding to holiday let with a 
designated parking space for a 
single vehicle - Outbuilding At The 
Vicarage, Meeting Street, 
Appledore. 

Diocese Of 
Exeter 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0405/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed temporary agricultural 
workers dwelling - Land At Grid 
Reference 243406 102174, West 
Chilla, Devon. 

Ms Sarla Vale PER 
10.11.2020 

 
1/0440/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Erection of a wooden shed for 
forestry purposes - Garage At Grid 
Reference 262305 119156, 
Kingford, Devon. 

Ms Susan King PER 
05.11.2020 

 
1/0444/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Conversion of redundant barn to 
dwelling - South Trew Farm, 
Highampton, Beaworthy. 

Mr Joe Bray PER 
02.11.2020 

 
1/0465/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Change of use of building from 
agricultural to commercial 
equestrian livery stables and 
associated weatherproofing works. - 
Holland Park Farm, Winterland 
Lane, Holsworthy. 

Mr Joseph 
Porter 

PER 
20.11.2020 

 
1/0469/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

New steel framed cantilevered 
building to cover cow collecting yard 
- Alfords Villavin, Roborough, 
Winkleigh. 

Messrs E.J 
Pincombe 

PER 
02.11.2020 

 
 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 12



1/0488/2020/
OUT 

James 
Jackson 

Outline application for the erection 
of 1 no dwelling with all matters 
reserved - Land Adjoining Sunny 
View, Milton Damerel, Holsworthy. 

Mr P Parker PER 
10.11.2020 

 
1/0497/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Rear first floor extension on top of 
existing single storey room. - 6 Ibex 
Court, Irsha Street, Appledore. 

Neil Randall PER 
29.10.2020 

 
1/0509/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Mount an array of photovoltaic (PV) 
solar panels on stable block - 
Pillhead House, Old Barnstaple 
Road, Bideford. 

Mark and Sarah 
Ansell 

PER 
12.11.2020 

 
1/0510/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Construction of a covered slurry pit - 
Yeory Farm, Merton, Okehampton. 

Mr Adam 
Wickett 

PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0520/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Retrospective planning permission 
for the installation of solar panels on 
dwellinghouse - Pillhead House, Old 
Barnstaple Road, Bideford. 

Mr Mark Ansell PER 
12.11.2020 

 
1/0521/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Retrospective planning permission 
for the installation of solar panels on 
dwellinghouse - Pillhead House, Old 
Barnstaple Road, Bideford. 

Mr Mark Ansell PER 
12.11.2020 

 
1/0542/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of four holiday lodges - 
Land At Grid Reference 252226 
123009, Huntshaw, Devon. 

Mr Tony 
Newcombe 

PER 
19.11.2020 

 
1/0549/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Change of use of land to domestic, 
erection of garage with car port, and 
alterations to barn - Barn At Grid 
Reference 243324 110756, 
Shebbear, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs P 
Hopkinson 

PER 
16.11.2020 

 
1/0552/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Retrospective application for a 
stable building - Land At Grid 
Reference 252853 109225, 
Petrockstowe, Devon. 

Mr Roy Roberts PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0566/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Demolition and replacement of 
dwelling (resubmission of 
1/0464/2020/FUL) - Ithaca, Torridge 
Road, Appledore. 

David And 
Lindsay Inwood 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0564/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Removal of timber side structure to 
dormer windows and replacement 
with direct glazing. Two dormer 
windows, one front and one rear. - 
Central Cottage, Vernons Lane, 
Appledore. 

Mr Kevin Reed PER 
26.10.2020 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



1/0570/2020/
REM 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Reserved matters application for 
appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale for 1 no. dwelling 
pursuant to application 
1/0476/2019/OUT - Twiney Park, 
Holsworthy, Devon. 

Neet Homes 
Ltd. 

PER 
26.10.2020 

 
1/0582/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of 2 no. dwellings - Land At 
Westcott House, Station Road, 
Halwill Junction. 

Bryan Home 
Ltd. 

PER 
19.11.2020 

 
1/0587/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replace existing UPVC windows 
with double glazed painted oak 
framed casement windows and 
increase height of kitchen window - 
6 Coopers Hill, Winkleigh, Devon. 

Paul Matthews PER 
19.11.2020 

 
1/0602/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Conversion of redundant agricultural 
out-building to provide 1 no. holiday 
letting accommodation. Works to 
include demolition of 2 no. attached 
lean-to extensions, re-building 1no. 
extension in cavity block work. - 
Hock Ridge Farm, Fairy Cross, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs R 
Browning 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0609/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed conversion of traditional 
barn to form 2 no. holiday units - 
Strawberry Bank, Pyworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Mark 
Marriott 

PER 
26.10.2020 

 
1/0612/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Rear two storey extension to 
replace single storey rear external 
wc - The Nook, Ashreigney, 
Chulmleigh. 

Miss Sara 
Tunstall 

PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0616/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Minor alterations to handrails and 
guarding to comply with Building 
Regulations and removal of fixed 
display unit. - Town Hall, High 
Street, Torrington. 

Mrs C Simmons PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0639/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed replacement dwelling, to 
include the demolition of the existing 
dwelling (affecting a public right of 
way). - Goats Hill House, Goats Hill 
Road, Northam. 

Mr and Mrs M 
Jarvis 

PER 
05.11.2020 

 
1/0649/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed dwelling - Land Adjacent 
Hillside, Sandymere Road, 
Northam. 

SDT 
Consultancy Ltd 

PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0650/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Construction of three dwellings - 
alteration to house types and site 
(resubmission of 1/0381/2015/FUL) 
- Land At Grid Reference 252607 
111991, Clarkes Lane, Merton. 

Glebelands 
Field 
Developments 
Ltd 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
Page 103



1/0657/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Roof over a livestock gathering area 
as part of Mid-Tier Countryside 
Stewardship - East Hele, Buckland 
Brewer, Bideford. 

Messrs Brown PER 
28.10.2020 

 
1/0658/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Barbeque lodge - Cartref, 
Monkleigh, Bideford. 

Mr and Mrs A 
Crow 

PER 
23.10.2020 

 
1/0659/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement windows, three sun 
pipes on rear roof and oil tank in 
rear garden - The Shippen, High 
Bickington, Umberleigh. 

Mr and Mrs 
Knowles 

PER 
04.11.2020 

 
1/0660/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement windows, three sun 
pipes on rear roof and oil tank in 
rear garden - The Shippen, High 
Bickington, Umberleigh. 

Mr and Mrs 
Knowles 

PER 
04.11.2020 

 
1/0676/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Replacement garage - 6 Burrough 
Road, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr Clive 
England 

PER 
26.10.2020 

 
 
1/0674/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of a single storey annexe 
for ancillary use to the main dwelling 
- North Fordlands, Heywood Road, 
Northam. 

Mr G Williams & 
Mrs S Hall 

PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0685/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Proposed roof over existing slurry 
store - Stretchacott Farm, 
Frithelstock, Torrington. 

Mr C Poole PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0688/2020/
CPE 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Certificate of existing lawful use of 
land as residential garden - 1 
Woodland View Barns, Milton 
Damerel, Holsworthy. 

Mr David 
Simons 

PER 
12.11.2020 

 
1/0689/2020/
FUH 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Alterations and extensions to 
garage to create annexe as overflow 
accommodation to main dwelling - 
Penrose Cottage, Langtree, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs Jon 
Hagger 

PER 
05.11.2020 

 
1/0840/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Change of use from a shop to office 
- 14 Chingswell Street, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mrs Anne Marie 
Stone - Little 
Pebbles 
Financial 
Solutions 

PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0707/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Replacement rear extension - 5 
Kings Meadow Drive, Winkleigh, 
Devon. 

Mr P Yates PER 
03.11.2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



1/0712/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Retrospective planning application 
for removal of redundant ATM, 
enlargement of existing shop 
window and re-clad of shop 
frontage. - Shepherd's Hardware, 11 
The Square, Holsworthy. 

Mr Peter 
Shepherd 

PER 
28.10.2020 

 
 
1/0715/2020/
REM 

Kristian 
Evely 

Approval of Reserved Matters 
pursuant to application 
1/0675/2018/OUT (Access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale) (Affecting a Public Right 
of Way) - Land Adjacent Lake 
House, Shebbear, Devon. 

Mr Dixon PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0721/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

General purpose agricultural barn 
on concrete base - Woodrow Farm, 
Ashreigney, Chulmleigh. 

Mrs Lorna See PER 
30.10.2020 

 
1/0730/2020/
TRE 

Kristian 
Evely 

Crown lift of 20-25% on 2 no. Oak 
trees and side pruning works to 
Field Maple covered by 
TPO/0045/2015 - 20 Oakwell Close, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mrs Carol 
Lawrence 

PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0731/2020/
TRE 

Kristian 
Evely 

Crown thinning to 2 no. Field 
Maples and 1 no. Oak tree covered 
by TPO/0045/2015 - 18 Oakwell 
Close, Torrington, Devon. 

Mrs Denise 
Standen 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0735/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Erection of building for use as 
indoor training facility for existing 
dog day care facility (Sui Generis) - 
Shepherds View, St Giles In The 
Wood, Torrington. 

Mrs Lynne Hall PER 
18.11.2020 

 
1/0755/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Loft conversion, internal alterations 
and landscaping at rear of property - 
4A Odun Road, Appledore, 
Bideford. 

Orchid 
Construction 
Ltd 

PER 
23.10.2020 

 
1/0756/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Loft conversion, internal alterations 
and landscaping at rear of property - 
4A Odun Road, Appledore, 
Bideford. 

Orchid 
Construction 
Ltd 

PER 
23.10.2020 

 
1/0743/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed extension to existing 
bungalow - Jocey, West Lane, 
Dolton. 

Mr Patrick 
Tunnicliffe 

PER 
26.10.2020 

 
1/0744/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Change of use from restaurant (A3) 
to dwelling (C3) - Cranford Inn, St 
Giles In The Wood, Torrington. 

Paul Owens 
And Nicola 
Newcombe 

PER 
12.11.2020 

 
 
 
 

Page 105



1/0750/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Commercial/Industrial unit for 
printing business (light industrial use 
[e(g)]) - Land Adjacent High View, 
Halwill, Devon. 

Pid Signz PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0763/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Application for reserved matters 
(access, appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale) pursuant to 
permission 1/1293/2018/OUT 
(Variation of planning permission 
1/0831/2019/REM) - Garden Of 10 
Rickards Green, Abbotsham, 
Bideford. 

Orchid 
Developments 
Ltd 

PER 
02.11.2020 

 
1/0752/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Construction of an agricultural 
building covering a livestock 
gathering area. - Upcott Cross 
Farm, St Giles On The Heath, 
Launceston. 

Mr C Sobey PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0753/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposal to erect an agricultural 
building to cover a livestock yard. - 
Upcott Cross Farm, St Giles On The 
Heath, Launceston. 

Mr C Sobey PER 
28.10.2020 

 
1/0754/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Extension to existing cubicle 
building. - Flavills Farm, Kingscott, 
Torrington. 

Mr P Herniman PER 
28.10.2020 

 
1/0762/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Erection of single storey side 
extension, single storey rear 
extension with alterations to rear 
and conversion of existing garage to 
form additional living 
accommodation. - 15 Fountain 
Fields, High Bickington, Umberleigh. 

Mr P Hamnett PER 
29.10.2020 

 
1/0766/2020/
FUH 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Erection of four bay garage - 
Coombeshead Barn, Virginstow, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Kevin 
& Paula Morgan 

PER 
02.11.2020 

 
1/0799/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Erection of chalet bungalow - 
Eastridge, West View Avenue, 
Bideford. 

Mr R E Parsons PER 
18.11.2020 

 
1/0787/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Repositioned access (amended 
description) - Land Opposite 
Caradon View, Halwill, Devon. 

Mr G Baker PER 
04.11.2020 

 
1/0792/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Conversion of former MOD buildings 
to dwelling - Former MOD Building, 
Baxworthy, Devon. 

Mr And Mrs L 
Heywood 

PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0771/2020/
FUH 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of detached oak framed 
garage - Zion Chapel, Riddlecombe, 
Chulmleigh. 
 

Mr & Mrs 
Broom 

PER 
05.11.2020 

 
Page 106



1/0776/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Extension of holiday occupancy 
period for stage 1 development 
Berridon Hall, Bradworthy (Variation 
of Condition 2 of Planning 
Permission 1/0287/1978) - The 
Hollies, Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mrs Kathleen 
Ronald 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0777/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement windows - Rice Mill 
Cottage, Alverdiscott Road, 
Bideford. 

Mr Andrew 
Tucker 

PER 
19.11.2020 

 
1/0778/2020/
FUH 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Second storey extension above 
existing garage - 12 Waterloo 
Gardens, Torrington, Devon. 

Simon Adams PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0780/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Conversion of barns for residential 
use and replacement ancillary 
building - Tower Hill House, St Giles 
On The Heath, Launceston. 

Mr And Mrs 
Evans 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0781/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed conversion of barn within 
grounds of house to ancillary living 
accommodation - The Round 
House, Annery, Monkleigh. 

Messers 
Holmes, Patel 
and Winterbach 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0784/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed single storey extension to 
existing dwelling for new garden 
room - Brentor View, 
Broadwoodwidger, Devon. 

Kernow Homes 
(SW) Limited 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0786/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Regularisation of works including 
replacement staircase, installation of 
replacement windows, installation of 
Velux roof lights, installation of door, 
Juliet balcony, creation of shower 
wet-room to loft and installation of 
solar panels. - 25 Castle Street, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Miss Kent PER 
19.11.2020 

 
1/0788/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

General purpose agricultural shed - 
Land At Hayne Farm, Clawton, 
Devon. 

Mr Law PER 
20.11.2020 

 
1/0801/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Removal of dilapidated ground floor 
roof from attached workshop and 
formation of a roof terrace - 25 
Castle Street, Torrington, Devon. 

Ms D Kent & Mr 
J Bangham 

PER 
05.11.2020 

 
1/0802/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Removal of dilapidated ground floor 
roof from attached workshop and 
formation of a roof terrace - 25 
Castle Street, Torrington, Devon. 

Ms D Kent & Mr 
J Bangham 

PER 
19.11.2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



1/0793/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Demolition of single storey side 
extension and garages and erection 
of two storey side extension and 
double garage with ancillary room 
above - 1 Cross Park, High 
Bickington, Umberleigh. 

Mr and Mr 
Hearn 

PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0814/2020/
TCA 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - Felling of an ash tree 
suffering with ash dieback - The 
Post House, Beaford, Winkleigh. 

Mr Kenneth 
Chandler 

PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0797/2020/
REM 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Reserved matters application for 
appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale for 5 no. dwellings 
pursuant to application 
1/0552/2017/OUT - Land At Town 
Farm, North Road, High Bickington. 

Mazzard 
Holdings Ltd 

PER 
20.11.2020 

 
1/0798/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Extension of existing slurry lagoon - 
Allins Week, Torrington, Devon. 

Mr Grenville 
Heal 

PER 
16.11.2020 

 
1/0803/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed dwelling - Redundant 
Pumping Station, St Peters Road, 
Holsworthy. 

Highfield 
Homes Of 
Distinction Ltd 

PER 
17.11.2020 

 
1/0804/2020/
FUH 

James 
Jackson 

Single garage extension to the side 
of the property and creation of 
access - 24 Old Market Drive, 
Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr Matthew 
Cole 

PER 
06.11.2020 

 
1/0805/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Replacement of mono-pitched roof 
above existing garage, with a flat 
roof construction to create additional 
amenity space for dwelling - The 
Stables, 15A North Road, Bideford. 

Mr Paul 
Hancock 

PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0808/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed extension and alterations 
(Affecting a Public Right of Way) - 
Yeoldon House Cottage, Durrant 
Lane, Northam. 

Mr and Mrs 
White 

PER 
13.11.2020 

 
1/0813/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed new dwelling on existing 
garage site adjacent to 4 The 
Maltings - Land At The Maltings, 
Appledore, Green Lane. 

Mr Washington PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0816/2020/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed works to the ground floor 
of the existing dwelling including the 
addition of new windows and 
doorways and minor change of use 
from ancillary to primary residential 
(C3). - Well Barn, Welcombe, 
Bideford. 

Ms Rebecca 
Cocker 

PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0819/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Construction of below ground slurry 
storage lagoon - Allins Week, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mr Grenville 
Heal 

PER 
16.11.2020 

Page 108



 
1/0820/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolition of single storey 
extension, replacement two storey 
extension with balcony at first floor. - 
10 Torridge Place, Torrington 
Street, Bideford. 

Mr Bill Chaplin PER 
13.11.2020 

 
1/0823/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Replacement of existing 
agriculturally tied dwelling. - Thorne 
Farm, Petrockstowe, Devon. 

Vooght PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0824/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Construction of a car port in 
conjunction with the re-configuration 
of existing parking bay - The 
Meadows , Woodtown, Fairy Cross. 

Mr & Mrs Colin 
Leaper 

PER 
18.11.2020 

 
1/0828/2020/
HPD 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Single storey rear extension - 
extending beyond the rear wall of 
the dwellinghouse by 5.45m, 
maximum height of 3.2m and an 
eaves height of 2.69m - 1 Kimberley 
Terrace, Northam, Bideford. 

Mrs Roberts PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0830/2020/
FUH 

Laura 
Davies 

Internal alterations including part 
attic conversion to existing attached 
annex - Springfield Meadows, 
Halwill Junction, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Dimmock 

PER 
20.11.2020 

 
1/0832/2020/
FUH 

Laura 
Davies 

Erection of conservatory - Wood 
View, North Road, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Whittle 

PER 
18.11.2020 

 
1/0839/2020/
AGMB 

Angelo 
Massos 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under Class Q - 
Great Knowle Barn, Pyworthy, 
Devon. 

Mr Cleave PER 
18.11.2020 

 
1/0845/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of a children's climbing 
frame in the rear garden of dwelling 
 
 - 12 Hillpark, Buckland Brewer, 
Bideford. 

Mr Mario 
D'Agostino 

PER 
06.11.2020 

 
1/0856/2020/
TCA 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - Felling of a Cypress tree (T1) 
- Arscotts Cottage, Fore Street, 
Dolton. 

Mrs Bethany 
O'Sullivan 

PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0857/2020/
NMAT 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/0352/2019/FUL 
- Lowering of roof line - Penstowe, 
Staddon Road, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs R 
Catterall 

PER 
28.10.2020 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



1/0012/2020/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non material amendment (roof) to 
application 1/1212/2017/FUH: 
Proposed Porch, external finishes 
and internal alterations - 15 
Richmond Green, Appledore, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Tricia Leigh PER 
30.10.2020 

 
1/0862/2020/
TCA 

Angelo 
Massos 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - Felling of sycamore tree - 32 
Fore Street, Hartland, Bideford. 

Hartland Town 
Trust 

PER 
11.11.2020 

 
1/0864/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Roof over an existing slurry store as 
a part of a Mid-Tier Stewardship 
Agreement. - Trentworthy Farm, 
Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr A Melville PER 
10.11.2020 

 
1/0868/2020/
NMAT 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/0168/2020/FUL 
- replacement of 3 glass panels to 
porch roof with 2 velux windows - 
Goodleigh Cottage, Winkleigh, 
Devon. 

Ms Jennifer 
Rock 

PER 
02.11.2020 

 
1/0873/2020/
HPD 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Single storey rear extension - 
extending beyond the rear wall of 
the original dwellinghouse by 6m, 
maximum height of 3.35m and an 
eaves height of 2.40m - Jenns 
Cottage, Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Miss Alice Grey 
And Mr Kelvin 
Dutton 

PER 
16.11.2020 

 
1/0887/2020/
HPD 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey rear extension - 
extending beyond the rear wall of 
the original dwellinghouse by 4.90m, 
maximum height of 3.15m and an 
eaves height of 3.00m - 8 
Coronation Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Steve 
Kimberley 

PER 
17.11.2020 

 
1/0892/2020/
NMAT 

Helen 
Smith 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/0472/2018/FUL 
- Addition of three ground floor 
windows, alteration to approved 
finish of windows, french doors, 
bargeboards and fascias. - 1A 
Borobreach, Halwill Junction, 
Devon. 

Mr David 
Goldsbrough 

PER 
03.11.2020 

 
1/0895/2020/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Steel framed agricultural building - 
Land Adjacent Higher Tinacre Farm 
(Grid Reference 235990 100303), 
Clawton, Holsworthy. 

Mr Alan Facey PER 
06.11.2020 

 
1/0897/2020/
AGR 

Laura 
Davies 

Erection of agricultural building for 
storage of fodder and machinery - 
Youldon Farm, Pancrasweek, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Charles 
Merchant 

PER 
27.10.2020 

 
1/0906/2020/
TCA 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - felling of 1 x Eucalyptus tree 

Mrs Joanna 
Clark 

PER 
19.11.2020 

Page 110



and 1 x Leyland Cypress - 
Castaway Cottage, Alpha Place, 
Appledore. 

 
1/0909/2020/
NMAT 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/0946/2019/FUL 
- Replacement of garages on plots 3 
and 4 with an additional habitable 
room and additional solar panels on 
the front roof slopes of plots 3 and 
4. - Holly Lane Farm, Halwill 
Junction, Beaworthy. 

Mr Andrew 
Harding 

PER 
09.11.2020 

 
1/0964/2020/
NMAT 

James 
Jackson 

Non-material amendment to 
planning approval 1/0034/2020/FUL 
- New vertical timber boarded fence 
to top of retaining wall 1.1m above 
pavement level. - Land At Copper 
Close, Woolsery, Devon. 

Prince Albert 
Road Limited 

PER 
20.11.2020 

 

Refused 
 

1/0399/2019/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Proposed extension to shed and 
formalisation of B2 (General 
Industrial) use (amended 
description, revised plans, transport 
and noise reports) - Staines Trailers 
Ltd, Huntshaw, Torrington. 

Mr E Staines REF 
26.10.2020 

 
1/0299/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Re-development of barn to dwelling 
re-submission of 1/0603/2019/FUL - 
Barn At Grid Reference 249156 
110811, Petrockstowe, Devon. 

Mr John Ensall REF 
19.11.2020 

 
1/0541/2020/
NMAT 

Laura 
Davies 

Non material amendment to 
1/1114/2019/FUL -  Increase in size 
of garden shed and alteration to 
decking - Appledore House, Meeting 
Street, Appledore. 

Mr & Mrs Ellam REF 
29.10.2020 

 

Not Permitted Development 
 
1/0866/2020/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Building for agricultural storage and 
tractor store - Land At Grid 
Reference 238961 108102, 
Woodacott Cross, Devon. 

The Bazeley 
Partnership 

NPD 
29.10.2020 

 

Page 111


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8a Application 1/0070/2018/OUT
	8b Application 1/0642/2020/OUT
	8c Application 1/0790/2020/LA
	8d Application 1/0791/2020/LA
	9 Appeal Decisions Summary
	Appeal Decision 3256400
	Appeal Decision

	11 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	12 Planning Decisions

